Glucosamine Anti-Inflammatory Dose-Effect Correlation and Its Influence on the Renin-Angiotensin System Components and Arachidonic Acid Metabolites under Inflammatory Condition in the Rat with Adjuvant Arthritis

by

Ali Aghazadeh Habashi

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Pharmaceutical Sciences

Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences University of Alberta

© Ali Aghazadeh Habashi, 2014

Abstract

Crystalline glucosamine (GlcN) sulfate salt formulation is approved as a prescription drug with anti-inflammatory effects for the management of osteoarthritis (OA) in the European Union, while it is considered as a nutraceutical in North America. The effectiveness of GlcN for ameliorating the signs and symptoms of OA in humans is still the subject of scientific debate. In animal studies using high doses, its effectiveness is undisputable; however results of clinical trials in humans are controversial.

One of the objectives of this thesis was to address the possible causes of controversy around GlcN effectiveness in humans, and to establish a minimum effective dose (MED) needed to produce minimum anti-inflammatory effective concentration in the rat adjuvant arthritis animal model. Many explanations have been offered as the root of the controversy including superiority of a crystalline sulfate salt over the hydrochloride form, industry bias, insensitive assessment metrics, and poor methodology. Herein, we rule out a difference in bioequivalence between GlcN salts and suggest additional factors; i.e., inconsistency in the GlcN content of some products used in trials, under-dosing of patients, as well as variable pharmacokinetic indices as possible reasons for the lack of GlcN efficacy observed in some studies. Clinical trials using high doses of pharmaceutical grade GlcN, or formulations with greater bioavailability should yield positive results. Our results indicate that the MED is between 40 to 80 mg/kg/day that generates a maximum plasma concentration in the range of 1.37 ± 0.24 to 5.31 ± 6.84 mg/L, close to the rang of concentration reported for pharmaceutical grades of GlcN in humans. GlcN efficacy is dose and concentration dependent and if the data could be extrapolated to humans, using a higher than the commonly tested 1500 mg/kg /day dosage regimen may provide more clear treatment outcomes.

ii

Inflammation influences the body as whole and imbalances the homeostasis of different regulatory systems in particular. Renin-angiotensin system (RAS) and arachidonic acid (ArA) pathway are two main regulators of cardiovascular (CV) systems which could be affected by inflammation. Other objectives of this thesis were to investigate if experimentally induced adjuvant arthritis (AA), as an animal model for systemic inflammation, alters different components of the RAS such as angiotensin converting enzymes (ACE) expression, angiotensin (Ang) peptides systemic and local concentration, and their associated receptors expression level. We also investigated the effect of AA on ArA metabolites concentration in the plasma, heart and kidney tissues. We correlated the RAS components and ArA metabolites concentration in order to identify reliable biomarkers for prediction of CV complications in vulnerable individuals suffering from inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA). GlcN with antiinflammatory effects is a good candidate for modulating the detrimental effect of inflammation on the RAS and ArA pathways. We studied the impact of GlcN on these two systems. GlcN was able to reestablish the disturbed balance of the RAS and ArA pathway by reinstating the ratio of cardioprotective (vasodilator, anti-proliferative and anti-hypertrophic) over cardiotoxic (vasoconstrictive, proliferative and pro-hypertrophic) components of these systems. GlcN by presenting modulatory effects on the RAS and ArA pathways could be an alternative over NSAIDs which their long term use imposes CV side effects in RA patients.

This dissertation is dedicated

to my parents and my siblings for their love, encouragement and support,

and

to my lovely wife, Marzyeh, and our wonderful son, Yashar, for their understanding, patience, sacrifice and support.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and outmost, praise be to Allah, who gave me courage and power to finish this invaluable research program. I hope Allah's blessing will guide me all through my life.

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. Fakhreddin Jamali, for all his efforts, support, guidance and encouragement throughout my PhD program. He was the most influential person for my achievements and I am greatly appreciative for his intellectual supervision. I would like to thank my supervisory committee members, Drs. Dian Brocks and Carlos Velazquez for their valuable and constructive comments, suggestions and criticisms that helped me to fine-tune this project.

I would like to express my genuine appreciation to my wife, Marzyeh, for her understanding, patience and support during my life. Indeed, without her sacrifice and support I would not be able to accomplish this project and my degree. I would also like to thank my amazing son; Yashar for his considerate patience for the lack of free access to his dad during my program.

I would like also to thank all my lab colleagues, who were always ready to help whenever I needed and who created a healthy and happy working environment. Especially, I would like to thanks Mr. Waheed Asghar, for his invaluable support during this project.

Table of contents

1	Introc	luction	2
	1.1	Inflammation	2
	1.2	The effect of inflammation on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of	
		cardiovascular drugs	8
	1.3	Effect of inflammation on renin angiotensin system	10
	1.4	Effect of inflammation on arachidonic acid pathway	12
	1.5	Rheumatoid arthritis	16
	1.6	Osteoarthritis	17
	1.7	Adjuvant arthritis animal model	18
	1.8	Anti-inflammatory therapy of RA	19
	1.8.1	Steroidal anti-inflammatory agents	19
	1.8.2	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	20
	1.8.3	Disease modifying antirheumatic drugs	20
	1.8.4	Biologics	21
	1.9	Anti-inflammatory treatment options for coexisting illnesses with RA	23
	1.9.1	Statins	23
	1.9.2	Angiotensin enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers	24
	1.10	Therapeutic choices for OA treatment	28
	1.10.1	Non-pharmacological approaches	30
	1.10.2	Pharmacological intervention	30
	1.10	.2.1 Acetaminophen and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	30
	1.10	.2.2 Narcotics	31
	1.11	Glucosamine	31
	1.11.1	Physicochemical properties	33

1.11.2	Pharmacological effects	
1.11.3	Pharmacokinetics	
1.11.3.	1 Absorption	
1.11.3.	2 Distribution	
1.11.3.	3 Metabolism	41
1.11.3.	4 Elimination	44
1.12	The glucosamine controversy; a pharmacokinetic issue	44
1.12.1	Evidence for and against the beneficial effects of GlcN	45
1.12.2	Potential sources of controversy	48
1.12.2. outcon	5 5 1 1	on clinical trials
1.12.2.	2 Dose-effect relationship	51
1.12.2.	3 Therapeutic outcome measurements	61
1.13	Thesis rationale, hypotheses, and objectives	62
1.13.1	Rationale	62
1.13.2	Hypotheses	64
1.13.3	Objectives	65
Chapter 2		
2 General	l Materials and Methods	
2.1	Chemicals and reagents	67
2.2	Animals	68
2.2.1	Blucosamine dose/concentration-effect correlation study	68
2.2.1.1	Assessment of experimental adjuvant arthritis	68
2.2.1.2	Ameliorating regimen	

2.2.	1.3	Preventive regimens	. 69
2.2.	1.4	Pharmacokinetic study	. 70
2.2.2	Effe	ct of inflammation on ArA metabolites and RAS component	.71
2.2.	.2.1	Sample collection for ArA metabolites study	. 71
2.2.	.2.2	Sample collection for RAS component study	. 71
2.3	G	lucosamine assay	.72
2.4	А	rA metabolites assay	.73
2.5	R	AS components analysis	.73
2.5.1	Ang	iotensin converting enzyme measurement	.73
2.5.2	Ang	iotensin peptide measurement	.74
2.6	D	ata analysis	.75
2.7	St	tatistical analysis	.76

Chapter 3	•	
3 Gluco	osamine Dose/Concentration-Effect Correlati	on in the Rat with Adjuvant
Arthritis		
3.1	Introduction	
3.2	Hypothesis	
3.3	Objectives	
3.4	Results	
3.4.1	Ameliorating effect of GlcN	
3.4.2	Preventive effect of GlcN	
3.5	Discussion	

Chapter 4

4	Simu	ltaneous Determination of Bioactive Arachidonic acid Metabo	lites by
Rev	versed-	-Phase HPLC Method Using Fluorescence Detection and Appl	ication to
Rat	and H	Iuman Plasma, and Rat Heart and Kidney Samples	
4	.1	Introduction	95
4	.2	Objective	98
4	.3	Materials and Methods	98
	4.3.1	Animals	98
	4.3.2	Rat and human biological sample collection	
	4.3.3	Sample preparation	99
	4.3.4	Fluorescent labeling	
	4.3.5	HPLC System	101
	4.3.6	Validation	101
	4.3.7	Recovery and Stability	
	4.3.8	Matrix effect	
	4.3.9	Application to human and rat biological specimens	
4	.4	Results	
	4.4.1	Analysis of biological samples	112
4	.5	Discussion	114
4	.6	Conclusions	117

Chapter 5
Association of the Renin-Angiotensin System Components and Arachidonic
Acid Metabolites under Inflammatory Condition in the Rat with Adjuvant Arthritis
119
5.1 Introduction

5.3	Objectives	120
5.4	Results	120
5.4.1	ArA metabolites concentration in the plasma, heart and kidney	120
5.4.2	RAS component analysis	127
5.5	The correlation between the plasma and heart and kidney ArA metabolites	
conce	entration	138
5.6	The correlation between ArA metabolites concentration and RAS components	s 141
5.6.1	Plasma ArA metabolites vs. tissue Ang peptides	141
5.6.	1.1 Plasma Ang peptides	141
5.6.	.1.2 Heart Ang peptides	141
5.6.	.1.3 Kidney Ang peptides	142
5.6.2	Plasma ArA metabolites vs. the heart RAS components	145
5.6.3	Plasma ArA metabolites vs. the kidney RAS components	148
5.7	Discussion	151
5.8	Conclusion	164

Ch	apter 6	·	•••••
6	Effec	t of Glucosamine on Renin-Angiotensin System and Arachidonic A	cid
Me	etabolit	es in Plasma, Heart and Kidney of in Rats with Adjuvant Arthritis	166
6	5.1	Introduction	166
e	5.2	Hypothesis	167
e	5.3	Objectives	167
e	5.4	Results	168
	6.4.1	Effect of GlcN on ArA metabolite concentrations in the plasma, heart and kid	ney
			168
	6.4.2	Effect of GlcN on RAS component level in the plasma, heart and kidney	173

6.5	Discussion	186
6.6	Conclusion	

Cha	apter 7		•••
7	General	Conclusion 1	99
7.	.1	Future directions and studies	204
Ref	erences.		205

List of Tables

Chapter 1

Table 1.1 Biologic therapy in autoimmune diseases such as RA.	2
Table 1.2 Selected studies on the effectiveness of GlcN on experimental osteoarthritis and adjuvant arthritis 4	6
Table 1.3 Content of GlcN in commercially available products in Canada.	0
Table 1.4 GlcN pharmacokinetic data generated from human studies 5	2
Table 1.5 GlcN pharmacokinetic indices following cross-over oral administration of single 100 mg/kg doses of the compound as HCl or crystalline sulfate to 5 rats	6
Table 1.6 Individual subjects pharmacokinetic indices of GlcN in urine after an oral dose of 150mg GlcN crystalline sulfate or its equivalent HCl salt in human	

Chapter 3

Table 3.1 Effect of different daily doses of GlcN on percent body weight gain and serum nitri	te
16 days post adjuvant injection	83
Table 3.2 Changes from baseline observed following daily doses of GlcN administered for 16)
days to control and rats with AA	83
Table 3.3 GlcN pharmacokinetic indices after oral administration of 80 mg/kg to arthritic and	1
non-arthritic rats	85

Table 4.1. Comparative list of HPLC methods reported in literature for measurement of ArA	
metabolites	97
Table 4.2 Precision and accuracy of ArA metabolites analysis	109
Table 4.3 Percent recovery of ArA metabolites analytical standards from samples after solid	
phase extraction	111

Table 5.1 ArA metabolites concentration and their ratio in the plasma, heart and kidney of
control and arthritic rats
Table 5.2 . Correlations of ArA metabolites and their ratios between plasma vs. the heart and
kidney
Table 5.3 Correlations of plasma ArA metabolites and their ratio vs. the plasma, heart and kidney
angiotensin peptides143
Table 5.4 Correlations of plasma ArA metabolites and their ratio vs. the heart RAS components
and their ratio
Table 5.5 Correlations of plasma ArA metabolites and their ratio vs. the kidney RAS components
and their ratio149

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. An overview of inflammation	7
Figure 1.2. Arachidonic Acid pathway	14
Figure 1.3. Pyramid approach to the management of osteoarthritis.	29
Figure 1.4 Chemical structure of GlcN and its salts.	34
Figure 1.5. Chemical structure of covalently bound GlcN-3-sulfate and GlcN-6-sulfate.	35
Figure 1.6. The hexosamine biosynthetic pathway	43
Figure 1.7. Glucosamine plasma concentration vs. time after oral administration of 100 mg/kg HCl or sulfate salts into the rat	
Figure 1.8. Glucosamine urinary excretion rate	58
Chapter 3	
Figure 3.1. Ameliorating effect of GlcN	80
Figure 3.2. Preventive effect of GlcN	82
Figure 3.3. GlcN plasma concentration-time curve	85
Figure 3.4. Correlation between GlcN daily dose and arthritis index, C _{max} , and AUC	86
Figure 3.5. Correlation of Cmax and AUC with arthritis index	86
Figure 3.6. GlcN EC ₅₀ and ED ₅₀	87
Chapter 4	
Figure 4.1. Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites	105
Figure 4.2. Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites in rat plasma, heart and kidney samples	
Figure 4.3. Representative calibration curves	108
Figure 4.4. Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites in human plasma	113

Figure 5.1. Effect of inflammation on the plasma concentration of ArA metabolites124
Figure 5.2. Effect of inflammation on the heart concentration of ArA metabolites
Figure 5.3. Effect of inflammation on the kidney concentration of ArA metabolites
Figure 5.4. Effect of inflammation on ACE, ACE2 protein expression level and their ratio in the rat heart
Figure 5.5. Effect of inflammation on ACE, ACE2 protein expression level and their ratio in the rat kidney
Figure 5.6. Effect of inflammation on Ang peptides concentration in the rat plasma
Figure 5.7. Effect of inflammation on Ang peptides concentration in the rat heart
Figure 5.8. Effect of inflammation on Ang peptides concentration in the rat kidney
Figure 5.9. Effect of inflammation on Ang II receptor expression level in the rat heart
Figure 5.10. Effect of inflammation on Ang II receptor expression level in the rat kidney135
Figure 5.11. Effect of inflammation on Mas receptor expression level in the rat heart136
Figure 5.12. Effect of inflammation on Mas receptor expression level in the rat kidney
Figure 5.13. Correlation between the plasma and heart and kidney concentration of representative ArA metabolites
Figure 5.14. Correlation between the plasma representative ArA metabolites and the plasma, heart and kidney Ang peptides concentration
Figure 5.15. Correlation between the plasma representative ArA metabolites and the heart RAS components expression level
Figure 5.16. Correlation between the plasma representative ArA metabolites and the kidney RAS components expression level
Chapter 6

Figure 6.1. Effect of GlcN treatment on ArA metabolites concentration in the plasma of	f rats with
adjuvant arthritis	169

Figure 6.2. Effect of GlcN treatment on ArA metabolites concentration in the heart of rats with
adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.3. Effect of GlcN treatment on ArA metabolites concentration in the kidney of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.4. Effect of GlcN treatment on ACE, ACE2 protein expression level and their ratio in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.5. Effect of GlcN treatment on ACE, ACE2 protein expression level and their ratio in the kidney of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.6. Effect of GlcN treatment on angiotensin peptides concentration in the plasma of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.7. Effect GlcN treatment on angiotensin peptides concentration in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.8. Effect of GlcN treatment on angiotensin peptides concentration in the kidney of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.9. Effect of GlcN treatment on AT1R, AT2R protein expression level and their ratio in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.10. Effect of GlcN treatment on AT1R, AT2R protein expression level and their ratio in the kidney of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.11. Effect of GlcN treatment on Mas receptor protein expression level and its ratio with AT1R and AT2R protein expression in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis
Figure 6.12. Effect of GlcN treatment on Mas receptor protein expression level and its ratio with AT1R and AT2R protein expression in the kidney of rats with adjuvant arthritis

LIST OF ABBREVIATION AND SYMBOLS

AA	Adjuvant arthritis
ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme
ACE2	Angiotensin converting enzyme 2
ACEI	Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor
ACR	American College of Rheumatology
AI	Arthritis index
Ang 1-7	Angiotensin-(1-7)
Ang II	Angiotensin II
ADAM	1-Aminoadmantan
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ArA	Arachidonic acid
ARBs	Angiotensin II receptor blockers
AT1R	Angiotensin II type 1 receptor
AT2R	Angiotensin II type 2 receptor
AUC	Area under plasma concentration-time curve
BP	Blood pressure
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CL	Control
CL-GlcN	Control glucosamine treated
C _{max}	Maximum plasma concentration
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
COX	Cyclooxygenase
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CRP	C-reactive protein
CS	Chondroitin sulfate
CTLA	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated
CV	Cardiovascular
CV%	Coefficient of variation
СҮР	Cytochrome P450

DHT	Dihydroxyeicosatrienoic
DMARD	Disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs
EC ₅₀	Half maximal effective concentration
ED ₅₀	Median effective dose
EET	Epoxyeicosatrienoic acid
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FMOC-Cl	9-Fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl chloride
Fruc-6-P	Fructose-6-phosphate
GAG	Glycosaminoglycan
GFAT	Glutamine: fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase
GAIT	Glucosamine/chondroitin Arthritis Intervention Trial
GlcN	Glucosamine
GlcN-6-p	Glucosamine-6-phosphate
GlcN-3-sulfate	Glucosamine-3-sulfate
GlcN-6-sulfate	Glucosamine-6-sulfate
GlcNAc	N-acetyl-Glucosamine
GlcN-HCl	Glucosamine hydrochloride
GlcN-S	Crystalline glucosamine sulfate
GLUT	Glucose transporters
GNPDA	Glucosamine-6-phosphate deaminase
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3 β
KCl	Potassium chloride
HBP	Hexosamine biosynthetic pathway
HETE	Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
IBD	Inflammatory bowel diseases
<i>i.m.</i>	Intramuscular
<i>i.p</i> .	Intraperitoneal
<i>i.v</i> .	Intravenous
INR	International normalized ratio
IL	Interleukin

IL-1β	Interleukin-1-beta
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide
INF	Inflamed
INF-GlcN	Inflamed glucosamine treated
IS	Internal standard
LC	Liquid chromatography
LC-FL	Liquid chromatography- fluorescence detector
LC- MS/MS	Liquid chromatography-mass spectroscopy
LD ₅₀	Median effective dose
LOD	Limit of detection
LOQ	Limit of quantification
LOX	Lipoxygenase
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MEC	Minimum effective concentration
MED	Minimum effect dose
mg	Milligram
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinase
mL	Milliliter
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MRM	Multiple reaction monitoring
MSM	Methylsulfonylmethane
MW	Molecular weight
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase
ng	nanogram
NE-OTf	2-(2,3-naphthalimino) ethyl-trifluoromethanesulphonate
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-kB
NO	Nitric oxide
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OA	Osteoarthritis
O-GlcNAc	O-linked GlcNAc

OGT	O-linked GlcNAc transferase
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PEG2	Prostaglandin E2
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
РК	Pharmacokinetic
PD	Pharmacodynamic
pg	Picogram
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RAS	Renin-angiotensin system
SD	Standard deviation
sHE	Soluble epoxide hydrolase
SPE	Solid phase extraction
t1/2	Half life
TALH	Thick ascending loop of Henle
T-DHT	Total DHTs
T-EET	Total EETs
Tmax	Time to reach maximum concentration
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TGF	Tubulo-glomerular feedback
UDP-GlcNAc	Uridine diphosphate-N-acetyl-glucosamine
UDP-GalNAc	Uridine diphosphate-N-acetyl galactosamine
μg	Microgram
μΜ	Micromolar
UV	Ultraviolet
WOMAC	Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis index

1 Introduction

1.1 Inflammation

Inflammation is typically recognized as an important step for control of microbial assault or tissue injury and is essential for maintaining tissue homeostasis under a variety of harmful conditions. The discovery of a growing number of inflammatory mediators and unveiling their effects on target tissues is one of the most intriguing aspects of studying inflammation. Inflammation is the body's reaction to injury and danger and is composed of a communication network that basically controls and processes the homeostasis of the body. This network detects the risk and controls the damage, and healing process, which are all important elements in the maintenance of an organism's integrity. Recent studies indicated that inflammation and inflammatory response are common bases of several complex diseases, including chronic inflammatory rheumatic disorders, CV diseases, diabetes, obesity, cancer, asthma, and ageing (1).

The inflammatory process is composed of cycles of repair and remodeling after any assault or injury, and involves different inflammatory mediators. These processes, as characteristics of a highly developed complex biological system, are highly robust and reliable. Inflammation can be initiated by a number of different triggers including the exposure to microbial products, tissue injury, and metabolic stress. Contact with the trigger could happen due to a barrier malfunction or loss of normal immune tolerance. Regardless of the type of trigger, a general set of cellular pathways is initiated including activation of signaling through Toll-like receptors, nuclear factor (NF)-kB, and the formation of inflammasome, which are composed of several proteins. The inflammasome is responsible for endoplasmic reticulum stress and the release of several

inflammatory cytokines (2). The resultant inflammatory response manifests itself by redness, swelling, heat, pain, and loss of function. This response engages different interactions among many cell types, which causes the production of an enormous number of chemical mediators. The nature of the trigger and the location and length of the exposure time govern the onset and intensity of the inflammatory response, including the exact cells and mediators involved. These aspects control the initiation and maintenance of the inflammatory response. After controlling or eliminating the trigger, the course of the response changes and some mechanisms start to terminate the inflammation with the aim of limiting further damage to the host and beginning tissue repair. This process of self-regulation, which involves the engagement of feedback mechanisms, is called resolution of inflammation. During this phase, the body starts the inhibition of pro-inflammatory signaling cascades, the down- regulation of receptors for inflammatory mediators, the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines and the activation of regulatory cells. The resolution process is vital for proper control of inflammation in order to maintain health and homeostasis.

However, any inflammatory condition that happens due to a loss of tolerance or lack of regulatory processes has the potential to become pathologic. Inflammation may be categorized as acute or chronic. An acute form of inflammation is the early response of the body to a trigger that could be an infectious agent or tissue damage. This response is accomplished by the enhanced movement of plasma and leucocytes from the blood into the site of infection or tissue damage. A series of biochemical reactions take place to start and to propagate the inflammatory response. This involves the local vascular system, the immune system, and various cells within the injured tissue. The release of chemotactic mediators such as leukotrienes, complement factors, and platelet activating factors attracts neutrophils to the site of injury. Consequently, it is

followed by infiltration of neutrophils into the tissue after binding to endothelial surface adhesion molecules. Then, tissue macrophages and infiltrated neutrophils invade the assaulting organism. Furthermore, other biochemical agents are also released from neutrophils to add more toxic effects against the invading organism and the surrounding tissues.

This acute inflammatory response is usually self-limiting and once the trigger is contained or removed the resolution phase will be activated. Evidence suggests that the resolution process as a dynamic, harmonized program starts in the first few hours after an inflammatory response initiates. Granulocytes, after entering the injured tissue, start to switch from secretion of arachidonic acid-derived prostaglandins (PGs) and leukotrienes to lipoxins, which begins the termination sequence of inflammation. Consequently, neutrophil recruitment stops and programmed death of neutrophils by apoptosis engages. Then apoptotic neutrophils undergo phagocytosis by macrophages, leading to neutrophil clearance (3). There are specific anti-inflammatory mediators, and specific cell types, and pro-resolving lipid mediators which are involved in this active process of resolution (3,4).

Chronic inflammation happens when inflammation continues for extended periods due to failure of immune cells to remove the harmful agent or when the trigger is still persistent. It involves a continuing shift in the type of cells attracted to the site of insult and concurrent damage and repair of the tissue due to the current inflammatory process. The initially protective inflammatory response could become pathological as a result of diminished tolerance threshold and/or loss of regulatory processes such as resolution. Where this becomes severe, permanent damage to host tissues can happen. Then, the situation could turn into a chronic inflammatory disease characterized by significantly increased concentrations of inflammatory mediators at the site of tissue damage and in the systemic circulation. Depending on the level of these mediators,

this state may be considered as high grade inflammation. This situation can be seen in inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), atopic dermatitis, psoriasis and asthma. Low grade inflammation implies to such circumstances which apparent clinical sign and symptoms can be negligible or absent. Compared to high grade inflammation, the levels of inflammatory mediators in the systemic circulation in low grade inflammation do not reach the same level. This situation can be seen in adipose tissue as a characteristic of obesity (5).

Acute and chronic inflammations have common features. Both conditions consist of two stages: an afferent stage, in which the presence of a trigger is detected by some types of immune cells, and an efferent stage, in which an inflammatory response is generated to remove the alleged harmful invader. The generated response consists of four main episodes, regardless of the type of inflammation. The first episode is enhanced blood flow to the site of inflammation. The second episode is increased capillary vessel permeability induced by endothelial cells which allows the extravasation of larger molecules that in normal conditions are not capable of crossing the endothelium. This process delivers some soluble inflammatory mediators to the site of inflammation. The third episode is the migration of leukocyte into the surrounding tissue through the permeable capillaries, supported by chemotactic mediators released from the site of the injury (Figure 1.1). The fourth episode is the release of inflammatory mediators from leukocytes at the site of inflammation. Depending on the inflammatory cell type involved, the nature of the trigger, the anatomical site of inflammation, and the stage during the inflammatory response, these released mediators may include PGs, leukotrienes, cytokines, chemokines, or reactive oxygen species. These mediators are involved in amplification of the inflammatory process in different ways. For example, as chemoattractants they impose their effect by attracting other

mediators, while some other mediators escape the inflammatory site into the circulation, from which they can apply their systemic effects (Figure 1.1). For instance, interleukin (IL)-6, which enters into the bloodstream from an inflammatory site, can induce acute-phase protein C-reactive protein (CRP) synthesis by the liver; at the same time, tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) imposes metabolic effects within the skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, and bone. Therefore, inflammation at one site of the body can cause inflammation induced changes at distal sites (6).



Figure 1.1. An overview of inflammation Adopted from reference No. (6) with permission

1.2 The effect of inflammation on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cardiovascular drugs

It has been shown that inflammation decreases the hepatic clearance of many drugs (7-9). Inflammation also causes significant changes in plasma proteins and target receptors expression, which can translate not only to pharmacokinetic (PK) alteration but also in pharmacodynamic (PD) changes. Our laboratory is one of the pioneer labs working in the field of drug-disease interactions, mostly focused on cardiovascular (CV) drugs.

CV complications are one of the major comorbidities of RA patients, accounting for 35% to 50% of excess mortality in this population (10). Therefore, CV drugs are one of the mainstays of therapeutic approaches in RA patients. Our group was one of the first investigators to notice that despite a pronounced increased drug concentration, the response to some CV drugs was decreased. Meyo et al. (11) studied the effect of RA on the PK and PD of verapamil, a calcium channel blocker, in healthy and patients with RA. The result of this study indicated that IL-6 and NO concentrations as inflammatory biomarkers were significantly higher in patients with RA and were correlated with disease severity. Verapamil PK was altered likely due to changes in protein binding, decreased clearance, and/or altered hepatic blood flow. Interestingly, despite increased serum drug concentrations, a significant decrease in dromotropic effect was observed. The authors attributed this observation to receptor down regulation which may be caused by pro-inflammatory cytokines (11).

In Crohn's disease, another type of inflammatory condition, patients with severe disease did not respond to CV therapy with verapamil. Despite the lower drug concentration in patient with remission, the drug response increased by reduction of the severity of disease (12).

β-blocker drugs such as propranolol may have the same fate as verapamil in patients with inflammatory conditions. This hypothesis was tested by Guirguis et al. (13). Propranolol metabolizes mostly by the liver and, as with verapamil, the inflammatory conditions reduce the clearance of propranolol and hence increase its plasma concentration. Despite the elevated propranolol concentrations, similar to Mayo et al.'s observation for verapamil, the prolongation of PR interval, as drug response to β-blocker, was significantly reduced in adjuvant arthritis (AA) rats when compared with control rats. The PK alteration as a result of inflammation does not apply to all β-blockers. For instance, sotalol, another β-adrenergic antagonist contrary to the verapamil and propranolol, is cleared through the kidney and therefore, its PK parameters are not altered by the hepatic effect of inflammation; however, the AA resulted in a significant reduction on pharmacological response to sotalol (14). Therefore, it was concluded that the reduced response to propranolol in rats with AA is suggestive of altered β-adrenergic receptors function (13).

The next question was whether the intensity of the disease, which can be evaluated by measurement of inflammatory mediator levels, plays any role in this setting. Infliximab, as an anti-TNF- α , reduces pro-inflammatory mediators and reverses the reduced drug response to β -blockers in the arthritic rat (14). On the other hand, in human study, comparing infliximab treated patients with RA in remission against patients with active disease revealed that infliximab restored the altered plasma protein levels and hepatic drug metabolism activity, which consequently resulted in relatively normal verapamil PK and PD. Therefore, it was concluded that the lower level of proinflammatory mediators in the infliximab group may explain this observation (15).

Overall, these studies have indicated that reduced drug-receptor binding secondary to a downregulation of the target proteins expression is a possible explanation for the reduced response. However, this reduction of response due to inflammation does not apply to all CV drugs. For example, Daneshtalab et al. reported that the potency of valsartan and losartan, as Ang II receptor type 1(AT1R) antagonists (ARBs), were not diminished by RA, which distinguishes this class of drugs from β -adrenergic receptor antagonists and calcium channel blockers (16,17). ARBs have anti-inflammatory effects, which might reverse the effect of inflammation on receptor expression of target proteins. Furthermore, the same phenomenon was observed for pravastatin, which also presents anti-inflammatory effects (18).

Similar to ARBs and statins, GlcN, as an anti-inflammatory agent, was able to restore the inflammation-induced alteration of verapamil pharmacokinetics (19). It had been reported that inflammation alters the constitutive balance in the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) enzymes (20). It is not known if this imbalance influences angiotensin peptide production and AT1R, AT2R, as well as Mas receptor expression. Furthermore, the effect of GlcN treatment on the expression of RAS protein and production of peptide components has not been investigated.

1.3 Effect of inflammation on renin angiotensin system

The RAS is one of the major regulators of human physiology and specifically it has a key role in renal and CV homeostasis (21). Its systemic actions include the regulation of blood pressure (BP), fluid, and electrolyte balance through harmonized effects on the heart, blood vessels, and the kidneys. At the local level, the regulation of regional blood flow and the control of tissue response to a range of stimuli are also governed by the RAS. It is composed of a number of different elements that dynamically regulate the function of the CV system. In order

to provide a simultaneous rapid and balanced response to certain stimulants, these elements must perform opposing functions.

The RAS is mostly endocrine in nature and exerts its effects on vascular smooth muscles, renal tubules, the heart, and other organs through its three sets of components such as: I) enzymes; angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) and ACE2, II) peptide products; angiotensin (Ang) II, Ang III, Ang IV, and Ang 1-7, and III) target receptors; AT1R, Ang II type 2 receptor (AT2R), and G-coupled protein receptor of Ang 1-7 (Mas receptor). Within the RAS, angiotensinogen is synthesized by the liver and metabolized by renin into inactive peptide Ang I. Subsequently, ACE metabolizes Ang I in order to generate Ang II, which imposes its physiological actions through AT1R and AT2R.

Constitutively, the RAS consists of two opposing axes. The first axis is constituted of the ACE/Ang II/AT1R receptor, which is responsible for physiologic and pathologic effects such as inflammation, vasoconstriction, cell proliferation, and fibrosis (22). The second axis is composed of the ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas receptor, which results in anti-inflammatory, antifibrotic, antiproliferative, and vasodilatory effects (23). The key peptidase activity of ACE2 is degradation of Ang II to Ang 1-7 by which it changes the balance within the RAS cascade from vasoconstriction and proinflammatory to vasodilatation and anti-inflammatory actions, hence functioning effectively as a negative regulator of the RAS (24). The activation of the RAS plays an important role in the physiology and pathophysiology of various renal and CV diseases. Ang II, one of the main effectors of the ACE/Ang II/AT1R axis, regulates BP, fluid, and electrolyte homeostasis. It contributes to the inflammatory response in the vascular walls (21). Ang II enhances the formation of cardiac and vascular reactive species causing endothelial dysfunction.

It has been shown that endothelial dysfunction is reduced by RAS blockers, such as ACE inhibitors (ACEIs) and ARBs (25).

Prior to the discovery of ACE2, all of interventional approaches for targeting the RAS were focused on ACE and Ang II. However, the importance of the ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas receptor axis in the regulation of the RAS has become evident from the results of recent studies which are extensively reviewed elsewhere (23). Several studies have demonstrated that ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas modulate the inflammatory response. Ang 1-7 negatively regulates the proinflammatory mediator's expression and release, and modulates fibrogenic pathways (26-29). It has been shown that tissue and circulating concentrations of Ang II were increased and Ang 1-7 concentrations were reduced as a result of Ace2 deficiency (30). In addition, Wei et al. (31) have demonstrated that Ace knockout mice have reduced circulating Ang II, while tissue concentrations are not significantly modified, suggesting that a substantial amount of Ang II is generated by non-ACE pathways. These results indicate that, in some sites and especially in the CV system, ACE2 may be more important than ACE in regulating the local levels of Ang II and Ang 1–7. Previously, it had been reported that inflammation alters the constitutive balance in the RAS enzymes (20). This merits further investigation if this imbalance influences angiotensin peptides production and AT1R, AT2R, and Mas receptor expression as well. Although these findings indicate that RAS is associated with the development of CV complications, the process by which the RAS impacts the pathophysiology of vasculopathies in patients with RA is not clear and requires further investigation.

1.4 Effect of inflammation on arachidonic acid pathway

The arachidonic acid (ArA) pathway is another important system in regulating body functions. ArA is a fatty acid membrane component that after cleavage by phospholipase A2 due

to various stimulants or tissue damage becomes available for oxidative metabolism by multiple enzymes such as cyclooxygenase (COX) and lipoxygenase (LOX) or cytochrome (CYP) 450 to form an array of biologically active metabolites. CYP enzymes are expressed in many tissues including the heart, kidney, liver, lung, adrenal gland, and vasculature (32,33). The enzymes metabolize ArA to eicosanoids such as hydroxyeicosatetraenoic (HETEs) and epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs). The latter is further metabolized to dihydroxyeicosatrienoic acids (DHTs) (Figure 1.2) (34). ArA has a central role as a precursor of a variety of mediators produced by either constitutive or inducible enzymes or by nonenzymatic pathways. ArA metabolite are involved in biological functions of different tissues such as the brain (35-38), heart (39-41), kidneys (33,42-44), liver (45-47), lungs (48-51), and blood vessels (52-54). These lipid-derived ArA metabolites are involved in physiological processes through the intracellular signaling and are implicated in the pathophysiology of various disease states and inflammatory conditions such as hypertension, renal disorders, atherosclerosis, stroke, diabetes, obesity, and cancer (53). Ample recent preclinical and epidemiologic data suggest that modulation of eicosanoid metabolism may be a feasible clinical therapeutic strategy for the management of different pathological disorders, in particular CV disease (33).



Figure 1.2. Arachidonic Acid pathway

Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HETEs), epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs), and dihydroxyeicosatrienoic acids (DHTs). Adopted from reference NO. (34) with permission.

ArA metabolites have important roles in the regulation and homeostasis of cardiac, renal, and pulmonary functions. Among these ArA metabolites, 20-HETE is produced in a tissue and cellspecific fashion and plays an important role in the regulation of vascular tone in these tissues. 20-HETE is a potent vasoconstrictor produced in vascular smooth muscle cells. The main subfamilies of CYP4 involved in this process are CYP4A and CYP4F in human and animal species (55). Different pathological conditions such as ischemic cerebrovascular diseases, hypertension, diabetes, kidney diseases, and cancer are linked to changes in 20-HETE production (33,43). The development of hypertension and CV diseases has linked to CYP4A enzyme activity (56,57). In the blood vessels, CYP4A enzymes are expressed in endothelial cells all over the vasculature net and their expression increases as vessel diameter decreases. This is in concert with increased concentrations of 20-HETE in narrower vessels due to higher rate of its production. This is why 20-HETE is called the eicosanoid of microcirculation (58). 20-HETE performs a dual action on the renovascular system: on one hand, it has an anti-hypertensive effect on renal tubules by inhibiting tubular ion transport and inducing diuresis. On the other hand, in the vasculature it imposes a pro-hypertensive effect by increasing vascular resistance and inhibiting endothelial-dependent vessel relaxation.

Once formed, ArA metabolites are subject to metabolism by other enzymes. For instance, the metabolism of 20-HETE happens through similar pathways as ArA, such as COX, LOX and CYP monooxygenases. COX metabolizes 20-HETE to produce 20-hydroxy PGs which have less vasoconstrictive properties than the parent compound in rat aortic rings (59,60). Platelet lipoxygenase and COX are also able to metabolize 20-HETE to inactive compounds (61). In the rat kidney, 20-hydroxy-EETs as epoxygenases derived metabolites of 20-HETE have been

demonstrated an anti-inflammatory and tissue protective effect through activation of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)- α (62).

Several studies previously identified some of these ArA metabolites as potent proinflammatory agents and considered them as indices of inflammation (63-68). *In vitro* studies using an acute inflammatory model of LPS in mice and rat have reported similar results (32,69).

EETs, as other important members of ArA metabolites with potent vasodilatory and antiinflammatory effects, have been shown to induce smooth muscle hyperpolarization and relaxation through activation of different types of K^+ channels (70). Soluble epoxide hydrolase (sEH) metabolizes EETs to DHTs with less vasodilatory activity than the parent EETs (71,72).

1.5 Rheumatoid arthritis

RA is a chronic, progressive, and systemic autoimmune inflammatory condition that causes considerable pain, swelling, and stiffness in many joints and leads to joint destruction, diminished function, and disability (73). It is an unpredictable long term condition with variable episodes of disease activity. Patients with RA are at a higher risk of developing CV disease, which accounts for 35% to 50% higher mortality in this population (10). Life expectancy after a CV event is shortened by 3 to 18 years compared to patients suffering from CV diseases without RA comorbidity. Inflammation plays a major role in the pathogenesis and prognosis of CV diseases such as hypertension and acute myocardial infarction (74-77). Inflammation has been implicated in the initiation and development of atherosclerosis, a chronic inflammatory condition in the walls of arteries. Evidence suggests that common proinflammatory cytokines are involved in the development and progression of both atherosclerosis resemble those which occur in RA development (79). In patients with RA, higher levels of circulatory inflammation mediators (78)
such as TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, IL-17, CRP, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1, and intracellular adhesion molecule-1 have been found to be risk factors for CV events and mortality (80). It has been clearly established that systemic biomarkers of inflammation, even at considerably lower levels than those seen in patients with RA, independently predict CV events in individuals with or without existing heart diseases (81). This evidence indicates that we need to pay closer attention to patients with RA in order to reduce the CV related mortality and morbidity in this population.

1.6 Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA), formerly known as degenerative joint disease, is a progressive joint disease that happens when a body fails to repair the injured joint tissues, resulting in a destruction of cartilage and bone. It is the most common form of arthritis (82) affecting 9.6% of men and 18.0% of women older than 60 years of age worldwide (83). Pain and morning stiffness as primary clinical symptoms of OA are caused by catabolic and anabolic process imbalances in joints, which results in articular cartilage erosion in synovial joints. There are other radiographic findings such as joint space narrowing and osteophyts. Under healthy situations, a cytokine-mediated balanced anabolic and catabolic process maintains integrity of the cartilage. However, in OA joints some catabolic enzymes such as matrix metalloproteinase and aggrecanase are over-expressed and the balance of the process shifts toward catabolism, which results in cartilage damage. Consequently, some pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF- α are released by the synovial membrane that starts a cascade of inflammatory reactions (84). Inflammation results in joints swelling and sensation of pain and stiffness. As the inflammation progresses, more catabolic enzymes become involved and more articular cartilage damage occurs.

OA as a debilitating, progressive disease and RA as a multisystem disease with underlying immune mechanism are different from each other. However, several studies have focused on possible correlation of cytokine levels in RA and OA with some common clinical pathological features (85). In fact, the development of RA and OA is associated with the alteration of plasma levels of some cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α (85). Additionally, the lack of physical activity in individuals with OA potentially increases the risk for CV disease. The association has been reported between severity of disability and increased rate of CV disease and mortality incidence among individuals with OA (86,87).

OA can be categorized as primary or secondary based of the cause and the location of joints involved. The knee as the most prevalent site and the hand, hip, foot and spine joints are usually the ones that involved with primary OA. Alternatively, secondary OA is prevalent in the shoulder, elbow, wrist, and ankle joints, generally occurring after joint injury or infection. The severity of OA depends on the extent of the damage and the type of tissue involved. In more advanced OA, when the bone tissue is also affected, the pain and loss of mobility have a profound effect on quality of life. The financial burden of OA is high, and includes the direct cost of treatment, transportation, adaptation of home and life for the patients and their caregivers, and indirect costs such as those due to loss of income as a result of disability, which is more than functional impairment. The psychological impact of OA on quality of life such as feelings of helplessness and depression can influence individual's functioning. These substantial psychological and financial costs of OA necessitate early diagnosis and treatment.

1.7 Adjuvant arthritis animal model

In order to study the pathogenic processes of arthritis, rodent models of RA and OA are useful tools. Among these animal models, AA, as an experimental model of polyarthritis, has been

widely used for testing of antiarthritic agents (88). As mentioned above, despite the difference in the nature of RA and OA, these inflammatory conditions share some common inflammatory mediator profiles and clinical pathological features (85). The rat model of AA also shows several common features with both OA and RA and provides a reliable animal model for studying these diseases in humans. (88,89)

1.8 Anti-inflammatory therapy of RA

Available treatment options aim to control the inflammatory process in order to reduce symptoms and delay joint destruction. Considering the higher CV risk (cardiac thrombosis, myocardial infarction and stroke) in this population, early management through single or combination drug therapy strategies and involvement of multidisciplinary team could control the disease better and prevent the development of other comorbidities.

1.8.1 Steroidal anti-inflammatory agents

Glucocorticoids are a class of steroidal hormones with potent anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive properties. They have numerous pharmacological actions and a many therapeutic indications such as inhibition of the synthesis of the proinflammatory PGs and leukotrienes, suppression of immune cells, and reduction of the production of pro-inflammatory mediators. Glucocorticoids are indicated in the management of autoimmune diseases, asthma, organ transplants, renal diseases and inflammatory conditions. However, they may cause serious side effects, and therefore their usage should be weighed against their side effects. They are indicated only for short-term use.

1.8.2 Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) control inflammation and associated pain by blocking both COX-1 and COX-2 enzymes and thus preventing PGs synthesis. This action also explains the gastrointestinal adverse effect of NSAIDs, as COX-1 is responsible for maintaining the integrity of normal physiologic function in gastric mucosa and other tissues (90). The design of selective NSAIDs is justified by this concept. This class of NSAIDs selectively inhibits the COX-2 enzyme, resulting in diminished gastrointestinal adverse effects; however, their use has been associated with increased fluid retention, elevated BP, and impaired renal function (91). These adverse effects along with increased thrombotic events reported in patients receiving COX-2 inhibitors such as rofecoxib, resulted in its withdrawal from the market in 2004 (92). The other members of COX-2 inhibitors may also carry the same risk. Therefore, due to potential risk of CV events, the use of NSAIDs should be limited in patient with RA and CV diseases.

1.8.3 Disease modifying antirheumatic drugs

It is important to note that neither corticosteroids nor NSAIDs are able to arrest RA disease progression. Favorable management of RA requires rapid and sustained suppression of inflammation with disease modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs). These agents are defined as medications that slow down or stop the progression of disease. Disease modification is most realistically confirmed by the ability of these agents to decrease radiographic progression of the disease. They have different mechanisms of action; however, it has been reported that the relative efficacy of methotrexate, sulfasalazine, intramuscular (*i.m.*) gold, and penicillamine is similar. Antimalarial agents such as chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine present with less

efficacy (93). The side effects of DMARDs are also a matter of concern and in some cases, such as penicillamine, due high incidence of toxicity its use is very rare.

1.8.4 Biologics

Biologic response modifiers or biologics are a group of drugs that has been developed in the last decade. As a class of medications, biologics have added major therapeutic options for the treatment of many diseases. Due to their effectiveness, safety, and better knowledge on mechanism action at their initial targets in altered immune system, the use of biological therapies is expanding as an adjunct to DMARDs for treatment of RA (94). Although these targeted therapies are often well tolerated by patients, these agents are not considered as first line medications due to the high costs, the inconvenient intravenous route of administration, and some side effects such as serious infection. The biologics are mainly targeted toward cytokines, B lymphocytes and co-stimulation molecules. Based on their mechanism of action, they are classified as novel anti-TNF alpha blockers (fully humanized or pegylated), anti-IL agents (toward IL-1, IL-6), B-cell-directed therapies (toward CD20, CD22), or co-activation signaling (CTLA4-Ig) (95). As a result of a better understanding of biologics' mode of action and improved industrial capacity for their production, the therapeutic options using these agents for treatment of autoimmune diseases are quickly expanding. Most of these agents are approved by FDA only for treatment of RA; however, because of their efficacy and safety record, they are used in off-label indications for patients with resistant autoimmune conditions. The adverse reaction profiles are similar for all biologics, with infection as the most severe side effect. By conducting screening tests before initiation of biologic therapy, some of the serious infections such tuberculosis recurrence have been virtually eradicated. Table 1.1 presents the list of some of the available biologics for RA treatment.

Table 1.1 Biologic therapy in autoimmune diseases such as RA. Adapted from reference No. (95,96)				
Drug (trade name)	Mechanism of action			
Infliximab (Remicade)	Chimaeric monoclonal antibody against TNF-α			
Etanercept (Enbrel)	Fusion protein that mimics soluble TNF receptor			
Adalimumab (Humira)	Fully humanised monoclonal antibody against TNF- α			
Certolizumab (Cimzia)	PEGylated Fab fragment of fully humanised Anti-TNF-α			
Golimumab (Simponi)	Fully humanised monoclonal antibody against TNF- α			
Rituximab (Mabthera)	Chimaeric monoclonal antibody to CD20			
Abatacept (Orenica)	Fusion protein of an immunoglobulin and extracellular domain of CTLA-4			
Tocilizumab (RoActemera)	Humanised monoclonal antibody to IL-6 receptor			
Anakinra (Kineret)	Recombinant IL1 receptor antagonist			
Canakinumab (Ilaris)	Recombinant IL1 receptor antagonist			
Rilonocept (Arclyst)	Recombinant IL1 receptor antagonist			
Ofatumumab (Arzerra)	Human monoclonal antibodyto CD20 molecule			
Belimumab (Benlysta)	Human monoclonal IgG1 gamma			
Epratuzumab (Lymphocide)	IgG1 monoclonal antibody directed against the CD22 molecule			
Sifalimumab	An anti-IFN-α monoclonal antibody			

Table 1.1 Biologic therapy in autoimmune diseases such as RA. Adapted from reference No. (95,96)

TNF, tumor necrosis factor; CTLA, cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated

-

1.9 Anti-inflammatory treatment options for coexisting illnesses with RA

In patients with RA the risk of accelerated atherogenesis and coronary heart disease is greater than in healthy subjects (10). The new concepts of immunological mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis resemble those which occur in RA development (79). This suggests that the systemic inflammation that characterizes RA may play an important role in the higher incidence of atherosclerosis seen in patients with RA. Risk factors for atherosclerosis should be aggressively sought and addressed in this population. In particular, smoking cessation may be fruitful, since smoking has been associated with increased severity of arthritis. Recent use of statin and ARBs as an adjunctive therapy in patients with RA may address the risk of CV disease, since these classes of drugs should decrease both inflammation and atherosclerosis.

1.9.1 Statins

Anti-inflammatory activities of statins in inflammatory conditions have been well documented by both basic research and clinical studies. In the 1980s these agents were introduced as cholesterol synthesis blockers by inhibiting 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase which resulted in a lower plasma level of cholesterol. In the last three decades, it has been shown that statins possess anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities resulting in the beneficial reduction of CV risk in both humans and animal models (97). Statins have been demonstrated to have protective anti-inflammatory effects in several inflammatory conditions (98-100).

As an inflammatory disease of the joints, arthritis is associated with elevated levels of inflammatory mediators. The rat model of AA was used to evaluate the anti-inflammatory effect of atorvastatin on joint inflammation and associated oxidative stress. The results show that atorvastatin produced a dose-dependent reduction in joint inflammation and normalized the

levels of oxidative stress (101). Other studies have reported antioxidant, antinociceptive, and anti-inflammatory effects for atorvastatin and rosuvastatin, and a reduction in leukocyte activity and cytokine release effects for lovastatin in different animal models (102,103).

Statins have been shown to control both acute and chronic inflammatory processes. As mentioned above, statins demonstrate these anti-inflammatory effects by lowering proinflammatory mediator levels. In a human study, patients with Crohn's disease received 80 mg atorvastatin once daily for 13 weeks and then followed up for 8 weeks after the treatment. The statin effects on pro-inflammatory mediator levels such as CRP, CD14, and TNF- α were assessed. The results of this study indicated that atorvastatin therapy downregulated the expression of these mediators and reduced intensity inflammation in some of the patients with Crohn's disease (104).

1.9.2 Angiotensin enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers

Several studies on ACEIs and ARBs have shown that the RAS action extends far beyond BP control and electrolyte balance (105,106). Activation of AT1R by Ang II through stimulation of multiple signaling pathways, several growth factor receptors, reactive oxygen species, and other pro-inflammatory responses mimics several cytokine-like actions (107). Ang II production can be regulated by nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) and in turn it is also capable of activating NF- κ B and increasing the expression of NF- κ B dependent genes (107). Ang II is also associated with the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such a TNF, IL-1 β and IL-6 (108).

Recent studies indicate that the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines within the brain has a central determinant role in the control of hypertension. An Ang II-induced imbalance in cytokines status is arbitrated by glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) β -mediated changes in downstream transcription factors in neuronal cells. GSK-3 β is a proline-

directed serine-threonine kinase that was initially identified as a phosphorylating and inactivating agent of glycogen synthase. It has been shown that Ang II-induced effects could be improved by GSK-3 β blockage. This suggests GSK-3 β as a key therapeutic target for hypertension that is characterized by augmented pro-inflammatory cytokines and NF- κ B activation (109).

The pro-inflammatory effects of Ang II and therapeutic strategies that interfere with the components of the RAS (such as ACEIs and ARBs) characterize Ang II as a reasonable therapeutic target to reduce inflammation and its related risks. This is suggested by the results of large clinical trials in patients with different inflammatory conditions, such as RA, diabetes, hypertension, renal and Crohn's diseases (110-114).

Regarding ACEIs, there is no supporting data indicating ACEIs ability in reducing plasma levels of major inflammatory markers in hypertension models. However, the results of different trials using ARBs seem to univocally confirm that there is an anti-inflammatory effect of drugs blocking AT1R receptor in different settings.

Olmesartan is one of the most effective ARBs currently available in the market. Its rapid and reliable antihypertensive effectiveness allows a high percentage of patients to reach their target BP quickly, which is associated with beneficial effects on reduction of oxidative stress, inflammation, and atherosclerotic lesion formation. In a review article, Agabiti Rosei et al. (115) reported that olmesartan is able to control inflammation in hypertensive patients, decrease oxidative stress in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus, and restore the normal wall: lumen ratio of small resistance arteries in patients with hypertension. Furthermore, a 2-year study involving hypertensive patients with carotid atherosclerosis showed olmesartan reduced the intima-media thickness of the carotid artery and significantly reduced the volume of large atherosclerotic

plaques (116). These reports conclude that olmesartan may reduce CV risk by concurrent regulation of BP and neutralizing the proatherogenic effects of Ang II (115).

As another ARB, irbesartan has a selective PPAR-γ modulatory action; therefore, it may possess anti-inflammatory and antioxidative effects, as well as beneficial effects on glucose and lipid metabolism. In a human study Taguchi et al (117) investigated the different effects of irbesartan, by enrolling high-risk hypertensive outpatients who were suffering from at least one complication such as coronary artery disease, CV disease, or diabetes. Alterations in lipid parameters, inflammatory markers, and oxidative stress indicators were evaluated. The result has shown significant decreases in triglycerides, CRP, and oxidative stress indexes after 12 weeks of irbesartan therapy. There was also significant increase in high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level in patients treated with irbesartan. The authors conclude that irbesartan was able to decrease oxidative stress and inflammation and show beneficial effects on lipid metabolism and metabolic syndrome, indicating that it may be useful option for treatment of high-risk hypertensive patients (117).

The effect of losartan, another ARB, has been investigated in rats with AA, an animal model of human RA (118). AT2R activation by its ligands mostly counteracts the AT1R actions. Wang et al. investigated the role of AT2R in the treatment of AA in rats with losartan from day 14 to day 28 post-arthritis induction. Ang II, TNF- α levels, and AT1R and AT2R expressions were evaluated along with an arthritis index calculation and histological examination. The results of the study indicated that after losartan treatment AT1R expression was downregulated, while AT2R expression was up-regulated, positively correlating with arthritis index reduction. The conclusion was that the up-regulation of AT2R may offer an additional mechanism by which losartan applies its anti-inflammatory effects in rats with arthritis (118).

Ulcerative colitis is a chronic inflammatory bowel disease caused by distorted immune responses and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Recent evidence is indicative of the involvement of the pro-inflammatory hormone Ang II in inflammatory bowel disease. Nagib et al. (119) investigated the possible role of olmesartan in the improvement of ulcerative colitis. Their findings indicate that olmesartan dose-dependently ameliorated the colonic histopathological and biochemical injuries. This suggests olmesartan as an alternative for treatment of ulcerative colitis due to its anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects (119).

RAS has been shown to be associated with the pathology of ageing and hypertension, both of which are the main risk factors for the development of CV and renal diseases. In an animal study, Mihailavic-Stanojevic et al. (120) investigated the effect of losartan on the cardiac function of young and old spontaneously hypertensive rats. Losartan treatment significantly improved aortal blood flow and resistance in younger animals when compared with aged-matched non-treated littermates. In aged rats, losartan treatment significantly reduced BP and improved age related impairment of left ventricular weight index, vascular resistance, and glomerular filtration. It was concluded that losartan treatment restored age related systemic and regional impairment of hemodynamics and left ventricular hypertrophy in old spontaneously hypertensive rats. These results could be translated into lower CV risk in elderly patients treated with losartan due to the reduction of ventricular hypertrophy, vascular resistance and pressure overload, and preserving kidney function (120).

Candesartan as an ARB drug is associated with prevention or delaying the development of coronary heart disease. In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover study, placebo or candesartan were given to patients with mild to moderate hypertension during a two months period. Candesartan therapy was able to significantly lower both systolic and diastolic

BP, plasma CRP, soluble CD40 ligand, and fasting insulin levels. It was concluded that candesartan therapy significantly reduced inflammation and improved insulin sensitivity in hypertensive patients (121).

1.10 Therapeutic choices for OA treatment

Figure 1.3 presents a pyramid approach for managing patients with OA. In this approach each layer is added one to another during the course of therapy stepwise. That means therapy starts with patient education and other non-pharmacological approaches, then, if needed, acetaminophen (paracetamol in Europe) will be added as the first line drug therapy. If the results are not satisfactory, the next layer could be added on top of the previous layer and so on (82).



Figure 1.3. Pyramid approach to the management of osteoarthritis. Adopted from reference No. (82) with permission The current treatment strategy of OA is mostly based on improvement of reduced quality of life and the control of symptoms such as pain and functional limitation. There are non-pharmacological and pharmacological options.

1.10.1 Non-pharmacological approaches

Non-pharmacologic therapies, including patient education, physical therapy, weight reduction, exercise, and bracing are equally recommended for OA patients. Their excellent safety makes them important components of the treatment plan for OA patients. Traditional therapy options such as acupuncture, arthroscopic debridement, and electrical stimulation play more controversial roles in OA management and are less available. Surgery is the last-resort option for OA patient whose disease is refractory to less-invasive treatment methods.

1.10.2 Pharmacological intervention

1.10.2.1 Acetaminophen and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

Pharmacological options are better studied in OA than non-pharmacologic treatments. Acetaminophen or paracetamol is often considered first line agents for treatment OA. This agent is safer than NSAIDS, and usually recommended by most physicians before moving on to more aggressive treatment. Older studies report the efficacy of acetaminophen to be the same as NSAIDs (122); however, more recent studies report higher efficacy for NSAIDs than acetaminophen (123). Due to the inflammatory nature of established OA in most patients, NSAIDs with anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects are the most widely used class of drugs in this population. However, because of the adverse effects associated with long-term use of NSAIDS, acetaminophen is considered first-line therapy.

1.10.2.2 Narcotics

Opioid analgesics are sometimes used to treat the pain of OA; however, they are not considered as a first-line pain management option. According to recommendations of American Academy of Rheumatology, these agents should be typically reserved for patients who are intolerant of or who have failed other traditional options for management of the pain (124). These agents should be used in low-doses for a short term, especially in elderly patient while considering the incidence of their side effects such as sedation and constipation. The use of narcotic drugs is not well studied in OA, but a few studies reported efficacy and safety in carefully selected patients (125,126).

1.11 Glucosamine

GlcN alone or in combination with chondroitin sulfate (CS) have been widely used as modifying agents for OA. Although GlcN has a status of prescription drug in Europe, it is considered a food supplement in the North America, and thus it is not FDA regulated. GlcN is available in tablet, capsule, liquid and topical semisolid dosage forms, which are formulated as a hydrochloride or a sulfated salt. In some dosage forms it is often found in combination with various amounts of CS and/or methylsulfonylmethane (MSM). GlcN is a part of the structure of the polysaccharides, chitosan and chitin, which compose the exoskeletons of crustaceans and other arthropods, cell walls in fungi, and in many higher organisms. It is a major precursor in the biochemical synthesis of glycosaminoglycans that are present in connective tissues (127). In addition to its chondroprotective properties, similar to a disease-modifying antirheumatic drug, GlcN appears to inhibit or halt the underlying immune process and prevent long-term damage and even reverse the inflammatory process (128,129). GlcN has been shown pharmacological effect against the progression of RA (130), OA (131,132) in human and experimentally induced

arthritis in rats (133). Although the mechanism of action of GlcN is not fully understood, there are several *in vitro* studies suggesting a promising pharmacological effect through mechanisms such as the inhibition of proteoglycan degradation and stimulation of proteoglycan synthesis, suppression of IL-1 β -induced cyclooxygenase-2 and matrix metalloproteinase-13 expression, reduction of TNF- α level, suppression of NO and PGE₂ production (134). Anti-inflammatory effect of GlcN is also associated with the inhibition of NF- κ B activation by promoting the O-GlcNAc of nuclear components of transcription process (135).

CS, on the other hand, is one of the principle glycosaminoglycans in healthy cartilage. It presents beneficial effects on management of OA symptoms. It is likely, however, that the action of CS is far more complex than originally believed. It affects both anabolic and catabolic pathways in cartilage in multiple ways. It is able to maintain viscosity in joints, stimulate cartilage repair, and inhibit enzymatic degradation of the cartilage (136,137). CS shares the same mechanism as GlcN and partly mediates its effect on NF- κ B nuclear translocation (135). The multicenter, double-blind, placebo- and celecoxib-controlled Glucosamine/chondroitin Arthritis Intervention Trial (GAIT) revealed that the combination of GlcN and CS did not result in an effective improvement of OA pain when compared to a placebo. However, there was a significant improvement on pain reduction in a subgroup of patients with moderate- to severe knee OA (138).

GlcN is an amino monosaccharide found in the proteoglycan molecules that contribute to the strength, flexibility and elasticity of connective and cartilage tissues (133). GlcN is involved in the synthesis of glycosaminoglycan, proteoglycan and hyaluronic acid, and contributes to their structural backbone. It mechanism of action as asymptomatic slow acting drugs for OA is elaborated elsewhere (135). It has been widely evaluated for its efficacy in relieving the symptoms of OA and its disease-modifying potential. Similar to a disease-modifying

antirheumatic drug, GlcN appears to inhibit or halt the underlying immune process and prevent long-term damages. GlcN has shown pharmacological effect against the progression of RA (130), OA (131,132) in humans and in experimentally induced arthritis rats (133,139). Nevertheless, even though many animal studies confirmed potent anti-inflammatory actions for GlcN, human clinical trials have demonstrated controversial results ranging from strong effectiveness to marginal or negligible potency (140). Nevertheless, the popularity of GlcN in the treatment of joint diseases has resulted in over \$2 billion global sale per year since 2008 (141,142).

1.11.1 Physicochemical properties

GlcN is the biochemical precursor of all nitrogen-containing sugars. It is available as different salt forms (Figure 1.4).



Figure 1.4. Chemical structure of GlcN and its salts.

Adopted from reference No.(143) with permission



Figure 1.5. Chemical structure of covalently bound GlcN-3-sulfate and GlcN-6-sulfate.

Adopted from the Sigma-Aldrich website (www.sigmaaldrich.com)

The pharmacologically active forms of different GlcN containing chemicals are ionic HCl and sulfate salt forms, which deliver GlcN free base after dissolution in gastric acidic media. There are also covalently bound sulfated glucosamine compounds available (Figure 1.5). These compounds do not present pharmacological activity (144-146).The molecular weight of GlcN as free base is 179.17, while it is 215.56, 259.23 and 456.43 for its HCl, sulfate salts and covalent bound forms, respectively. The sulfate salt of GlcN is very unstable, and therefore it usually co-crystallized with sodium chloride (NaCl) or potassium chloride (KCl) to produce stabilized crystalline GlcN sulfate with a molecular weight of 573.31 or 605.52, respectively. In this complex structure, GlcN, sulfate, sodium or potassium and chloride ions exist in a stoichiometric ratio of 2:1:2:2, respectively. GlcN is very soluble in water, sparingly soluble in methanol or ethanol, and insoluble in ether or chloroform. With a pKa of 6.91, both HCl and crystalline sulfate salts freely dissolve in gastric fluid with pH of 1.2 to form GlcN free base.

1.11.2 Pharmacological effects

GlcN has been the subject of a remarkable number of research studies for its effects on relieving the symptoms of OA and these studies have been reviewed extensively (147-168). GlcN is one of the building blocks of glycosaminogylcans (GAG) and it has been suggested that exogenous GlcN is able to enhance the production of GAG and regeneration of cartilage (169-172). More recent studies suggest that therapeutic benefits of GlcN for management of OA (84,173-175) or RA (130,176-178) are mediated through its anti-inflammatory activities. Indeed, it has been shown that GlcN sulfate was able to inhibit NF-κB nuclear translocation and IL gene expression in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes (179). GlcN has been presented as a potent transcriptional regulator of iNOS and other genes involved in the general inflammation process in microglia cells treated with LPS (180,181). Anti-inflammatory effects of GlcN have been also

reported in systemic inflammatory complications such as atherosclerosis (174,182), lung inflammation (183), brain ischemia (184), and cancer (185). Intravenous administration of GlcN during resuscitation improves recovery from trauma hemorrhage and increases the survival rate by improving cardiac function, organ perfusion, mean arterial pressure and attenuation of circulating inflammatory cytokines levels. These results may suggest a vasoactive and/or positive inotropic effect of glucosamine in hypovolemic shock (186,187).

GlcN has been studied in several inflammatory conditions in animals, such as AA in rats (19,133) and mice (177). As mentioned above, the observed effects in these studies are mainly attributed to the anti-inflammatory properties of GlcN that are achieved by lowering the serum levels TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1-induced gene expression. GlcN inhibits the cytokine intracellular signaling cascade through inhibition of NF- κ B activation (143). Additional reported mechanisms of anti-inflammatory action for GlcN include suppression of IL-1- β -induced production of IL-8, NO, and PGE2, inhibition of phosphorylation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in synoviocytes (133,188), and suppression of neutrophil functions such as superoxide generation, phagocytosis, granule enzyme release and chemotaxis (189).

Several studies suggest that GlcN modifies the symptom of OA and halts the disease progression with a favorable safety profile (190,191). No symptoms of toxicity were observed after oral administration of GlcN to animals. The median lethal (LD_{50}) doses of 8.0, 6.6, 1.6g/kg GlcN sulfate were reported after oral, intraperitoneal (*i.p.*) or intravenous (*i.v.*) administration in mice, respectively (148).Similarly, animal studies strongly suggest its disease-modifying effects and anti-inflammatory properties (170,192-194). However, the compound remains, perhaps, the most misunderstood therapeutic agent in use. The controversy over GlcN effectiveness will be discussed in following chapters.

1.11.3 Pharmacokinetics

1.11.3.1 Absorption

GlcN is highly soluble in water. Due to its slightly acidic nature with a pKa value of 6.91, it presents in complete ionization in the stomach at pH 1-3, while in the pH of 6.8 in the small intestine it is ionized about 50%. This level of ionization facilitates its absorption from the small intestine (195). It has been reported that GlcN is a substrate for glucose facilitative transporters (GLUT1, 2 and 4) with higher affinity to GLUT2. However in hepatocytes, its transport through the membrane is entirely mediated by GLUT2. In the intestinal mucosa, GLUT2 present as a main transporter for mediation of sugars transport such as glucose, galactose and fructose from enterocytes to the blood stream (196). Ibrahim et al. reported the involvement of GLUT2 in the transport of GlcN through the rat intestinal wall using quercetin, as a GLUT2 inhibitor (197).

The oral bioavailability of GlcN is relatively low and has been reported as 19% (198), 12% (199) and 2.5% (200) in rats, dogs, and horses, respectively. It was 26% in humans after administration of radiolabeled GlcN sulfate (201). This low bioavailability is not due to a lack of absorption through the gastrointestinal tract, since only 11.3% of the administrated dose was recovered in feces (195). The hepatic first pass metabolism was also ruled out as the systemic availability of GlcN after the *i.p.* and *i.v.* route of administration were similar. Therefore, it has been concluded that possibly gut rather than hepatic metabolism is responsible for the observed low oral bioavailability of GlcN (198). This could be due to utilization of GlcN in intestinal epithelial cell through the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP).

1.11.3.2 Distribution

GlcN does not bind to plasma or tissue proteins in different species (202). The transport of GlcN through the membranes is mediated by GLUT2; however, it was not completely blocked by GLUT2 inhibitor (197). Therefore, its passive transport cross the membranes enables GlcN to distribute in the body fluids. The reported values for GlcN volume of distribution at a steady state are very variable. This variability is probably attributable to the differences in sensitivity of the methods of analysis and the duration of blood sample collection. The volume of distribution is reported to be 0.6 L/kg in dogs and horses (199,200), 2.1 L/kg in rats (198) and 0.07 L/kg in humans (202).

Tissue distribution of GlcN in the rat organs was studied using a radiolabeled compound. Plasma radioactivity appeared due to *i.v.* administration of radiolabel GlcN, which rapidly declined in the first 30 min, peaked at 2 h post-dose, and slowly declined, with a $t_{1/2}$ of 28 h. Tissue radioactivity was detected after 10 min in all organs with the highest activity in the liver and kidneys. This activity was detectable in all organs several days after the dose administration (195).

It has been reported (195) that the incorporation of GlcN into plasma proteins after oral administration of the radiolabeled compound followed similar PK patterns seen after parenteral doses. The plasma radioactivity appeared rapidly in15 min but in lower levels than that after *i.v.* administration. It peaked 4 h after-dosing, then declined with a $t_{1/2}$ of 18 h between the 8th and 48th h. Similar to the *i.v.* route, the highest radioactivity was observed in the liver and kidneys. It reached its peak level in plasma, liver and kidneys after 4 h, and in the femoral cartilage after 8 h. Radioactivity in liver and kidneys was 2-10 and 1.2-4 times higher than in plasma , respectively. In femoral cartilage, the radioactivity was higher than plasma and similar to the

liver after 72 and 120 h post-dosing. The radioactivity rapidly decreased in the intestinal content up to 1 h and then reached its highest level after 2 h, followed by a slow decline (195). This increase of radioactivity in the intestine after early decline may suggest the uptake and biotransformation of GlcN by intestinal tissues.

The distribution of GlcN to joint and synovial fluid was studied in horses. The synovial concentration of GlcN was measured after the *i.v.* and nasogastric administration of 20 mg/kg GlcN HCl. The basal synovial concentration was below the detection limit before dose administration. The concentration elevated to reach 1.5-2.5 and 0.05-0.12 μ g/mL after 1 h post-*i.v.* and nasogastric dosing, respectively. There was a correlation between GlcN in serum and synovial concentrations. The GlcN serum concentration was not detectable after 6 h post-dose, while it could be detected in the synovial fluid at 12 h post dose (203). This result indicates that GlcN rapidly distributes to the synovial fluid and slowly eliminates from its site of action.

Persiani et al. reported in humans that GlcN distributed to the synovial fluid and its concentration increased more than 20 fold of basal level after two weeks of daily administration of 1500 mg crystalline GlcN sulfate. Moreover, there was a significant correlation between plasma and synovial concentrations and the synovial level at 3 h after oral dose was about 25% of the corresponding plasma concentration at that time point (204).

The distribution of GlcN may be influenced by joint inflammation as it has been shown that the maximum concentration in the inflamed joint of the horse was four times higher than healthy control animals after nasogastric administration of the same dose of GlcN. The effect of inflammation on synovial concentration did not reflect on the plasma concentration, indicating that joint inflammation only changed the GlcN distribution in the joint but did not affect its oral absorption (205).

1.11.3.3 Metabolism

GlcN is not metabolized by liver cytochrome P450; however, it is transformed and incorporated by liver into plasma glycoprotein through hexosamine pathway (201,206). There is no report of any GlcN induction or inhibition effect on the human liver cytochrome P450, particularly CYP1A2, CYP2E1, CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, and CYP3A4 (207). Therefore, there is no possibility of a drug-drug interaction between GlcN and other CYP substrates. However, some cases of interaction between warfarin and GlcN resulting in increased international normalized ratio (INR), have been reported (208). The mechanism of such interaction in fully elaborated.

GlcN degrades into carbon dioxide, water and urea. After the *i.v.* administration of radiolabeled GlcN sulfate, about 16% of the dose was excreted as labeled carbon dioxide ($^{14}CO_2$) in the first 6 h, and reached 50% after 144 h post-dose. These values were 61% and 81% after 6 h and 144 h post-oral dose, respectively (209). The higher level of CO2 production after oral administration of GlcN was attributed to its metabolism by gut (210).

The HBP is a common metabolic pathway that is involved in the metabolism of both glucose and GlcN (Figure 1.6). Through the glucose transporter, glucose enters the cell and is phosphorylated and converts into fructose-6-phosphate (Fruc-6-p). Subsequently, Fruc-6-p enters into the glycolysis pathway in order to produce energy. A small portion of Fruc-6-p enters into the HBP, and converts into GlcN-6-phosphate (GlcN-6-p) by glutamine: fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase (GFAT). In this enzymatic reaction, glutamine serves as a donor of the amino group. GlcN-6-p then rapidly acetylates and isomerizes to N-acetylglucosamine-1-phosphate to form uridine diphosphate-N-acetylglucosamine as a precursor of glycoproteins, glycolipids and proteoglycans (141,211). Exogenous GlcN also can be transported by a glucose transporter and once in the cell, enters into HBP to be phosphorylated by a hexokinase. This phenomenon occurs only at very high plasma concentrations (i.e., 10-30 mM) that are not attainable by oral dosing of GlcN (141,212-214).



Figure 1.6. The hexosamine biosynthetic pathway.

Adopted from reference No.(211) with permission

1.11.3.4 Elimination

GlcN has a short half-life and eliminates rapidly from the plasma. It ranges from 1.5 to 4 h in different animals and humans (199,200,203,215-218). Bioequivalence studies indicate that there is no difference in the half-life of GlcN-HCl and sulfate salts (140,203). Due to lack of sensitivity of assays, reported half-lives are possibly not representing the true values. Using more sensitive LC-MS, GlcN plasma concentration remained above the baseline level even after 48 h post-oral administration and a longer half-life was reported (219). A radioimmunoassay after i.v or oral administration of ¹⁴C-GlcN in healthy volunteers indicated that GlcN is rapidly incorporated into plasma protein by the liver, resulting on a longer half-life of 70 hours (201).

The percent excretion of unchanged GlcN through urine after 120 h post *i.v., i.m.* and oral doses were 28, 37 and 21%, respectively (160). Approximately 11% of the oral dose was recovered in feces after 24-72 h, while it was less than 1% for *i.v.* or *i.m.* doses (201). In a human study, the total amount excreted in the urine 13 h post-oral dose was 3.16% or 2.43% of the absorbed portion of the GlcN dose as HCl or sulfate salts, respectively (140). Excretion by exhalation as CO₂ through the lungs accounted for about the half of the administered dose (160).

GlcN total body clearance after the *i.v.* administration is 2.61 L/h/kg in rats (198), 9.73 L/h in dogs (199) and 39.25 L/h in horses (200).

1.12 The glucosamine controversy; a pharmacokinetic issue¹

GlcN a naturally occurring aminosugar is widely used to treat OA. Several studies suggest that GlcN modifies the symptom of OA and halts the disease progression with a favorable safety profile (190,191). Similarly, animal studies strongly suggest disease-modifying effects and anti-

¹ A version of this section has been published. Aghazadeh-Habashi, A. & Jamali, F. J Pharm Pharm Sci.2011;14 (2):264-273.

inflammatory properties (Table 1.2). However, the compound remains, perhaps, the most misunderstood therapeutic agent in use. While some reports suggest beneficial effects, other clinical trials and subsequent meta-analyses are inconclusive with their results ranging from strongly effective to negligible or no benefit to patient (220-228).

This review is presented in an attempt to shed new light onto the reasons for the controversy surrounding the issue of beneficial effects of GlcN. Since two thoughtful reviews on the topic have appeared since 2009 (229,230), herein, we briefly mentioned the source of controversy and focused on new issues.

1.12.1 Evidence for and against the beneficial effects of GlcN

In general, animal and *in vitro* studies have focused on the effect of GlcN on damaged joints and particularly on the site-specific beneficial effects (Table 1.2). Although results of such studies are often difficult to extrapolate to effects in humans, it appears that, indeed, GlcN does positively influence the biology of damaged issues. These studies ascribe anti-inflammatory properties to GlcN through inhibition of various pro-inflammatory mediators such as NO, COX-2, matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) but mainly in the context of OA (84,179,231-241). In addition to these studied, Hua et al (133) , have reported the inhibitory effect of GlcN on the emergence of AA in the rat (242). They have shown that daily administration of GlcN commencing on the day of adjuvant injection to induce AA, inhibits the emergence of the disease. AA is a type of severe arthritis that influences all joins and is associated with various systemic signs and symptoms. AA is often considered as a model for RA (170).

Animal	Salt	Dose, mg/kg	Duration, weeks	Outcome	Reference
Rabbit (OA)	HCl	27	8	Detectable, site-specific, partial disease-modifying effect	(170)
Rabbit (OA)	HCl	20 and 100	8	Dose-dependent increase of glycosaminoglycan content in contralateral knee	(193)
Rabbit (OA)	HCl	100	8	Improved subchondral bone turnover, structure, and mineralization	(194)
Rat (OA)	Sulfate	250	10	Attenuates the development of OA; reduces nociception; modulates chondrocytes metabolism;	(243)
Rabbit (OA)	Sulfate or HCl	800-1000	8	Chondroprotective effect; reduced MMP-1	(244)
Rat (OA)	HCl	1000	8	Chondroprotective by inhibiting degradation and enhancing synthesis of type II collagen	(192)
Rat (AA)	HCl	300	3	Suppress progression of AA	(133)

Table 1.2 Selected studies on the effectiveness of GlcN on experimental osteoarthritis (OA) and adjuvant arthritis (AA)

Despite the overwhelming evidence generated using experimental animals in favour of beneficial effects for GlcN in the treatment of arthritis, randomized human clinical trials are not conclusive as some have observed benefit for both pain and joint function (190,245) and others have seen no or negligible positive effects, (246,247). Similarly, subsequent meta-analysis and systemic reviews that included the original reports were not quite in agreement (248). To the best of our knowledge, the latest meta-analysis done by Wandel et al. that has pulled together data from both GlcN alone and various combinations of GlcN and chondroitin (222). The authors did not find any beneficial effect for the treatments. They were later criticized for the study design and criteria used (249,250).

Among the reported clinical trials a few have attracted considerable attention. They include the studies that were typically sponsored by the European producer of GlcN crystalline sulfate (GlcN-S, Rottapharm, Monza, Italy) that generally demonstrated positive results, (150,251,252). The other highly publicized trial is the independent Glucosamine/chondroitin Arthritis Intervention Trail (GAIT) (246). This study tested the effectiveness of GlcN-HCl alone and in combination with chondroitin and concluded that none of the treatments were superior to placebo in pain relief but suggested beneficial effects of the combination is a pre-specified group with severe knee pain. Previously a Cochrane Collaboration review of clinical trials conducted on GlcN had also concluded that "Pooled results from studies using a non-Rotta preparation or inadequate allocation concealment failed to show benefit in pain and WOMAC function, while those studies evaluating the RottaPharm preparation showed that GlcN was superior to placebo in the treatment of pain and functional impairment resulting from symptomatic OA" (248). WOMAC is a self-administered knee and hip OA index. To make the matter even more complicated 2 two-year follow-up reports of a cohort of patients enlisted in GAIT have detected no significant different between the groups treated with GlcN-HCl, celecoxib or placebo (224,253). This is when other studies have suggested effectiveness for celecoxib in the treatment of OA (254). The observed lack of superiority over placebo of two years of treatment with GlcN and celecoxib is attributed to a low baseline level of pain that can render the treatment effect difficult to assess, and also as the placebo group demonstrated improvement, to the very high expectation bias on the part of 2 years of treatment (253). The authors suggest re-evaluation of the assessment factors involved in designing future OA trails. Interestingly, despite the publicity around the negative results of the GAIT study, GlcN has maintained its popularity among OA patients (142,255).

1.12.2 Potential sources of controversy

1.12.2.1 Inconsistency of commercially available products and it consequence on clinical trials outcomes

We have previously shown that, at least for the Canadian products, 13 out of 14 tested formulations contained substantially lower than label claim of the active ingredient (Table 1.3) (256). This is mainly due to the physical instability of GlcN that is overcome with crystallization in the presences of KCl. The crystals of the active ingredient, therefore, are diluted with KCl. Except for the European Union, where GlcN is regulated as a pharmaceutical, the quality control of the commercially available products of GlcN is a prerogative of the manufacturer, and hence, it may use the diluted crystals without allowance given for the co-crystallization.

A typical clinical trial report has either no mention of the validity of the label-claim of the product used or contains only a statement conveying the manufacturer's claim with no assurance indicating an actual dose-potency measurement. While the commercially available marketed

formulation used in the GAIT study (246) is reported to be tested for its active ingredient content. For the studies included in the meta-analysis of Wandel et al. (222) assurances from the manufacturers appear to be deemed sufficient as a measure of the products active ingredient content accuracy (257,258). It is, therefore, reasonable to suggest that the patients in some of the reported clinical trials may have been under-dosed.

It is important to note that the results of some of the GlcN clinical trials with negative outcomes do not totally rule out potential benefits or trend toward efficacy of the treatment in some patients (138,224,253,258). This, coupled with the possibility of under-dosing with the less than claimed 1500 mg/day regimens, highlight the need for clinical trials using higher pharmaceutical grade GlcN doses or formulations that yield greater plasma concentrations.

Callaua.						
Preparation	Capsule	Labeled	Sulfate	GlcN, mg	GlcN, mg	% of Stated Amount
rieparation	or	Content,	or HCl		Expressed as	(as base)
	Tablet	mg			Sulfate	
1	Т	500	S + C	542	688	108
2	С	500	S	409	519	82
3	С	500	S	277	351	55
4	С	500	S	325	445	65
5	С	500	S	330	419	66
6	С	500	S	248	315	50
7	Т	1500	S	634	804	42
8	С	500	S	233	295	41
9	С	500	S	298	378	60
10	С	500	S	231	293	46
11	С	500	S	274	348	55
12	С	500	S	238	302	48
13	С	300	S	169	214	56
14	С	500	S	262	332	52

Table 1.3 Content of GlcN (mg/capsule or tablet) in commercially available products in Canada.

Adopted from Ref (256).

1.12.2.2 Dose-effect relationship

Almost all of the human clinical trials are carried out with a dosage regimen of 1500/day. Interestingly, at a certain stage, investigators should have known that such a dosage regimen was going to yield concentration substantially lower than those used in *in vitro* or in animal studies (229,241,259). Also, the trend toward GlcN's beneficial effect reported by several authors {{}}(138,224,258), should have alarmed them of the possibility of under-dosing. Nevertheless, to the best of our knowledge, no attempt was made to test a higher dosage regimen even by the investigators involved in the GAIT study that used a pharmaceutical grade formulation. The physical size of GlcN products (e.g., 1.4 g for a 500 mg tablet) might have been, at least in part, a deterrent for using higher dose.

It is well-known that most reported animal data on the pharmacological properties of GlcN are generated following high doses. However, the MED, hence, MEC of GlcN in animals has also remained unknown. Consequently, the gap between plasma GlcN concentration in human and that associated with effectiveness in experimental animals is unknown. The available human pharmacokinetic data demonstrate great inter-study variations (Table 1.4). The reported peak concentration following a 1500 mg dose ranges from 0.492 to 3.36 mg/L; i.e., a 6-fold difference between the highest (GlcN crystalline sulfate) and the lowest (GlcN-HCl as used in GAIT). This brings up an important question: Is the source of the discrepancy between the outcomes of various clinical trials a difference in GlcN bioavailability from different formulations?

Dose, mg –	C _{max}		AUC _{0-t}	AUC _{0-∞}	Reference
	mg/L	μM	mg.h/L		
1500	3.11±2.2	17.4±11.96	9.85±4.1 (8 h) ^d	10.3±4.1	(217)
500 ^a	1.11±0.51	6.2±2.85	5.25±2.16 (14 h) ^d	5.31±2.16	(260)
500 ^a	3.36 ^b	19.0 ^b	NR	19.7 ^b	(261)
1500	1.60 ± 0.42	8.95±2.37	20.22±5.02 (48 h) ^d	14.6 ± 4.14	(219)
1500 ^e	0.492 ± 0.16	2.75±0.9	NR	2.38 ± 0.94	(218)
1500	$0.90\pm0.43^{\circ}$	$5.04 \pm 2.4^{\circ}$	NR	NR	(259)

Table 1.4 GlcN pharmacokinetic data generated from human studies

a, indices were calculated for 1500 mg doses; b, geometric means no SD; all value at steady state except 'c"; d, the value in bracket indicate the time point of last measured concentration; all sulfate except 'e' NR, not reported.
Although the values listed in Table 1.4 are from different studies, hence, are not generated according to a cross-over or simultaneous parallel fashion, the fact that the human exposure to GlcN following ingestion of the HCL salt (218) is so much lower than that of the sulfate salt raises a good question that we cannot address. It is intuitively accepted that following ingestion and subsequent dissolution in the gut, both sulfate and HCl salts of GlcN are immediately ionized to GlcN, hence, the nature of the salt becomes irrelevant. If so, the differences between the two products should be at the level of formulation and not the nature of the salt.

To assess the effect of the salt nature on the bioavailability of GlcN, we present a preliminary set of data generated following a random cross-over oral gavage to the rat (male Sprague-Dawley rats, 300-360 g, n=5/group) of equal doses (equivalent to 100 mg/kg GlcN base grounded and suspended in PEG 400) of HCl (Sigma-Aldrich Canada, LTD, Oakville, ON) as used in the GAIT trial (Personal communication with J.D. Sandy) (218) or the crystalline sulfate (Dona, Lot No. PR 24080004, RottaPharm, Monza, Italy, purchased from a community pharmacy in Florence, Italy). We have previously reported the dosing and sampling methods (198,262) as well as an assay (262) used.

Based on this small animal and human study, no significant difference in bioavailability indices was observed between the two formulations (Figure 1.7, Table 1.5). This cross-over assessment indicates that the nature of the salt may does not influence the bioavailability of GlcN administered orally.

The rat data presented herein confirms a previous observation that, in horses, GlcN-HCl and sulfate are bioequivalent (203) but does not rule out the effect of formulation *per se*. We therefore, designed a brief open-label cross-over bioavailability study in healthy volunteers to directly compare GlcN-HCl as used in the GAIT study with a RottaPharm product. We used the

urinary excretion data for comparison as, despite the limited excretion of intact GlcN, it has been found to be a reliable and less variable measure of the pharmacokinetic indices of GlcN (263).



Figure 1.7. Glucosamine plasma concentration vs. time after oral administration of 100 mg/kg as HCl or sulfate salts into the rat (n= 5 /group)

Table 1.5 GlcN pharmacokinetic indices following cross-over oral administration of single 100 mg/kg doses of the compound as HCl or crystalline sulfate to 5 rats.

Parameters	GlcN-HCl	GlcN-S
t _{max} , h	1.50±0.73	1.30±0.33
C_{max} , mg/L	7.49±2.76	7.92±1.84
90% Confidence interval of geometric means, %		94.9 (80.9%-109.0)
AUC _t mg.h/.L	13.59±3.64	10.12±2.54
90% Confidence interval of geometric means, %		112.4 (100.4%-124.4)
Data are presented as mean+SD $(n=5/\sigma roun)$		

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5/group).

GlcN plasma concentrations were measured according to a previously described method (262). Formulations were grounded and suspended in polyethylene glycol 400 before administration. Their active ingredient content measured by HPLC (215) was 99.9% for the HCl and 95.2% for the sulfate. Concentrations in zero h samples demonstrate endogenous GlcN. Male Sprague-Dawley rats (300-360 g; n=5/group) were dosed through a gastric gavage after an overnight food deprivation but free access to water. Blood samples were collected over a 4 h post-dose period, plasma separated and stored at -20° C until analyzed for GlcN.

Four healthy volunteers (1 female and 3 males, 47 ± 12.5 yr, 81.8 ± 11.6 kg, 177 ± 7 cm) took 1500 mg GlcN crystalline sulfate (Dona, 250 mg tablets Lot No. PR 24080004, RottaPhram, Monza, Italy) or its equivalent of GlcN-HCl (Sigma-Aldrich Canada, LTD, Oakville, ON) dispensed in capsules as used in GAIT study. They took the formulations after an overnight fast with 250 mL water in a random fashion with a 2 week washout period. GlcN was measured in total urine output for 13 h post-dose using HPLC (262). No significant differences were found between the two products in either urinary excretion rate plots (Figure 1.8) or in the total amount excreted (Table 1.6). This cross-over study suggests that the formulations used in the GAIT study and those reported for GlcN crystalline sulfate are seem to be bioequivalent and rules out the possible effect of formulation between the two products.



Figure 1.8. Glucosamine urinary excretion rate

GlcN urinary excretion rate vs. mid time point of urine collection period following single oral dose of 1500 mg GlcN crystalline sulfate or its equivalent HCl salt to humans. Each graph represents one individual.

		GlcN-HCl			GlcN sulfate		
Subjects	t _{1/2} , h	mg	% dose ^a	t _{1/2} , h	mg	% dose	
1	1.69	37.2	3.10	2.12	38.8	3.23	
2	4.71	40.92	3.41	7.37	30.3	2.53	
3	5.87	36.0	3.00	8.35	25.3	2.11	
4	6.54	37.7	3.14	5.17	22.2	1.85	
Mean	4.70	38.0	3.16	5.75	29.2	2.43	
SD	2.14	2.12	0.18	2.76	7.23	0.60	
CV, %		6.0				24.7	
90% Confidence interval of geometric means, %			108.7 (10)3.1-114.3)			

Table 1.6 Individual subjects pharmacokinetic indices of GlcN in urine after an oral doseof 1500 mg GlcN crystalline sulfate or its equivalent HCl salt in humanGlcN excreted in 13 h

a, calculated based on 26% absolute bioavailability of radiolabeled GlcN (201)

Our data are preliminary and, need to be confirmed with a more detailed study. Nevertheless, the rat and human data on the bioequivalence of GlcN salts and formulations suggest that the HCl formulation used in the GAIT study and the commercially available RottaPharm tablets, indeed, yield equal body exposure to the compound. The discrepancy in the reported pharmacokinetic indices in general and the relatively low concentration of the formulation used in the GAIT study in particular, needs further attention.

It is known that inflammatory conditions may inhibit clearance of drugs that are efficiently undergoing hepatic metabolism (i.e., first pass effect) (8,264,265). There are two reasons to rule out this possibility for the present case: i) there is no evidence of efficient hepatic metabolism for GlcN as its low bioavailability appears to be probably due to an intestinal first-pass (198) and ii) except for one (259), all studies have been carried out in normal volunteers.

Some authors have suggested industry bias as one of the sources of the differences between the two sides of the debate (228). Such a notion, however, does not address the issue of plasma concentration differences between the two formulations. Among the sets of data reported thus far, those of Jackson et al (i.e., the HCl formulation used in the GAIT study) stands out for its substantially lower peak plasma concentration (0.49 mg/L). Since other studies with peak concentrations range of 0.9 to 3.36 mg/L are not all sponsored by a single industry source, it is reasonable to rule out the possibility of an industry bias for the reported pharmacokinetic data. Hence, the question remains as to the reason for such a low bioavailability for the formulation used in the GAIT study and the possibility of a link between the negative beneficial effects of the latter. This is particularly important since several authors have suggested a concentration dependent-effect for GlcN (229,241). For example, it has been suggested that in order to protect

cartilage from stimulated loss of aggrecan, continual presence of GlcN in plasma is required (266).

Based on *in vitro* and animal data, several investigators have pointed out the need for higher concentration in human studies to reach therapeutic levels (229,230,241,267){{}}. Repeated 300 mg/kg does of GlcN to the rat completely inhibit emergence of AA (133). Such a regimen yield peak plasma concentration of approximately 17 mg/L (19) which is much greater than those reported following 1500 mg/kg doses to humans (Table 1.4). The 300 mg/kg regimen, however, is not necessarily the minimum effect dose (Table 1.2). Indeed, we have observed similar preventive effects of GlcN following doses of 80 mg/kg (268). This regimen resulted in a peak concentration of 4.5 mg/L that is still higher that those listed in Table 1.4 but rather is an achievable level. This should prompt investigators to assess GlcN efficacy following higher doses of GlcN or formulations with improved bioavailability.

1.12.2.3 Therapeutic outcome measurements

In assessing the effectiveness of GlcN in OA, double blind placebo-controlled methods are used. The outcome measurement includes various measures such as WOMAC arthritis index, various pain scales, radiographic techniques, joint space narrowing. The sensitivity of these methods to differentiate between treatments may be questioned. Indeed, some investigators who were following GlcN effects in a sub-group of patients enrolled in the GAIT study have not even been able to differentiate between a non-controversial treatment (celecoxib) (253) and placebo so that they suggested a re-evaluation of the assessment factors involved is designing future OA trails. Interestingly, these authors attribute the observed lack of superiority over placebo of the two years treatment with GlcN and celecoxib to the possibility of a low baseline level of pain and a placebo effect due to a very high expectation bias on the part of two years of treatment

(253). If so, the same must be applied to other clinical trials as well and, indeed, it gives more credence to the issue of heterogeneity across studies (228). With such assessment difficulties in place, the possibility of detecting moderate beneficial effects on mild to moderate OA is expected to be remote. This is, perhaps, why patients ignore the results of the scientific studies and continue using GlcN. It may be that some but not all patients do benefit from the treatment.

GlcN has anti-inflammatory properties that are evident only upon administration of high doses or formulations with high bioavailability to experimental animals. The discrepancy between the reported human clinical data is probably not due the nature of the salt or formulation properties. Regardless of the formulation used, following the commonly used 1500 mg/day doses, no or marginal beneficial effects may be observed because of under-dosing which stems from low GlcN bioavailability and inconsistency in active ingredient content of commercially available products. Limited and erratic bioavailability of GlcN may also contribute to the problem. In addition, insensitive clinical outcomes and inclusion of patients with low baseline pain might have contributed to the unsatisfactory treatment outcome.

The source of the controversy in the efficacy of GlcN seems to be pharmacokinetic in nature. At this stage there is an obvious need to determine the minimum effective GlcN dose and/or concentration and conduct clinical trials following higher doses of GlcN or formulations with improved bioavailability.

1.13 Thesis rationale, hypotheses, and objectives

1.13.1 Rationale

Despite mounting number of animal studies in favour of the beneficial effects of GlcN in the treatment of arthritis, randomized human clinical trials are not conclusive as some have observed benefit for both pain and joint function and others have seen no or negligible positive

effects(220-228). The source of the discrepancy between the outcomes of various clinical trials could be a difference in GlcN bioavailability from different formulations.

The animal data regarding anti-inflammatory effect of GlcN are mostly generated using high doses and there is a disparity between human plasma GlcN concentration and that attributed to its effectiveness in animal studies. Therefore, the MED and consequently the MEC of GlcN are still unknown.

It has been shown that inflammatory conditions alter the metabolism of ArA metabolites (69) and disrupt the balance between cardioprotective (EETs) and cardiotoxic (HETEs) metabolites (32). The AA induced inflammation also changes the metabolism of ArA metabolite and disturbs their balance.

There are several analytical methods reported for determination of ArA metabolites in biological matrixes, including HPLC with UV, FL, MS, MS/MS detection. Some of these methods lack sensitivity and selectivity for simultaneous quantification of these metabolites, other utilize expensive instruments with high operational and maintenance costs. Development of a simultaneous sensitive, reliable, and cost-effective HPLC method to assay bioactive ArA metabolites in biological samples seems essential.

Inflammation has a great impact on the physiological systems in the body by altering the expression levels of regulatory proteins. The RAS, which regulates BP, fluid, and electrolyte homeostasis, can be affected by inflammation. Inflammation alters the RAS and changes the expression of its components (ACE and ACE2 enzyme expression levels, Ang peptides concentration, and their receptors; AT1R, AT2R and Mas).

The RAS and ArA pathways as two main systems involved in homeostasis of renal and CV function are in intimate interaction and their components level are correlated with each other.

Clinical trials of GlcN have confirmed several positive and disease-modifying effects in the treatment of OA (131,132). Animal studies have also suggested potent anti-inflammatory effects (134). It is expected that GlcN treatment could lead to an improvement in the signs and symptoms of arthritis by exerting its anti-inflammatory action and be able to modulate inflammation effect on the RAS and ArA pathways.

Rofecoxib, as an NSAID, caused CV and renal complications, which resulted in its withdrawal from the market (92). The importance of ArA metabolites role in CV disease and risk associated with COX-2 inhibitors is recently recognized (53,269). There is no evidence of such adverse effects after long term treatment with GlcN. Although GlcN and rofecoxib both elicit anti-inflammatory actions, it is expected that GlcN be able to restore the disturbed balance between the cardioprotective and cardiotoxic axes of the RAS and ArA pathways in comparable degrees.

1.13.2 Hypotheses

GlcN presents anti-inflammatory effect in animal model of rat with adjuvant arthritis and prevents development and progression of arthritis, if it is administered in a sufficient and higher than minimum effective dose.

Inflammation modulates ArA pathway and alters pro-inflammatory (cardiotoxic) and antiinflammatory (cardioprotective) metabolites concentrations.

Inflammation modulates the RAS and alters its components at enzyme, peptide and receptor level.

The RAS and ArA pathways are interacting and influencing each other in healthy and disease state and their components are correlated.

GlcN as an anti-inflammatory agent is able to correct the deleterious effect of inflammation on ArA pathway by restoring the balance between cardiotoxic and cardioprotective components.

GlcN as an anti-inflammatory agent is able to correct the harmful effect of inflammation on the RAS by restoring the altered expression of enzymes, receptors, and peptides concentration and reinstating the balance between cardiotoxic and cardioprotective components.

1.13.3 Objectives

To perform a dose escalation study to determine the MEDof GlcN-HCl in the progression of inflammation.

To investigate effect of GlcN on the development of arthritis and to correlate GlcN dose and plasma concentration with the response.

To develop a sensitive HPLC-FL method for determination of ArA metabolites concentration in biological samples.

To determine the effect of AA on the plasma, heart and kidney concentration of ArA metabolites and RAS components.

To correlated plasma and tissue level of the RAS components and ArA metabolites.

To investigate the effect of GlcN treatment on the RAS components expression level and ArA metabolites concentration in biological tissues.

Chapter 2

2 General Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemicals and reagents

Glucosamine HCl, mannosamine HCl, amantadine HCl, and fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl chloride (FMOC-Cl) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Canada, LTD, (Oakville, ON, Canada); high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) grade acetonitrile and water were obtained from Caledon Laboratories Ltd, (ON, Canada).

ArA metabolites standards were purchased from Cayman Chemical Company (Ann Arbor, MI. USA). They consisted of analogues of HETEs, EETs, and DHTs. The fluorescent label 2-(2,3-naphthalimino) ethyl-trifluoromethanesulphonate (NE-OTf) was obtained from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR, USA). HPLC grade acetonitrile, methanol, acetone, hexane, anhydrous acetonitrile, N,N-diiospropylethylamine, 16- hydroxydecanoic acid, formic acid (96%), butylated hydroxytoluene, and indomethacin were acquired from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). HPLC grade water used in preparation of different methanol-water solutions was obtained from Caledon Laboratories Ltd, (ON, Canada). Solid phase extraction (SPE) cartridge Oasis HLB 1cc (30 mg) was purchased from Waters Corporation (Milford, MA, USA).

For RAS component analysis using western blotting sodium orthovandate, benzamide, sodium dodecyl sulfate and EDTA were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada) Polyacrylamide gel (10%) nitrocellulose membrane, Tween 20 were purchased form Bio-Rad (Hercules, USA).Bovine serum albumin and reducing sample buffer were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON, Canada). All antibodies for ACE, ACE2, AR1R, AT2R, Neutral endopeptidase (NEP) and tubulin proteins were supplied by Abcam (Cambridge, MA, USA). Mas receptor and chymase antibodies were obtained from LifeSpan Bioscience and Biorbyt LLC (California, USA) respectively. The goat anti-mouse secondary antibody and Immune-Star[™] Chemiluminescence ECL Kit were purchased from Bio-Rad (Hercules, USA).

For Ang peptides analysis p-hydroxymercury benzoate, 1,10-phenanthroline, phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride, pepstatin A, EDTA were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). Trifluoroacitic acid and Ang-II, Ang1-7 ELISA kits were supplied by Peninsula Lab LLC (San Carlos, USA).

2.2 Animals

The study protocol was approved by the Health Sciences Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Alberta. Healthy adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (230–250 g, approximately 2 month-old) were obtained from the Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services. Animals had free access to food and water and were housed under standard temperature, ventilation, and hygienic conditions with 12 h light and dark cycle and were allowed sufficient time to acclimatize before the experiment.

2.2.1 Glucosamine dose/concentration-effect correlation study

The rats were divided into two groups of control and inflamed (n=4/group). Animals were anaesthetized with isoflurane/oxygen and injected at the tail base with 0.2 mL of adjuvant, containing 50 mg/mL of *Mycobacterium butyricum* in squalene solution (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI, USA). The control group received normal saline instead of adjuvant.

2.2.1.1 Assessment of experimental adjuvant arthritis

Subsequent to induction of arthritis, changes in the joint and paw diameters were measured daily using a caliper with 25 µm sensitivity (Mitutoyo Canada Inc., Toronto, ON). The paw

volume was monitored daily using the water replacement method (8). The daily percent change in the body weight was recorded using a regular animal balance. Serum nitrite/nitrate concentrations were quantified using the Griess reaction (270) in samples collected immediately after jugular vein insertion of cannula for serial blood sampling.

The progression of AA was monitored daily by assigning an arthritis index (AI) using a macroscopic scoring system as described before (19): For each hind paw on a 0-4 scale, 0, indicated no sign; 1, involvement of single joint; 2, involvement of >1 joint and/or ankle; 3, involvement of several joints and ankle with moderate swelling; or 4, involvement of several joints and ankle with moderate swelling; or 4, involvement of several joints and ankle with moderate swelling; or 3, involvement of single joint; 2, involvement of >1 joint and/or wrist; or 3, involvement of wrist and joints with moderate-to-severe swelling. AI for each rat was calculated by adding the scores for each individual paw. A maximum score of 14 could, thus, be obtained. An AI score of ≥ 5 was considered as significant emergence of the disease, and in the preventive experiment, animals were euthanized when they reached this score. During the treatment regimens, the experiment continued regardless of the AI score.

2.2.1.2 Ameliorating regimen

AA was induced by an intradermal injection of adjuvant at tail base, and following emergence of AA (AI \geq 5) they were randomly assigned into two groups (n = 3/group) of INF-placebo and INF-GlcN and received a once daily dose of water or GlcN (160 mg/kg) for 6 days, respectively.

2.2.1.3 Preventive regimens

The rats were divided into two main groups, healthy controls (Cont, n = 4) and inflamed (INF). On Day 1, after induction of arthritis, the INF groups were divided into five sub-groups (n

= 3-4/group), INF-0, INF-20, INF-40, INF-80, and INF-160. The animals were received daily doses of water, 20, 40, 80 and 160 mg/kg GlcN, respectively, through an oral gastric gavage with commencing on day 1 for up to 16 days. The healthy controls (Cont-0) were received daily doses of water instead.

To assess the reversibility of the effect of GlcN, on day 16 when animals in group INF-160 were still showing minimal or no sign of arthritis (AI, 0–1), the GlcN regimen was discontinued for 4 days to allow the signs of arthritis to emerge (AI, 3–5). Subsequently, the group was administered 300 mg/kg.day–1 GlcN for 4 days when the AI was reduced to 0–1. At that point, the group was subjected to a pharmacokinetics experiment as described under "*Pharmacokinetic Study*."

2.2.1.4 Pharmacokinetic study

The aims of this experiment were to study the effect of inflammation on GlcN pharmacokinetics and its linearity over the range of the examined doses and, additionally, to evaluate the correlation of GlcN plasma concentration with its pharmacological effect. Animal groups of Cont-0, INF-40, and INF-80 groups (on day 16) and INF-160 which were treated with 300 mg/kg GlcN for last 4 days were used for this part of study (see section 2.2.1.3). They were anaesthetized with oxygen/isoflurane and cannulated in the right jugular vein (197). After an overnight recovery, the last doses of 40, 80, or 300 mg/kg were orally administered to the AA groups. The control group received 80 mg/kg GlcN. Serial blood samples were collected and plasma separated and stored in a -20° C freezer until assayed for GlcN.

2.2.2 Effect of inflammation on ArA metabolites and RAS component

AA was introduced by injection of adjuvant as explained mentioned in section 2.2.1, in order to study the effect of GlcN on the ArA and RAS systems in the rats with arthritis. Animals were divided into two groups of control and inflamed. Control groups were further divided to subgroups of Control (CL), Control-GlcN (CL-GlcN) and inflamed group were divided to inflamed (INF), inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN). GlcN groups received a daily dose of 160 mg/kg/day (as GlcN-HCl solution in water) for 22 days commencing day 1. CL and INF groups received water using oral gavage technique. At the end of the experiment, blood samples were collected by cardiac puncture. Heart and kidney tissues were rapidly removed and weighted. Blood and tissue samples were divided into two portions and prepared for ArA and RAS component assays as described in the following sections.

2.2.2.1 Sample collection for ArA metabolites study

Aliquots of 200 μ L of saline containing butylated hydroxytoluene (0.113 mM) and indomethacin (10 μ M) were added to 1mL of blood. Plasma was separated after centrifugation at 10,000 g for 10 min at 0° C. The heart and kidney tissues were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen along with plasma samples and stored at -80° C until analyzed.

2.2.2.2 Sample collection for RAS component study

Blood

To aliquots of 1 mL blood samples in heparin free polypropylene tubes, 50 μ L of cocktail solution containing 1 mM p-hydroxymercury benzoate, 30 mM 1, 10-phenanthroline, 1mM phenylmethsylsulphonyl fluoride, 1 mM peptstian A and 7.5% EDTA was added. After centrifugation for 10 min at 250 g, the plasma was separated and stored at -80° C until analyzed.

Heart and kidney tissue

The heart and kidney tissues were washed with ice cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS), immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C until analyzed.

2.3 Glucosamine assay

GlcN plasma concentrations were determined using a pre-column derivatization reversedphase HPLC method previously reported by our laboratory (262). Briefly, 100 µL of rat plasma samples were spiked with 50 μ L of 10 μ g/ml mannosamine as an internal standard. Plasma proteins were precipitated by adding 200 µL acetonitrile followed by 1 min vortex-mixing and centrifugation for 3 min at 10,000 g. In a test tube, to 100 μ L of the separated supernatant, 50 μ L of borate buffer (0.2 M, pH 8.5) was added, followed by 50 µL of freshly prepared solution of FMOC-Cl as a derivatizing agent (8 mM, dissolved in acetonitrile). The mixture was shaken for 1 min and incubated for derivatization in a water bath at 30° C for 30 min. Subsequently, 50 µL of amantadine HCl, in order to react with excess of reagent (271), was added and samples were mixed and diluted with 1 mL acetonitrile-water (1:1). 5 μ L of the final solution was then injected into the HPLC system (Shimadzu prominence, Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON Canada). The chromatographic separation was achieved on a Phenomenex C18 (100mm X 4.6 mm, id 3 µm) reversed phase column, using 0.1% acetic acid/acetonitrile gradient mobile phase at a 1 mL/min flow rate and column oven temperature of 40° C. Detection was carried out with a fluorescence detector at excitation and an emission wavelength of 256 nm and 315 nm, respectively. The method was validated over the range $0.05-20 \mu g/ml$ with CV < 15%.

2.4 ArA metabolites assay

For ArA metabolites assay in biological samples, we developed a new HPLC-fluorescence (LC-FL) method which is explained in chapter 3 in details.

2.5 RAS components analysis

2.5.1 Angiotensin converting enzyme measurement (western blot analysis)

The level of proteins of interest i.e., ACE, ACE2, angiotensin target proteins i.e., AT1R, AT2R and mass receptor MAS was determined in the heart and kidney tissues using previously reported Western blot method (105). Animal sample collection was described at a section 2.2.2.2. Accurately weighted portion of these organs were thawed at room temperature, minced and homogenized in the given volume of 50 mM Tris buffer (pH 7.4) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (1/150 mL), sodium orthovandate (27.6 mg/150 mL), benzamide (15 mg/150 mL), sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) (0.1%) and EDTA (45 mg/150mL). The tissue homogenate was then subjected to centrifugation at 7000 g at 4° C for 20 min. The debris was discarded and total protein concentration was measured using Lowery method with a commercially available protein assay kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA). From each sample a measured volume containing 50 µg of protein was incubated with reducing sample buffer for 5 min at 90° C. Afterwards samples were loaded onto 10% polyacrylamide gel and electrophoresis was run at 200 V until the marker reached to the lower end of plate. The proteins were then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane previously soaked and washed in washing buffer containing 0.1% Tween 20 in phosphate buffered saline. The membrane was incubated over-night at 4° C in blocking solution containing 5% fat-free milk and 1.5% bovine serum albumin in washing buffer. After thoroughly washing with 15 mL washing buffer 10 min each four time, the membranes were incubated at room temperature for 2 hours with the following primary antibodies: ACE (anti-mouse, ab77990; Abcam; 1:100), ACE2 (anti-rabbit, ab87436; Abcam; 1:1000), Mas receptor (anti-rabbit, LS-B3564; LifeSpan; 1:50000), AR1R (anti-rabbit, ab9391; Abcam; 1:400), AT2R (anti-goat, ab19134; Abcam; 1:800), Neutral endopeptidase (NEP) (anti-rabbit, ab126593; Abcam; 1:5000), chymase (anti-rabbit, orb4912; Biorbyt; 1:500), Tubulin (anti-rabbit, ab4074; Abcam; 1:10000). Following primary antibody treatment the membranes were thoroughly washed in 5 mL washing buffer for 10 min for four times, and then incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with respective Goat Anti-Mouse Secondary Antibody (*#* 170-5047; Bio-Rad) is a conjugate of horseradish peroxidase secondary antibody used in the concentration of 1:30000. Afterwards antibody solution was recovered for later use and membranes were treated with Immune-Star[™] Chemiluminescence ECL Kit (*#*170-5070; Bio-Rad) to visualize and quantified as the density of the image on a film plate (Fujifilm, Canada). Results were presented as the ratio of densities between the protein of interest and Tubulin bands.

2.5.2 Angiotensin Peptide Measurement (ELISA Analysis)

In order to substantiate the results obtained from ACE protein measurement obtained from western blotting analysis, we also measured their respective biologically active peptide products in the plasma, heart, and kidney. The animal sample collection was described in section 2.2.2.2. Before analysis, samples were thawed and brought to room temperature. The heat and kidney tissues were homogenized with 0.045 N HCL in ethanol (10 ml/g tissue), containing 0.90 μ M p-hydroxymercury benzoate, 131.5 μ M 1,10-phenanthroline , 0.90 μ M phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride , 1.75 μ M pepstatin A , 0.032% EDTA , and 0.0043% protease free bovine serum albumin and subjected to centrifugation at 750 g for 10min. Afterwards, debris were discarded and samples were evaporated and reconstituted again in 0.003% trifluoroacitic acid.

Peptides were extracted from plasma, heart and kidney tissue samples using an Oasis HLB extraction column according to the manufacturer's protocol (Peninsula Lab LLC USA, EIA protocol). After extraction, the samples were freeze dried overnight. The freeze dried plasma, heart, and kidney samples were used to measure Ang-II, Ang1-7 using an ELISA kit. According to the manufacturer, the cross reactivity of a polyclonal Ang-II antibody is less than 0.001% with Ang-1 and Ang 1-7. For a polyclonal Ang1-7 antibody cross reactivity was less than 0.08% for Ang-I and Ang-II. Protein concentration in a crude homogenate was determined using the Lowry method and a commercially available protein assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). The ratio of Ang1-7 / Ang-II was determined individually only for both peptides.

2.6 Data analysis

The pharmacokinetic parameters were determined using the non-compartmental approach. Doses were normalized based on the rat body weight. The area under the plasma concentrationtime curve (AUC_{0-t}) was calculated using the linear trapezoidal rule up to the last measured plasma concentration. The parameters were determined for each individual animal and the sample population averages were calculated. The observed peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) and the time-to-peak concentration (T_{max}) were recorded.

To calculate the median effective dose (ED_{50}) and half maximal effective concentration (EC_{50}) , the best fit line through the observed data were estimated using the nonlinear regression approach (GraphPad Prism version 5.3 for windows, GraphPad Software, San Diego, California, USA). Data was confirmed using the sigmoidal dose-response (variable slope) equation passing through the origin. The response to GlcN treatment, a reduction in AI, expressed as percent relief and calculated by the assumption that the maximum effect (100% relief) was achieved when AI was equal to zero, i.e., equal to that measured for healthy rats. No effect (0% relief) was

considered as AI = 5. The ED₅₀ and EC₅₀ were determined using the software by extrapolation of the 50% effect at Y axis to find the corresponding dose or concentration at X axis.

2.7 Statistical analysis

The values are presented as mean \pm SD. The relationship between two parameters was analyzed using the Pearson regression correlation coefficient. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism statistical software version 5.3 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California, USA). Statistical significance (p < 0.05) between observations were examined based on the number of means involved, using either the Student's *t*-test or one way ANOVA followed by the Tukey's Multiple Comparison test at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Chapter 3

3 Glucosamine Dose/Concentration-Effect Correlation in the Rat with Adjuvant Arthritis²

3.1 Introduction

The animal data regarding pharmacological effects of GlcN are mostly generated using high doses so that the MED and consequently MEC is still unknown (133). Therefore, there is a disparity between human plasma GlcN concentration and that attributed to effectiveness in animal studies. The inter-study variability of current human pharmacokinetic data is high (140). For example, there is over 6-fold difference on reported maximum plasma concentration between the pharmaceutical grade products available in Europe (3.36 mg/L) (217) and the formulation used in a more recent clinical trial (0.492 mg/L) (218) following the same dosage regimen. This mater raises the question that whether oral bioavailability of GlcN from different formulations is responsible for the discrepancy between the outcomes of various clinical trials, or patients are under-dosed when treated with the common 1500 mg/day regimen. Surprisingly, after many clinical trials, which reported no or marginal effects for 1500 mg/day GlcN in OA, the subsequent studies (272-276) still used the same regimen with no attempt to try a greater daily dose. To the best of our knowledge, no information is available as to the GlcN MED or concentration in animals or human. Herein, we report the GlcN dose/concentration-effect relationship in AA.

3.2 Hypothesis

GlcN presents anti-inflammatory effect in AA rat and prevents development and progression of arthritis if it is administered in a sufficient and higher than minimum effective dose.

² A version of this chapter has been published Aghazadeh-Habashi A, Kohan MH, Asghar W, Jamali F. J Pharm Sci 2014;103(2):760-767

3.3 Objectives

To perform a dose escalation study to determine the MED of GlcN-HCl in progression of inflammation.

To investigate GlcN effect on the development of arthritis and to correlate GlcN-HCl dose and plasma concentration with response.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Ameliorating effect of GlcN

As depicted in Figure 3.1, the elevated AI, as a measure of signs and symptoms of already established arthritis, dropped rapidly and significantly after 4 days of 160 mg/kg/day GlcN dosing. In contrast, AI gradually increased to the highest level in placebo treated animals until they were sacrificed.



Figure 3.1. Ameliorating effect of GlcN

Ameliorating effect of daily doses of placebo or 160 mg/kg GlcN on the signs and symptoms of established AA (AI \geq 5) induce by tail base injection of adjuvant, (n = 3/group). *significantly different between groups (p < 0.01). ¶ Significantly different from GlcN treatment day 0 (p < 0.001). Error bars are standard deviation. INF-placebo; animal with AA treated with water, INF-GlcN, animal with AA treated with GlcN-HCl

3.4.2 Preventive effect of GlcN

AA was evident 10-12 days post- adjuvant injection of the (Figure 3.2). It resulted in significant reductions in body weight gain and elevation of the serum nitrite/nitrate concentration 16 days post-adjuvant injection (Table 3.1). Both indices stayed at the healthy levels by all GlcN dosing regimens administered after the adjuvant injection. AA manifested itself by initial scaling and redness of paw sole, erythema of ankle joints followed by involvement of the metatarsal and interphalangeal joints. The symptoms spread progressively with time into other parts of hind and forepaws. Animals that were injected the adjuvant but not received GlcN showed significant emergence of AA (Figure 3.2). They were, hence, euthanized when AI was elevated (\geq 5). Those that received GlcN, on the other hand, responded to the therapy in a dose-dependent fashion (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. Preventive effect of GlcN

Effect of different daily doses of GlcN on emergence of arthritis induced by tail base injection of adjuvant; n = 3-4/group, Different characters indicate significant differences between groups on day 16. Error bars are standard deviation. Cont-0, INF-0, INF-20, INF-40, INF-80, INF-160 groups received, water or GlcN dose of 20, 40, 80, 160 mg/kg/day, respectively.

Group	Mean	vs. INF-0,%	p <
Cont-0	50.1 (5.4)	32.3	0.001
INF-0	17.8 (8.3)		
INF-20	39.5 (12.0)	21.7	0.05
INF-40	47.2 (8.7)	29.4	0.01
INF-80	43.4 (14.8)	25.6	0.05
INF-160	44.6 (13.1)	26.8	0.05
Serum nitrite co	oncentration, µM		
Cont-0	67.1 (16.3)	-141.3	0.001
INF-0	208 (24.3)	0.0	
INF-20	95.6 (14.8)	-112.8	0.01
INF-40	73.7 (15.3)	-134.8	0.01
INF-80	58.3 (27.4)	-150.1	0.01
INF-160	69.3 (11.1)	-139.1	0.001

Table 3.1 Effect of different daily doses of GlcN on percent body weight gain and serum nitrite 16 days post adjuvant injection

The data are expressed as arithmetic mean (SD) and % of mean differences vs. INF-0; (n=3-4), p < 0.05 was considered significant.

Table 3.2 Changes from baseline observed following daily doses of GlcN administered for 16 days to control and rats with AA (INF)

Animal	GlcN Dose	Paw Diameter	Joint Diameter	Paw
Group	(mg/kg/day)	(µm)	(µm)	Volume
				(µL)
Cont-0	0	-20 (38)	518 (120)	280 (83.7)
INF-0	0	1321 (606.9)¶	2963 (563.6)¶	1500 (265)¶
INF-20	20	121 (326)	686 (648)	575 (499)
INF-40	40	323 (123)	527 (206)	475 (330)
INF-80	80	165 (451)	533 (298)	450 (100)
INF-160	160	165 (243)	222 (104)	225 (275)

Data are expressed as arithmetic means (SD); ¶ Significantly different from other groups; p < 0.001, n = 3-4/group.

The preventive effect of GlcN was evident following the treatment with all doses of GlcN. In the treated animals, paw and joint diameters and paw volumes were significantly smaller than those that were not treated (Table 3.2). The effect was dose dependent albeit variable (Table 3.2). With regards to AI, however, a partial effect (reduction of AI) appears with the 20 mg/kg/day dose but was only significant after the 80 mg/kg/day dose (Figure 3.2).

Serum nitrite concentration and body weight gains (Table 3.1) were maintained at the healthy levels by all GlcN doses.

As depicted in Figure 3.3 and Table 3.3, experimental inflammation had no effect on GlcN pharmacokinetic. The relationship between the dose and AUC and C_{max} of GlcN were linear in the rats with arthritis (Figure 3.4). Similarly, the dose elevation influence neither T_{max} nor t1/2 of the drug.

The AI was significantly correlated with dose (p < 0.01, r = -0.647), C_{max} (p < 0.05, r = -0.651) and AUC (p < 0.01, r = -0.833), while the AUC-AI relationship demonstrated the least degree of variability and strongest correlation (Figure 3.5).

The linear regression lines between % relief of symptoms vs. logarithm dose or concentration did not pass through the origin and presented with X axis intercepts; therefore sigmoidal model with nonlinear regression approach was used. The modeling based on the relationship between logarithm of dose or concentration and percent improvement in AI (Figure 3.6) revealed ED₅₀ and EC₅₀ of 33.1 mg/kg/day and 1.36 mg/L, respectively.



Figure 3.3 GlcN plasma concentration-time curve GlcN concentration-time profiles after oral administration of 80 mg/kg/day to arthritic (\diamond , n = 3) and non-arthritic (\blacklozenge , n = 4) rats; Error bars are standard deviations

and non-artificitic rats $(II - 4)$	l.		
	Non-arthritic	Arthritic	
	control		
AUC 0-4 h (mg.h/L)	7.47 (2.33)	8.77 (2.04)	p > 0.05
$C_{max}(mg/L)$	5.31 (6.84)	6.50 (3.51)	p > 0.05
t_{max} (h) ^a	1.25 (0.35)	0.92 (0.14)	p > 0.05
$t_{1/2}(h)$	0.83 (0.33)	0.83 (0.61)	p > 0.05

Table 3.3 GlcN pharmacokinetic indices after oral administration of 80 mg/kg to arthritic (n = 3) and non-arthritic rats (n = 4).

Data presented as mean (SD), ^a arithmetic mean of individual t_{max}



Figure 3.4 Correlation between GlcN daily dose and arthritis index, C_{max} , and AUC

Relationship between GlcN daily dose and arthritis index, C_{max} and AUC $\ ; \ -\!\!-\!,$ regression lines



Figure 3.5. Correlation of Cmax and AUC with arthritis index Relationship between C_{max} , and AUC and GlcN dose; —, regression lines



Figure 3.6. GlcN EC50 and ED50

Logarithm of mean GlcN dose or concentration vs. percent difference in arthritis index before and after treatment. The best fit line (....) through the observed data was estimated using the nonlinear regression approach (GraphPad Prism version 5.3 for windows, GraphPad Software, San Diego, California, USA). Data was confirmed using the sigmoidal dose-response (variable slope) equation passing through the origin. The response to GlcN treatment, a reduction in AI, expressed as percent relief of symptoms and calculated by the assumption that the maximum effect (100% relief) was achieved when AI was equal to zero, i.e., equal to that measured for healthy rats. No effect (0% relief) was considered as AI=5, (n= 3-4/ group)

3.5 Discussion

In the present work, a single injection of Mycobacterium butyricum resulted in 100% incidence of AA. Data from our first experiment clearly demonstrated that GlcN is effective in reducing the signs and symptoms of AA after its emergence (Figure 3.1). After the onset of AA (AI \geq 5), treatment with daily doses of 160 mg/kg GlcN-HCl significantly brought down AI. When untreated, AI continually rose until the animal was euthanized. The result from this arm of the study, however, did not provide information regarding the dose-dependency of the effect. Subsequently, we planned a dose-effect study that, due to the associated ethical consideration, focused on the preventive effect of the compound. We assumed that the preventive effects of GlcN reflect the compound's ameliorating properties based on our observations made on the NSAIDs, in general (unpublished data), and ketoprofen in particular (277).

In the preventive experiment, the emergence of AA in the untreated rats was evident through significant increased AI (Figure 3.2), reduced weight gain and increased serum nitrite concentration (Table 3.1) and swelling of the joints (Table 3.2). In humans, a rise in the serum nitrite has been reported to be a reliable predictor of rheumatoid arthritis (11).

To the best of our knowledge this is the first study to identify the dose-dependency of GlcN intervention in arthritis. Hua et al have previously reported the suppressing effect of GlcN on AA after repeated daily doses of 300 and 1000 mg/kg with no sign of dose-dependency. Indeed, both doses were equally effective in suppressing arthritis, i.e., the maximum attainable effect (133). Based on our present data, the observation of Hua et al suggests that, similar to many other studies reporting animal observations (193,243), they had used doses beyond what is needed to attain the maximum effect. We observed that GlcN suppressed the elevation of AI in a dose-
dependent fashion. Doses as low as 20 mg/kg showed some positive results when individual metrics were considered (Table 3.2, Figure 3.2). However, when AI on day 16 was considered (Figure 3.2), a significant effect was not detected until 80 mg/kg/day was used. AI is a hybrid measure of the disease, hence, inherently it includes more variables than metrics such as paw diameter. The effect of the 40 mg/kg/day regimen on AI was not significantly different from the higher tested doses but its difference with the placebo did not reach significance either. This may be due to smaller number of animal used in the study or the variability in response and the type of statistical test (one-way ANOVA) used. As compared with the tests that compare only two means, a comparison among more than two means requires greater consistency in response detect significant differences. Nevertheless, these results indicated that the MED of GlcN ranges from 40 to 80 mg/kg/day. However, the 40 mg/kg/day dose generates plasma concentrations of 1.37±0.24 mg/L (observed) or 1.69 mg/L (estimated from sigmoidal regression line). These values are close to the calculated ED_{50} (33.09 mg/kg/day) and EC_{50} (1.36 mg/L) based on the applied curve fitting approach despite the potential error involved due to the lack of experimental data point at both extreme ends of the relationship (Figure 3.6). These therapeutic C_{max} values are comparable with the reported values in human $(1.60\pm0.42 \text{ mg/L})$ who participated in the clinical trials and receiving 1500 mg/L/day pharmaceutical grade GlcN sulfate with potentially positive outcomes (140). However, the range observed, herein, is much higher than that the concentration of 0.49 mg/L reported for the formulation used in Glucosamine/chondroitin Arthritis Intervention Trial (GAIT) (218). The common daily dose used in almost all of clinical trials is 1500 mg (140,221) which has not generally resulted in a constant concentration range or consistent therapeutic outcomes (140). For some of these trials, the low plasma concentration can be attributed to the reported lower than the label claim content of glucosamine regardless of the salt

used except for the pharmaceutical grade sulfate used in Europe (256). The reason for the low concentration reported for the well-publicized GAIT study is unknown as the formulation used therein was a pharmaceutical grade GlcN-HCl (personal communication) which seems to be bioequivalent to a prescription-grade GlcN sulfate product available in Europe (Dona, RottaPharm, Monza, Italy) (140). The GAIT results that suggested only marginal beneficial effects for a sub-group of patients and the lack of availability of prescription-quality preparations in the US, have influenced the negative opinions regarding the use of GlcN in OA expressed by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) (278). Interestingly, a follow up of the same GAIT study reported no beneficial effect for celecoxib as compared with placebo either (253) suggestive of either a lack of effect of the drug in OA or the unreliability of measuring tools of OA. Surprisingly ACR did not issue a negative recommendation against celecoxib as it did for GlcN.

The closeness of the GlcN therapeutic plasma concentration in the rat and humans is interesting and agreeable with the belief expressed by several authors (229,259). The fact that GlcN is not plasma protein bound may, in part, have a role in this observation. Our data suggest that an increase in the dose will proportionally elevate GlcN plasma concentration, hence, the beneficial effects of the drug. This exposure dependency of GlcN effect observed in the rat, may provide a hint as to the reason why clinical trials of the compound are controversial; the therapeutic plasma concentration range is not reached due either to the use of products that contain less than label claim (140) or because the examined dosage regimen is marginally effective, thereby, results in great variations in response and lack of statistical significance as we have observed in the lower range of our examined doses (i.e., 40 mg/kg/day). A higher than

commonly tested 1500 mg/day GlcN dosage regimen, therefore, may results in a more clear response to the drug.

GlcN prevents the rise in serum nitrite (a stable metabolite of NO) concentration in response to the experimentally induced arthritis (Table 3.1). The role of NO in the inflammatory conditions has been extensively reported (279,280). The fact that GlcN influences the serum nitrite concentrations in AA is another evidence for the anti-inflammatory properties of the compound and maybe involves separate pathways not related to AA. Interestingly, the preventive effect of GlcN on serum nitrite concentration was significant in response to the lowest examined regimen (20 mg/kg/day) and was not dose-dependent (Table 3.1). This may suggest that the compound's anti-inflammatory properties appear even with doses that are not fully effective against AA. This may have therapeutic relevance in the treatment of inflammatory conditions that are less severe than systemic arthritis. Another indicator of AA progression is the reduced body weight gain rate (Table 3.1) that is suggested to be due to the inability of animal in the cage to reach food as a result of the inflammatory condition (281). Interestingly, GlcN at a lower dose than those demonstrating significant therapeutic benefits prevents this effect of AA in reducing the weight gain.

Although AI demonstrated a significant dependence on GlcN dose, and C_{max} , it was best correlated with the GlcN exposure or AUC as depicted in Figure 3.5. The variability observed in the effect vs. dose relationship (Figure 3.4, 3.6) may be explained by the inconsistency in the absorption process. For the C_{max} , often, precise identification of the parameter is difficult due to the limitation in blood sample collection. AUC, on the other hand, is a less variable parameter, hence, better reflects the systemic exposure of the drug. For a compound such as GlcN that has

to be distributed through the body to elicit its effect, a measure of exposure, i.e., AUC, is expected to be better correlated with the effect.

Following repeated doses of GlcN to arthritic animals, a linear relationship was observed between plasma concentration and the dose within the examined range of 20-300 mg/kg (Figure 3.4). A linear pharmacokinetic pattern has also been reported for single doses of GlcN administered to healthy rats (197). The similarity between the healthy and AA rats in the linearity of GlcN pharmacokinetics may be a reflection of the fact that the experimental disease did not influence the GlcN disposition (Figure 3.3, Table 3.3).

Inflammation reduces the metabolic clearance of drugs which are efficiently metabolized (11,282). The effect of AA on pharmacokinetics of GlcN has been reported to be insignificant after single doses (19). Since GlcN is used for chronic treatments, we compared its plasma concentration vs. time in control rats with those with AA following repeated doses. Our observation confirms that inflammation does not influence GlcN pharmacokinetics after single or repeated doses (Figure 3.3, Table 3.3).

The present study has a few limitations. Firstly, it has used a model of systemic inflammation that resembles RA while most human studies are focused on OA. Although AA is associated with severe affliction of the joints, its etiology is different from OA. Nevertheless, our data present the potential beneficial effects of GlcN on severe inflammatory conditions involving joints. Secondly, with the exception of the 160 mg/kg dose study, the therapeutic range presented herein, is based on GlcN preventing effects assuming a link between the preventing and ameliorating effects. Thirdly, the identification of the therapeutic concentrations range was made using an animal model and a limited sample size/group, hence, may not necessarily reflect that in humans. The present study, therefore, should be considered as the first step toward a better

understanding of GlcN mode of action and resolving the issues surrounding the controversy in the use of the compound as a drug.

In summary, GlcN possesses preventive and ameliorating effects on AA in a dose and concentration dependent manner. The MED is approximately between 40 and 80 mg/kg that corresponds with maximum plasma concentrations that are within the range reported for pharmaceutical-grade products used in human trial that have reported beneficial effects. Considering the observed dose-dependency of the GlcN effect and the possibility of under-dosing, mainly, due to the use of inferior products, future clinical trials should consider using pharmaceutical grade GlcN and, perhaps, higher than 1500 mg/kg/day doses.

Chapter 4

4 Simultaneous Determination of Bioactive Arachidonic acid Metabolites by Reversed-Phase HPLC Method Using Fluorescence Detection and Application to Rat and Human Plasma, and Rat Heart and Kidney Samples

4.1 Introduction

Ample recent preclinical and epidemiologic data suggest that modulation of eicosanoid metabolism may be a feasible clinical therapeutic strategy for the management of different pathological disorders including CV diseases (33). Estimation of plasma and tissue concentration of ArA metabolites is, therefore, important for understanding their role in physiological and pathophysiological processes. In addition they may play the role of biomarkers of various conditions.

Several liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) as well as ultraviolet and fluorescence high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) assays have been reported in the literature for the determination of ArA metabolites family (Table 4.1). A few of the LC-MS methods have focused only on particular members of this family (283,284), or they lack sensitivity and/or selectivity to detect the basal levels in biological matrixes (285). In order to overcome these shortfalls and improve sensitivity, some researchers have incubated AA with microsomal fraction of CYP enzymes, have stimulated endothelial cells culture or have used higher sample volume (286-288). In our hands, a previously reported LC-MS method (287) under the conditions used by others (69,289), did not produce consistent results due to the following reasons: first, it was an indirect assay using microsomal fraction and incubation with external ArA to enhance the ArA metabolites concentration, therefore, the method was not suitable for the estimation of basal concentrations; second, it demonstrated unacceptable intra

and inter-day variability and, third, it was not selective for resolution of structurally similar ArA metabolites. Theoretically, any LC-MS method for separation of compounds with equal mass relies on LC component, and if the chromatographic behaviors of the compounds of interest are not sufficiently different, the peaks of interest do not well-resolve (288). To address the latter issue, Martín-Venegas et al used an LC-MS/MS with multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode capable of using the combination of the parent mass and unique fragment ions (288) however, they declared that even MRM method was not specific since each eicosanoid presents several m/z fragment transitions. The advantage of LC-MS/MS in provision of high sensitivity is, however, compromised by the high instrumental, operational and maintenance cost. Alternatively, HPLC-fluorescence (LC-FL) approach has been explored. The previously reported LC-FL, however, are not without problem neither. The isocratic elution approach used in two of these assays results in less than desired peak resolutions (285,290). For instance Maier et al (285) have reported the same retention time for several metabolites. Alternatively, Yue et al (291) have reported a LC-FL method using gradient elution that resulted in improved peak resolution reported for their standard AA metabolites solutions. They, however, have not presented chromatographs of biological samples; nor have they reported the effect of matrixes on the accuracy of the assay. Using Yue et al method we found unknown peaks interfering with our peaks of interest. We, therefore, developed an improved LC-FL assay based on two previously reported methods (285,291) that provided a greater sensitivity and improved selectivity so that is suitable for a wider applicability for simultaneous analysis of AA metabolites in different biological specimens of human and rat

.

NO	Method	LOD, pg	LOQ, pg	N ^a	Sample Type ^b (D/IN) ^c	Reference	
1	LC-UV, Isocratic	800-1500	NR	7	Std sol., biological samples (D)	(292)	
2	LC-FL, Isocratic	500	NR	7	Std sol., urine (D)	(285)	
3	LC-FL, Isocratic	500	NR	5	Std sol., platelet (D)	(290)	
4	LC-FL, gradient	2-20	20-70	13	Std sol., (D)	(291)	
5	LC-FL	2	NR	5	Endothelial cell (D)	(286)	
6	LC-MS, gradient	1	NR	9	Std sol. (D), microsome (IN)	(287)	
7	LC-MS, LC-MS/MS	NR	750	2	Tissue microsome (IN)	(293)	
8	LC-MS/MS	NR	NR	4	Corona microsome (IN)	(294)	
9	LC-MS/MS, MRM	0.33-32	1.4-105	15	Std sol, cell culture (D)	(288)	
10	LC-MS/MS, MRM	NR	1-40	32	Plasma (D)	(295)	
11	LC-MS/MS, MRM	0.2-619	1.4-768	14	Std sol., Plasma and tissue (D)	(296)	
12	UHPLC-MS/MS, MRM	NR	0.57-5.6	10	Tissue (D)	(297)	

Table 4.1. Comparative list of HPLC methods reported in literature for measurement of ArA metabolites

^aNumber of metabolites included; ^bThe type of sample chromatograph presented (Std Sol, standard solution no biological specimen); ^cSample preparation needs (D) or does not need amplifying (IN) and measurement of assay, direct or after incubation of microsomal fraction; LOD, Limit of detection; LOQ, limit of quantification; NR, not reported.

4.2 **Objective**

To develop a simultaneous sensitive, reliable and cost-effective HPLC method for determination of bioactive ArA metabolites in biological samples in order to study the effect of inflammation and anti-inflammatory treatment with GlcN and rofecoxib on their concentrations

4.3 Materials and Methods

ArA metabolites standards were purchased from Cayman Chemical Company (Ann Arbor, MI. USA). They consisted of analogues of HETEs, EETs, and DHTs. The fluorescent label 2-(2,3-naphthalimino) ethyl-trifluoromethanesulphonate (NE-OTf) was obtained from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR, USA). HPLC grade acetonitrile, methanol, acetone, hexane, anhydrous acetonitrile, N,N-diiospropylethylamine, 16- hydroxydecanoic acid, formic acid (96%), butylated hydroxytoluene, and indomethacin were acquired from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). HPLC grade water used in preparation of different methanol-water solutions was obtained from Caledon Laboratories Ltd, (ON, Canada). Solid phase extraction (SPE) cartridge Oasis HLB 1cc (30 mg) was purchased from Waters Corporation (Milford, MA, USA).

4.3.1 Animals

The study protocol was approved by the Health Sciences Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Alberta. Healthy adult male Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats (230–250 g, approximately 2 month-old) were obtained from the Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services. Animals had free access to food and water and were housed under standard temperature, ventilation, and hygienic conditions with 12 h light and dark cycle and were allowed sufficient time to acclimatize before the experiment.

4.3.2 Rat and human biological sample collection

The animal study protocol was approved by the Health Sciences Animal Care and Use Committee and University of Alberta. Adult healthy male Sprague-Dawley rats (230–250 g) were obtained from the Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services. Animals had free access to food and water and were housed under standard temperature, ventilation and hygienic conditions. They were anesthetised using isoflurane. Through cardiac puncture aliquots of 1 mL blood samples were collected and 200 μ L of saline containing butylated hydroxytoluene (0.113 mM) and indomethacin (10 μ M) was added to inhibit auto-oxidation and enzymatic degradation of the eicosanoids, respectively. Plasma was separated after centrifugation at 10,000 g for 10 min at 0° C. Heart and kidney organs were rapidly removed, snap frozen on liquid nitrogen along with plasma samples and stored at -80° C until analyzed. Human blood samples were collected from two healthy volunteers according to a protocol approved by the University of Alberta Human Ethics Committee (12); plasma separated and aliquot of 200 μ L were analyzed for AA metabolites as described above.

4.3.3 Sample preparation

Standard ethanolic solutions were prepared by serial dilution of a working solution (5 μ g/mL of each eicosanoids) to achieve concentration range of 0.01-2.5 μ g/mL. 16-Hydroxydecanoic acid (30 μ L of 1 mg/mL in ethanol) was used as internal standard. Aliquots of approximately 30 mg rat frozen heart or kidney tissues were accurately weighed and placed in a glass tube and homogenated in a mixture of 200 μ L of methanol and 0.4 μ L of 96% formic acid containing 0.113 mM butylated hydroxytoluene and indomethacin (10 μ M). For the assay of the metabolites in plasma, to aliquot of 200 μ L samples was added 0.4 μ l of 96% formic acid. Subsequently, the samples were spiked with internal standard and separated by centrifugation at

10,000 g for 10 min at 0° C. The supernatants were diluted with 1.8 mL of 10% methanol before loading on SPE cartridges on a vacuum manifold. The SPE cartridges were previously conditioned with 1 mL methanol, 1 mL acetone, 2 mL hexane, 1 mL acetone, 1 mL methanol and 2 mL water. We modified the procedure (291) by adding an additional extraction step to remove unwanted endogenous compounds: The loaded cartridges were washed with 3 mL of water and 1 mL of 10% methanol. The retained eicosanoids in cartridges were eluted with 2 mL anhydrous acetonitrile followed by evaporation to dryness under nitrogen.

4.3.4 Fluorescent labeling

The labeling procedure [13] was also slightly modified to increase the sensitivity of the assay. The dried plasma, tissue and standard samples were reconstituted with 136 μ L acetonitrile. An aliquot of 10 μ L of a freshly prepared NE-OTf solution (2 mg/mL in saturated potassium fluoride solution in anhydrous acetonitrile) was added to each tube along with 4 μ l of pure N, N-diiospropylethylamine as catalyst at 4° C and kept for 30 min in a desiccator for completion of the reaction. Subsequently, the reaction was terminated by drying of the samples under nitrogen. The samples, then, were reconstituted with 1 mL of 20% methanol to be loaded on a fresh set of pre-conditioned SPE cartridges. The cartridges were washed with 3 mL water followed by1 mL 30% methanol then dried under nitrogen to remove any moisture. The derivetized eicosanoids were eluted with 2 mL anhydrous acetonitrile, subsequently evaporated to dryness under nitrogen. The residue was reconstituted in 0.1 mL of 90% acetonitrile in water and 10 μ L was injected into the HPLC column.

4.3.5 HPLC System

A Shimadzu Prominence HPLC system (Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON, Canada) consisting of a DGU-20A5 degasser, a LC-20AT dual pump, a SIL-20A autosampler, a CTO-20AC column oven, a RF-10AxL fluorescence detector, and a CBM-20A communication module was used. Chromatographic separations were performed on C18 columns (2 columns of 100X 4.6 mm i.d., 3µm, connected as series) guarded with a security Guard Cartridge C18 (4.0 mm L x 3.0 mm i.d.) purchased from Phenomenex (Torrance, CA, USA). Simultaneous separation of ArA metabolites was performed using a gradient acetonitrile:water system. Mobile phases consisted of 0.05% formic acid in HPLC-grade water (A) and 0.05% of formic acid in acetonitrile (B) at an initial mixture of 45:55 A and B, respectively. Mobile phase B increased linearly from 55% to 65% over 40 min and remained plateau for 25 min. Then, in a linear gradient mode increased to 75% over 20 min and afterward to 95% over 10 min where it remained plateau for 22 min and dropped back to initial conditions (55%) with a 7 min pre-equilibration period prior to the next sample run. The run time of the sample was 124 min. The flow rate was 0.8 mL/min and the column oven temperature was set at 30° C. The detection was done at excitation and emission wavelengths of 260 and 396 nm, respectively. Data acquisition was carried out using Shimadzu Class VP 7.4 version software.

4.3.6 Validation

The method was validated for its specificity, linearity, and accuracy, precision, limits of detection (LOD), and limits of quantification (LOQ). Blank samples (derivatization reaction without any added ArA metabolites) and standard solutions (10 μ L) containing either each eicosanoid alone or in combination of all metabolites of interest were injected into the HPLC to test specificity by observing the lack of interfering peaks. Initially, we constructed calibration

curves with eicosanoid concentrations of 0.0005, 0.001, 0.005, 0.01, 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, 10 and 2.5 μ g/mL with the coefficient of variation (CV%) for the 0.0005 μ g/mL concentration being 19.3%. However, subsequently we realized that to analyze biological samples of interest, such low concentrations were not needed. Therefore, our working calibration curves were prepared by serial dilution of ethanolic mixture of ArA metabolites standard solutions to yield standard samples containing 0.01, 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, 10 and 2.5 μ g/mL of each compound. This range was broken down into two ranges of 0.01-1.0 and 0.5-2.5 µg/mL for better linearity on different analytes. The curves were constructed by plotting a metabolite/internal standard peak area ratio versus the given concentration of each metabolite. Three calibration curves were constructed the same day to determine intra-day variability. The assay was repeated on three different days to determine the inter-day variability. The accuracy was determined from % error = (mean observed concentration – added concentration) x100/ added concentration. The CV% was used to estimate the assay precision. The LOD was defined as the concentration that resulted in a higher than signal-to-noise ratio of 3:1. The LOQ was determined at the lowest concentration on the calibration curve for which the assay precision was lower than 20%.

4.3.7 Recovery and Stability

The recovery of ArA metabolites was determined by extracting known amounts of standard compounds from samples. They were then labeled with fluorescent dye and analyzed as described above. The peak responses were compared with that of standards without extraction. ArA metabolites stock solutions were kept in -20° C and protected from light all the time and all sample preparation process took place in a dimmed light exposure. Standard solutions, fluorescent labeling reagent and catalyzing solutions were freshly prepared.

The stability of ArA metabolites in biological samples during freeze-and-thaw cycles was examined by comparing their peak response after derivatization. Additionally, the stability of the underivetized ArA metabolites in the rat plasma and homogenated biological samples was investigated at 0 and 4 h storage time at room temperature (25° C). The derivatized ArA metabolites in final samples (dissolved in 90% acetonitrile in water) were stored in autosampler (at room temperature) waiting in line for maximum of 24 h to be analyzed. Their stability in sample vials during analysis was tested using standard solution of these compounds (0.1, 1.0 and 2.5 µg/mL or 1, 10, 25 ng on column). Samples were prepared and derivetized as mentioned before and analyzed at 0, 12 and 24 h after derivatization. The % accuracy and CV% were calculated.

4.3.8 Matrix effect

Matrix effect was assessed by subtracting the baseline peak areas observed for non-spiked from spiked biological samples with standard solutions, and comparing the values with those yielded by standard ethanolic solutions in the absence of matrixes. Triplicate solutions containing 0.1, 1.0 and 2.5 μ g/mL (1, 10, 25 ng on column) were used.

4.3.9 Application to human and rat biological specimens

The method was used to detect AA metabolites in the plasma, heart and kidney of the rat and in the human plasma

4.4 **Results**

The fluorescent labeling reaction and procedure was adapted from two previous studies (285,291). The application of two-step sample clean up and using labeling reagent dissolved in saturated potassium fluoride solution in anhydrous acetonitrile, that we added to the procedure,

improved the selectivity and sensitivity of the assay as compared with those reported previously(285,291). As depicted in Figure 4.2 and Figure 4.4, peaks of interest were adequately separated, however, due to the close chemical structures and chromatographic behaviors, those representing 16- and 17-HETE were co-eluted with a retention time of 68 min. The same was true for the peaks representing 8,9- and 5,6-EET with retention time of 98 min. Each of these two pairs of co-eluting metabolites possesses the same pharmacological properties, hence, a measurement of the sum is not without value. It has been observed that 5,6-EET is highly unstable (298). This parameter is calculated as the ratio of retention time of the peak of interest over that of internal standard. The relative retention times of the metabolites ranged from 0.68 to 1.43 with CV% of <4.3% for triplicate injections. The matching retention time and the increased response proportional to increasing concentration were used to confirm the identity of the peaks. The identity and characterization of peaks representing ArA metabolites have been addressed previously (285,291).



Figure 4.1. Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites

Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites in blank and two spiked standard solutions each containing a selected number of the compounds of interest; 1) 14,15-DHT, 2) 11,12-DHT, 3) 8,9- DHT, 4) 5,6- DHT, 5) 20-HETE, 6) 18-HETE, 7) 16-HETE, 8) 17-HETE, 9) Internal Standard, 10)15-HETE, 11)12-HETE, 12)14,15-EET, 13) 11,12-EET, 14) 8,9-EET and 15) 5,6-EET.



Figure 4.2. Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites in rat plasma, heart and kidney samples

Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites in rat plasma, heart and kidney samples the peak identifiers are same as Figure 4.1.

As has been reported by others (48,285,287,299), due to the presence of detectable basal concentrations of these metabolites, construction of standard curves using plasma or tissue matrices is impossible. However, as we have tested for the first time for the HPLC-FL approach, the differences in the detector response ranged from 1.5 to18.6% regardless of the biological samples used. This suggests that the use of non-spiked ethanolic solutions of the metabolites as standard solutions provide reliable results.

The assay was linear over the working concentration range of 0.01-2.5 μ g/mL which we break it to two shorter ranges of 0.01-1 and 0.5-2.5 μ g/mL (Figure 4.3) corresponding to 0.1-10 and 5-25 ng on column, respectively, based on the observed concentrations in the tested specimens. As depicted in Table 4.2, validation data were generated based on the above range. Nevertheless, based on our initial 0.0005-2.5 μ g/mL range calibration curves, depending on the eicosanoid of interest, LOD was 1-20 pg and LOQ ranged from 5 to 70 pg on column. We used 0.2 mL plasma but 30 mg of other tissues. Hence, the sensitivity of the assay was 0.5-7.0 ng/mL for plasma and 0.0016-0.023 ng/mg for tissues. The observed sensitivity made it possible to detect basal level of these metabolites in the human plasma and the rat plasma, heart and kidney tissues. The overall inter- and intra-day variations were less than 19.8% for the lowest concentration (0.01 μ g/mL) of the working standard solutions range. The accuracy ranged from 0.0 to 18.9% (Table 4.2).



Figure 4.3. Representative calibration curves

Calibration curves for 20-HETE generated by coupling derivatization reaction and LC-FL. The concentration of standard solution ranges form 0.01-1.0 and 0.5-2.5 μ g/mL.

Amount added (ng)a	0.1			1			10			25		
	Mean	CV%	%Accuracy									
Intra-day												
14,15-DHT	0.10	18.2	-2.0	1.0	14.0	-0.2	9.8	4.8	-1.9	25.3	1.9	1.2
11,12-DHT	0.11	14.2	12.7	1.0	19.0	1.2	9.0	9.9	-9.8	25.4	1.4	1.6
8,9-DHT	0.10	15.3	-2.8	1.1	15.9	5.2	9.1	10.1	-8.6	25.3	1.4	1.3
5,6-DHT	0.09	12.6	-12.2	1.0	19.6	-3.4	9.3	8.7	-6.6	25.3	1.4	1.0
20-HETE	0.09	3.0	-16.2	1.1	14.1	8.9	9.2	9.0	-8.5	25.3	0.9	1.3
18-HETE	0.09	19.3	-13.2	1.1	18.1	14.0	9.0	2.0	-10.1	25.5	10.6	2.0
16&17-HETE	0.09	15.7	-18.9	1.2	6.7	16.3	9.2	6.2	-7.7	25.3	10.6	1.2
15-HETE	0.10	18.6	4.3	1.2	12.6	15.1	9.2	2.3	-8.4	25.3	6.5	1.3
12-HETE	0.11	18.6	15.6	1.1	1.5	14.1	9.6	5.6	-3.9	25.2	4.8	0.9
14,15-EET	0.11	13.5	12.1	1.1	19.8	5.3	9.0	14.6	-10.2	25.3	1.7	1.3
11,12-EET	0.10	13.9	2.1	0.9	10.9	-6.6	9.5	5.4	-4.6	25.2	0.8	0.8
8,9 & 5,6-EET	0.09	15.3	-7.8	1.0	10.8	-0.4	9.9	7.8	-1.1	24.9	0.6	-0.3
Inter-day												
14,15-DHT	0.10	18.6	-4.0	0.9	12.4	-10.7	9.6	8.0	-3.7	25.5	3.0	1.9
11,12-DHT	0.11	18.3	10.0	0.9	6.0	-12.7	9.1	9.0	-9.4	25.5	2.2	2.1
8,9-DHT	0.09	17.0	-7.8	0.9	4.6	-13.8	9.0	12.0	-10.0	25.4	1.7	1.5
5,6-DHT	0.09	15.7	-5.2	0.8	15.0	-18.6	9.1	11.9	-8.7	25.3	1.6	1.3
20-HETE	0.08	11.5	-16.9	1.0	5.0	-2.8	9.0	9.7	-9.7	25.4	2.5	1.5
18-HETE	0.09	17.8	-10.7	1.1	17.2	12.0	9.8	8.0	-1.7	25.2	9.5	1.0
16&17-HETE	0.08	19.0	-17.8	1.1	7.8	14.3	9.4	7.2	-5.8	25.5	8.8	1.9
15-HETE	0.11	14.4	8.0	0.9	10.6	-6.2	9.6	4.3	-4.2	25.3	4.5	1.4
12-HETE	0.11	19.4	9.0	1.2	3.5	14.1	9.4	7.6	-5.6	25.4	5.8	1.5
14,15-EET	0.11	18.8	13.0	1.0	16.9	-3.6	9.0	18.2	-10.2	25.3	2.6	1.4
11,12-EET	0.09	22.0	-10.4	0.9	15.0	-14.9	9.6	7.2	-4.5	25.2	1.1	0.8
8,9 &5,6-EET	0.09	11.5	-8.0	1.0	13.0	0.0	10.0	6.1	0.3	25.0	0.9	0.0

Table 4.2 Precision (CV%) and accuracy of ArA metabolites analysis

Values are mean, n=3 experiments. a, amount injected to the LC column.

The percent recovery of ArA metabolites from plasma, heart and kidney samples in the low, medium and high concentration ranged from 89.8 to108.9% (Table 4.3). The examined ArA metabolites were found to be stable during freeze-and-thaw cycles and sample preparation process (CV% < 10%). ArA metabolites were stable in room temperature for the tested period of time (4 h). The fluorescence-labeled products of ArA metabolites were stable after derivatization and during the sample analysis. The CV% for accuracy and precision of derivetized metabolites after 24 h storage time at room temperature inside the auto-sampler were less than 5 and 10%, respectively.

Amount added (ng) ^a 1			10		25	
Compound	Mean	CV%	Mean	CV%	Mean	CV%
14,15-DHT	99.8	14.0	98.1	4.8	101.2	1.9
11,12-DHT	101.2	19.0	90.2	9.9	101.6	1.4
8,9-DHT	105.2	15.9	91.4	10.1	101.3	1.4
5,6-DHT	96.6	19.6	93.4	8.7	101.0	1.4
20- HETE	108.9	14.1	91.5	9.0	101.3	0.9
18-HETE	103.2	18.1	89.9	12.0	102.0	10.6
16 & 17-HETE	108.8	6.7	92.3	6.2	101.2	10.1
1 5- HETE	108.2	12.6	91.6	12.3	101.3	6.5
12-HETE	106.9	10.5	96.1	5.6	100.9	4.8
14,15-EET	105.3	19.8	89.8	14.6	101.3	1.7
11,12-EET	93.4	10.9	95.4	5.4	100.8	0.8
8,9 & 5,6-EET	99.6	10.8	99.0	7.8	99.7	0.6

Table 4.3 Percent recovery of ArA metabolites analytical standards from samples after solid phase extraction

Values are mean; n=3 experiments, ^a amount injected to the LC column.

4.4.1 Analysis of biological samples

The method was used to quantify ArA metabolites in the rat plasma, heart and kidney samples (Figure 4.2) and in human plasmas (Figure 4.4). Most of the metabolites such as 14,15-DHT, 11,12-DHT, 8,9-DHT, 5,6-DHT, 20-HETE, 18-HETE, 12-HETE, 15-HETE, 14,15-EET, 11,12-EET and 8,9-EET were quantifiable at their basal level in the rat plasma, heart and kidney and human plasma. The concentration of these ArA metabolites ranged from 1.5 to 58.9 ng/mL in the rat plasma. It ranged from 0.14 to 36.5 and 0.02 to7.9 ng/mg of tissue in the rat heart and kidney, respectively. In the plasma of the two healthy subjects the ArA metabolites concentration were 39.5-597 and 15.6-1651 ng/ml, respectively.

A comparison of the rat plasma, heart and kidney sample chromatograms revealed that the ArA metabolites concentrations were tissue dependent (Figure 4.2). There were some unidentified peaks unique to the heart samples (retention time range of 15-25 and 30-40 min) which needs to be further investigated. In addition, another unknown peak with the retention time of 47 min had much higher intensity in plasma than in other examined tissues. For the rest of the chromatogram, although the relative intensities of the peaks representing the basal level of the ArA metabolites were different, the overall profiles of the chromatograms were similar for all examined tissues. The major metabolite present at high concentration in all three biological matrixes was 11, 12-DHT.



Figure 4.4. Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites in human plasma

Representative chromatograms of ArA metabolites in human plasma samples from two individuals; the peak identifiers are same as Figure 4.1. .

4.5 Discussion

Under healthy conditions, ArA metabolites are present in plasma and tissues in low concentrations. They, however, are elevated in response to pathological stimulations. Herein, we present a facile, sensitive and selective assay suitable for real-time measurement of 10 ArA metabolites. Four other metabolites are also measurable but presented as two co-eluted pairs of peaks, each as sum of two structurally similar metabolites; i.e., 17 plus 16-HETE, and 8,9 plus 5,6-EETs. Since each pair of these co-eluted metabolites possesses the same pharmacological properties, a measurement of the sum is not without value. The co-elution of these metabolites is not clearly addressed in the previous LC-FL or LC-MS methods. For instance, Maier et al. (285) have referred to several of the HETE metabolites as "subterminal HETEs" and presented them as a cluster of peaks or just reported them as individual peaks but some with the same retention times. Yue et al. (291) included only one out of four co-eluting metabolites into their chromatogram of standard solution. Similarly, using the LC-MS methods, the peaks with equal mass are reported individually with very close retention times so that the differences in the retention times are often less than the width of the individual peaks (295). Therefore, the coelution of these metabolites seems to be a general issue with all the reported assays including LC-MS/MS using MRM (288,297).

The LOQ of the present method ranges from 5 to 70 pg on column, depending on the metabolite. Two of the reported LC-FL methods have comparable sensitivity to the present method. They, however, have not reported any evidence of selectivity of the assay as the authors did not present chromatograms containing biological samples (Table 4.1). We achieved a better selectivity by improving the labeling reaction condition and sample clean up procedures. For a lower than presented LOQ, it appears the LC-MS/MS methods is an alternative.

The sensitivity of the present method appears to be sufficient for the measurement of the basal levels of at least twelve out of fourteen tested metabolites including the co-eluted ones. Plasma concentrations depending on the metabolite were about 3-40 fold higher in the human compared with the rat. The lowest basal concentration was observed for 8,9-EET in rat plasma (1.5 ng/mL), heart (0.14 ng/mg) and kidney (0.02 ng/mg). In human plasma also 8,9-EET demonstrated the lowest concentration (39.5 ng/mL). These values are higher than the quantification limit of the method for all of the tested ArA metabolites.

The evaluation of real time concentrations of these ArA metabolites, and more importantly the ratio of cardioprotective vs. cardiotoxic ArA metabolites, are critical for understanding their physiopathological role in the body functions. Therefore, a direct measurement of these ArA metabolites in biological matrixes is essential. Additionally, despite the reported detection limit of about 1 pg per injection (Table 4.1), in our hand, the LC-MS method of Nithipatikom et al (287) as applied by others (69,289), demonstrated insufficient sensitivity and unacceptable reproducibility for simultaneous and direct determination of low basal concentration of ArA metabolites in biological tissues.

Recently, it has been reported that the process of freeze-thawing results in substantial increased concentration of ArA metabolites in the liver tissues as compared to fresh samples (297). The authors have attributed this change to de-esterification of ArA metabolites from cell membranes. Hence, unless, the biological samples are tested quickly after collection, the generated data does not present free ArA metabolites in tissues (297). In plasma, on the other hand, there is no evidence for esterified ArA metabolites. The instability of ArA metabolites in tissues introduces procedural complications. Alternatively, one can de-esterify the esters by various means including acidification (285,288,291,295), as we have, and measure the total

concentration of ArA metabolites in the samples. Indeed, Hammond and O'Donnell (300) have demonstrated that esterified ArA metabolites mediate biological properties in their own right, even more potent than the parent compounds. In the heart and kidney tissues, it seems that our approach yields the total rather non-esterified eicosanoid, since, we used acidified freeze-thawed samples, and under repeated freeze-thawing and storage, we did not detect significance changes in the concentrations. Hence, we suggest the use of plasma ArA metabolites as biomarkers of the cardiac condition when the status of ArA metabolism in deep tissues (e.g., heart and kidney) is investigated. To support this notion, and in agreement with earlier reports (33,301-307) regarding the therapeutic relevance of total tissue eicosanoid, we plotted ArA metabolites concentrations in homogenized heart tissue (total) versus those measured in plasma and noticed strong positive correlations (See chapter 5).

The present study is an optimization of two previously reported methods (285,291). We used the same derivatization approach but modified the reaction conditions to 1) increase the reaction yield by using saturated potassium fluoride in the reaction medium and 2) to eliminate the interfering unwanted peaks by doubling the solid phase extraction procedure. In addition, the use of gradient elution further improved our selectivity as compared with that reported by Yue et al. method (291) that, in our hands, yielded crowded chromatograms when applied to biological samples. Our modifications improved the LC-FL assay in terms of both sensitivity and selectivity.

The present study has few limitations. First, the LC-FL methods do not provide information on the molecular mass of the peaks of interest as LC-MS methods do. We relied only on the relative retention time, the proportional increase in the peak size by increasing the amount injected and the published information on the peak identification (285,291). Second, we

observed a few unidentified peaks that need to be further identified. Third, the present method has a longer run time as compared with LC-MS methods.

4.6 Conclusions

The advantage of the present LC-FL over the other methods is the relatively low cost of instrumentation, maintenance and operation and application for different tissues with improved selectivity and sufficient sensitivity for simultaneous assay of ArA metabolites.

Chapter 5

5 Association of the Renin-Angiotensin System Components and Arachidonic Acid Metabolites under Inflammatory Condition in the Rat with Adjuvant Arthritis

5.1 Introduction

There are several reports in the literature addressing the involvement of the RAS components as proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory modulators in the inflammatory conditions such as hypertension, atherosclerosis, stroke and kidney diseases (308-316). Similar accusations were also reported for ArA pathway (53,64,317-319). Additionally, some studies were reported the possible interaction between one or two components of the RAS and ArA pathways in some CV or renal disease (320-323) however, their focus were usually on one system rather than both. Hence, the mechanism of interaction between these two systems and their mutual role in modulation of body functions is not fully explored. RAS and ArA pathways consist of several biologically active components with opposing physiological functions, therefore, a better knowledge about their intra-system balances and inter-system interactions seems essential to explain the regulatory mechanism of these systems in the body, especially in CV and renal systems.

The role of angiotensin peptides and ArA metabolites in the pathogenesis of RA as an inflammatory condition is largely unknown. Therefore, a direct and *in vivo* study of several opposing members of these two systems is needed to get a better picture about their involvement in inflammation, which it could help to identify some of the components of these systems as reliable biomarkers in this setting. Using rat AA model, a well established animal model representing human RA, we demonstrate that there are significant changes in the plasma, heart and kidney concentration of ArA metabolites and the RAS components under inflammatory

conditions. In addition, we found a relationship between plasma and tissue concentration of these components. The aim of the current work is to correlate ArA metabolites and RAS component level in the plasma with their concentration in the heart and kidney in healthy and inflammatory states to introduce reliable biomarkers of CV risk. If these biomarkers could be extrapolated to the human, they will provide useful hints for planning future clinical trials in order to identify vulnerable individuals with RA at risk of CV events.

5.2 Hypothesis

Inflammation modulates ArA pathway and the RAS by altering their components levels locally and systemically in the body. These two pathways are interacting and influencing each other in healthy and disease states and their components are correlated with each other

5.3 **Objectives**

To determine the effect of AA on the plasma, heart and kidney concentration of ArA metabolites

To determine the effect of AA on the plasma, heart and kidney level the RAS components

To correlate the plasma, heart and kidney tissue level of the RAS components and ArA metabolites with each other.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 ArA metabolites concentration in the plasma, heart and kidney

Table 5.1 represents the plasma, heart, and kidney concentration of ArA metabolites in control and rat with arthritis. The results of the present study demonstrated that the animals with arthritis showed significant (p < 0.05) elevation of plasma concentrations of 18- and 20-HETE when compared to healthy control animals (Figure 5.1). The 12-HETE concentration was

comparable between the two groups. The total CYP-epoxygenase-derived EETs plasma concentration was similar between control and arthritic rats. Nevertheless, a significant (p < 0.05) increase in 14,15-EET concentration was observed in the INF group. There was no significant difference in observed total T-DHTs concentration between rats with AA and healthy animals; however, as an exception, the 14,15-DHT concentration was significantly (p < 0.05) higher in the INF group. The ratio of 20-HETE over total EETs (T-EETs) as a marker of vasoconstrictive/ vasodilator metabolites ratio was significantly (p < 0.05) higher in the INF group (Figure 5.1). Additionally, the sEH enzyme is responsible for hydroxylation of EETs to DHTs and ratio of DHTs/EETs, can be considered as an index of sEH enzyme activity. This index, 14,15-(DHT/EET), was highly significant (p < 0.01) for the conversion of 14,15-EET to14,15-DHT in INF group.

The heart tissues samples from rats with arthritis presented significantly (p < 0.05) higher concentrations of 20-HETE and 12-HETE when compared with control rats (Table 5.1, Figure 5.2). Although the 15-HETE and 18-HETE concentrations were higher in the INF group, they were not significantly different from control animals. Although there was no significant change in the heart EET and DHT concentrations between inflamed and control groups, the ratio of DHTs/T-EETs (as an indicator of sEH enzyme activity) was significantly (p < 0.05) higher in inflamed animals. In addition, inflammation resulted in a significant increase in the ratios of 20-HETE/T-EETs, 20-HETE/ 14,15-EET, 20-HETE/DHTs, 20-HETE/T-EETs+DHTs, and 14,15-(DHT/EET) The same result was observed for the ratio of 12-HETE over T-EETs, T-DHTs and 11,12-EET in inflamed animals.

The overall tissue concentrations of ArA metabolites in the kidney were lower than the heart samples. Moreover, the trends of their concentration changes were contrary to that of the plasma

and heart tissues (Table 5.1, Figure 5.3). A highly significant (p < 0.05) decline in 12, 15, 18, and 20-HETE concentrations were noticed in the kidney samples of the INF group. However, the individual or total EET concentration was not altered by inflammation and consequently, the ratio of 20-HETE/T-EET followed the same trend as the 20-HETE concentration between the two groups. In contrast to the plasma and heart, inflammation caused insignificant reduction in the activity of sEH in the kidney and as a result, the individual and T-DHTs concentrations were lower in inflamed animals. The ratio of kidney DHTs/EETs was comparable between two groups however, a significant difference was noted for 14,15-(DHT/EET) (Table 5.1).

Plasma ArA metabolites	Plasma (ng/mL)				Heart (ng/mg tissue)				Kidney (ng/mg tissue)			
	Contro	1	INF		Contro	1	INF		Contro	Control		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
14,15-DHT	12.71	0.88	40.35*	13.68	0.46	0.25	0.66	0.31	0.40	0.14	0.17	0.14
11,1 2-DH T	31.50	22.26	30.72	9.22	36.51	13.44	49.06	18.14	7.88	10.79	2.65	1.66
8,9-DHT	12.45	1.90	14.66	9.81	1.22	0.52	1.30	0.29	0.15	0.16	0.09	0.03
5,6-DHT	11.09	5.26	16.83	2.02	0.24	0.08	0.39	0.12	0.10	0.04	0.08	0.04
T-DHT	67.74	18.20	102.55	25.89	38.44	13.48	51.41	18.50	8.53	11.08	3.00	1.84
20-HETE	58.90	19.68	107.50*	9.59	0.30	0.13	0.73*	0.18	0.14	0.06	0.02*	0.00
18-HETE	13.62	1.76	35.16*	10.36	1.94	1.05	2.97	1.00	0.10	0.05	0.02*	0.02
15-HETE	9.43	2.84	17.78	5.86	0.52	0.14	0.78	0.27	0.27	0.10	0.14*	0.03
12-HETE	44.19	21.18	46.58	46.90	0.18	0.09	0.91*	0.17	0.30	0.16	0.02*	0.00
14,15-EET	3.91	0.08	1.44*	0.45	0.47	0.52	0.14	0.08	0.14	0.03	0.16	0.08
11,1 2-EET	19.50	1.75	19.48	6.24	3.25	0.90	3.51	0.66	0.16	0.08	0.11	0.03
8,9-EET	1.45	1.10	0.86	0.19	0.14	0.11	0.30	0.11	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.00
T-EET	24.86	2.92	21.78	6.50	3.98	1.06	3.95	1.15	0.31	0.11	0.29	0.10
DHTs+EETs	92.60	16.22	124.33	25.82	41.85	12.76	55.61	19.13	8.84	11.12	3.28	1.93
Ratio												
DHTs/EETs	2.79	0.98	5.01	2.14	8.56	2.61	13.86*	1.50	26.39	26.70	9.97	2.61
20-HETE/EETs	2.33	0.50	5.28*	1.73	0.06	0.05	0.15*	0.01	0.43	0.06	0.07*	0.02
20-HETE/DHTs	0.94	0.51	1.10	0.34	0.01	0.00	0.01*	0.00	0.05	0.06	0.01	0.00
20-HETE/EETs+DHTs	0.66	0.29	0.90	0.26	0.01	0.00	0.01*	0.00	0.04	0.05	0.01	0.00
20-HETE/14,15-EET	15.03	4.75	82.63*	37.13	1.12	0.78	5.58*	2.08	0.98	0.36	0.12*	0.05
20-HETE/11,12-EET	2.98	0.71	5.96	2.05	0.10	0.08	0.17	0.02	1.91	0.22	0.16*	0.09
20-HETE/8,9-EET	49.35	18.68	130.58*	37.90	2.93	2.34	2.26	0.79	9.99	3.34	1.21*	0.47
15-HETE/EETs	0.38	0.12	0.83	0.25	0.17	0.06	0.18	0.02	0.89	0.30	0.49	0.07
15-HETE/DHTs	0.15	0.07	0.19	0.10	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.09	0.12	0.05	0.02
15-HETE/EETs+DHTs	0.11	0.04	0.15	0.07	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.08	0.08	0.05	0.01
12-HETE/EETs	1.75	0.76	2.49	2.89	0.06	0.05	0.22*	0.02	0.92	0.21	0.06*	0.02
12-HETE/DHTs	0.73	0.46	0.41	0.33	0.01	0.00	0.02*	0.00	0.09	0.10	0.01	0.00
12-HETE/EETs+DHTs	0.51	0.29	0.34	0.30	0.00	0.00	0.02*	0.00	8.84	11.12	3.28	1.93
14,15-(DHT/ EET)	3.26	0.28	27.97**	1.64	1.93	1.56	5.41*	2.06	2.84	0.57	1.03*	0.74

Table 5.1 ArA metabolites concentration and their ratio in the plasma, heart and kidney of control and arthritic rats (n=3-4/group)

Significantly different from CL group, * p < 0.05, **p < 0.01



Figure 5.1. Effect of inflammation on the plasma concentration of ArA metabolites. The plasma concentration of 20-HETE, T-EETs and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF), *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) (n=3-4/group).


Figure 5.2. Effect of inflammation on the heart concentration of ArA metabolites. The heart concentration of 20-HETE, T-EETs and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF), *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) (n=3-4/group).



Figure 5.3. Effect of inflammation on the kidney concentration of ArA metabolites. The kidney concentration of 20-HETE, T-EETs and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF), *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) (n=3-4/group).

5.4.2 RAS component analysis

The effect of adjuvant arthritis on the heart and kidney ACE, ACE2 protein expression, and their ratio is presented in Figures 5.4 and 5.5. As previously reported by us (20), in both tissues ACE protein expression was not altered due to inflammation; however, ACE2 protein expression was significantly reduced in the INF group and consequently it influenced the ACE2/ACE ratio as well. Accordingly, angiotensin peptides, Ang II, Ang 1-7, and their ratios are also affected by inflammation (Figure 5.6 -5.8). In the plasma, the Ang II concentration was higher in the INF group; however, Ang 1-7 and Ang1-7/II were comparable between groups. In the heart, the same trend was observed for Ang II but the Ang 1-7 concentration and Ang 1-7/II were significantly lower in the INF group. Similarly, in the kidney the Ang II concentration was significantly elevated due to inflammation; however, for Ang 1-7 and the ratio of Ang 1-7/II the difference between groups failed to reach a significant level.



Figure 5.4. Effect of inflammation on ACE, ACE2 protein expression level and their ratio in the rat heart

The heart tissue ACE and ACE2 protein expression levels and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).



Figure 5.5. Effect of inflammation on ACE, ACE2 protein expression level and their ratio in the rat kidney The kidney tissue ACE and ACE2 protein expression levels and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).



Figure 5.6. Effect of inflammation on Ang peptides concentration in the rat plasma

The plasma concentration of Ang II, Ang 1-7 and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).



Figure 5.7. Effect of inflammation on Ang peptides concentration in the rat heart

The heart concentration of Ang II, Ang 1-7 and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).



Figure 5.8. Effect of inflammation on Ang peptides concentration in the rat kidney The kidney concentration of Ang II, Ang 1-7 and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).

Effect of inflammation on AT1R, AT2R, and Mas receptor protein expression and their ratios are presented in Figures 5.9 and 5.10. In the heart and kidney, AT1R receptor was over-expressed in the INF group. While AT2R receptor expression was significantly higher in the heart of the INF group, it did not reach a significant difference in the kidney tissue. For Mas receptor the trend was different between tissues, as it was significantly over-expressed in the kidney while it was down-regulated in the heart tissue of rats with AA (Figure 5.11 and 5.12). The ratio of Mas/AT1R was lower in both the heart and kidney of animals with AA then control group, but the difference was significant only on the heart tissue. The same trend was observed for Mas/AT2R in the heart but not for the kidney. The ratio of AT2R/AT1R in the heart was not significantly different between groups; however, in the kidney it was significantly lower in the INF group compared with control animals.



Figure 5.9. Effect of inflammation on Ang II receptor expression level in the rat heart The heart tissue expression level of AT1R, AT2R and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).



Figure 5.10. Effect of inflammation on Ang II receptor expression level in the rat kidney The kidney tissue expression level of AT1R, AT2R and their ratio in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).



Figure 5.11. Effect of inflammation on Mas receptor expression level in the rat heart The heart tissue expression level of Mas and its ratio with AT1R and AT2R in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).



Figure 5.12. Effect of inflammation on Mas receptor expression level in the rat kidney The kidney tissue expression level of Mas and its ratio with AT1R and AT2R in control (CL) and inflamed (INF); *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05), (n=3-4/ group).

5.5 The correlation between the plasma and heart and kidney ArA metabolites concentration

We observed correlation of some ArA metabolites concentration between plasma and heart and kidney (Table 5.2, Figure 5.13). For instance, 20-HETE concentration was correlated between plasma vs. heart (r = 0.9133, p < 0.05) and kidney (r = -0.9440, p < 0.01) (Table 5.2). However, some of the plasma ratios of DHTs/EETs, 20-HETE/EETs, 20-HETE/14,15-EET, 20-HETE/8,9-EET, and 14,15-(DHT/EET) were correlated with that of heart or kidney tissues (Table 5.2).

Plasma ArA metabolites	Heart		Kidney					
	r	р	r	р				
14,15-DHT	0.7163	0.109	-0.5371	0.272				
11,12-DHT	0.0685	0.896	-0.2308	0.660				
8,9-DHT	0.7552	0.083	0.1971	0.708				
5,6-DHT	0.1185	0.823	-0.3404	0.509				
T-DHT	0.6997	0.122	-0.3845	0.452				
20-HETE	0.9133	0.011	-0.9440	0.005				
18-HETE	0.5391	0.270	-0.4434	0.379				
15-HETE	0.4433	0.379	-0.7997	0.056				
12-HETE	0.2290	0.663	-0.1626	0.758				
14,15-EET	0.8043	0.058	-0.1790	0.734				
11,12-EET	0.3301	0.523	-0.4084	0.421				
8,9-EET	-0.4219	0.405	-0.8519	0.067				
T-EET	0.1352	0.799	-0.6692	0.146				
DHTs+EETs	0.6411	0.170	-0.4093	0.420				
DHTs/EETs	0.8290	0.041	-0.4315	0.393				
20-HETE/EETs	0.7830	0.066	-0.8546	0.030				
20-HETE/DHTs	0.1916	0.716	-0.5328	0.277				
20-HETE/EETs+DHTs	0.3596	0.484	-0.5604	0.247				
20-HETE/14,15-EET	0.9765	0.001	-0.7551	0.083				
20-HETE/11,12-EET	0.7678	0.075	-0.7379	0.094				
20-HETE/8,9-EET	0.0959	0.857	-0.8550	0.030				
15-HETE/EETs	0.2166	0.680	-0.7710	0.073				
15-HETE/DHTs	0.1601	0.762	-0.5126	0.299				
15-HETE/EETs+DHTs	0.1419	0.786	-0.4636	0.354				
12-HETE/EETs	0.2264	0.666	-0.2237	0.670				
12-HETE/DHTs	-0.5172	0.293	-0.3791	0.459				
12-HETE/EETs+DHTs	-0.4549	0.365	-0.3909	0.444				
14,15 (DHT/ EET)	0.7572	0.081	-0.8267	0.043				

Table 5.2 . Correlations of ArA metabolites and their ratios between plasma vs. the heart and kidney (N=6)

r; correlation coefficient, p; p-value. Significant correlations (p < 0.05)



Figure 5.13. Correlation between the plasma (ng/mL) and heart and kidney concentration (ng/mg tissue) of representative ArA metabolites. The relationship between two parameters was analyzed using the Pearson correlation.

5.6 The correlation between ArA metabolites concentration and RAS components

5.6.1 Plasma ArA metabolites vs. tissue Ang peptides

5.6.1.1 Plasma Ang peptides

We found correlations between some of plasma ArA metabolites and plasma Ang peptides (Table 5.3, Figure 5-14). 20-HETE (r = 0.8410, p < 0.05) and total DHT (r = 0.8411, p < 0.05) were positively correlated with Ang II. On the other hand, there was a negative correlation between 14,15-EET and Ang II (r = -0.8791, p < 0.05). As an indication of sEH activity, the ratio of DHTs/EETs was not significantly associated with Ang II. However, the ratio of individual 14,15-(DHT/EET) was correlated with Ang II (r = 0.9692, p < 0.01). We observed a negative correlation between plasma 14,15-EET (r = -0.8052, p < 0.05) and Ang 1-7. At the same time, positive correlations for 15-HETE (r = 0.9117, p < 0.05), 15-HETE/EETs (r = 0.9380, p < 0.01), and 15-HETE/EETs+DHTs (r = 0.8539, p < 0.05) with Ang 1-7 were achieved. The only significant correlation for Ang 1-7/II was observed with ratio of 15-HETE/DHTs (r = 0.9009, p < 0.05) and 15-HETE/EEts+DHTs (r = 0.8655, p < 0.05).

5.6.1.2 Heart Ang peptides

Correlations between plasma ArA metabolites and the heart Ang peptides are presented in Table 5.3, Figure 5-14. The heart Ang II was correlated with plasma 14,15-EET (r = -0.8721, p < 0.05),15-HETE/EETs (r = 0.8852, p < 0.05), and 14,15-(DHTs/EETs) (r = 0.8187, p < 0.05). In terms of the heart Ang 1-7, was not associated plasma ArA metabolites (Table 5.3) nevertheless, correlations were observed only with plasma 14,15-EET (r = 0.8981, p < 0.05) and the ratio of

14,15-(DHTs/EETs) (r = -0.8931, p < 0.05). The plasma 14,15-DHT, T-DHTs, 8,9-EET,15-HETE/EETs and 12-HETE/DHTs were not associated with Ang 1-7/II (p < 0.1), however, correlations were observed between plasma 14,15-EET (r = 0.8992, p < 0.05) and 14,15-(DHTs/EETs) (r = -0.8866, p < 0.05) with the heart Ang 1-7/II.

5.6.1.3 *Kidney Ang peptides*

The kidney tissue concentration of Ang II was (r > 0.82, p < 0.05) correlated with plasma 18-HETE, 14,15-EET, DHTs/EETs, 20-HETE/EETs, and 14,15-(DHT/EET). The kidney Ang 1-7 concentration was associated with 14,15-DHT (r = 0.9412, p < 0.01) and consequently, the ratio of the kidney Ang 1-7/II significantly (r = 0.8297, p < 0.05) correlated with total EETs, while was no association between Ang 1-7/II (r > 0.74, 0.05) and 8-HETE, 14,15-EET, 8,9-EET, 20-HETE/EETs, and 15-HETE/EETs (Table 5.3, Figure 5-14).

Plasma ArA	Pla	sma					Не	art					Kic	dney				
metabolites Ang II			Ang 1-	Ang 1-7			Ang II	[Ang 1-	-7	1-7 / II	[Ang II		Ang 1	-7	1-7 / II	
	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р
14,15-DHT	0.9693	0.001	0.4685	0.349	-0.2835	0.586	0.5877	0.220	-0.7675	0.0745	-0.7495	0.086	0.6532	0.156	0.9412	0.005	-0.4857	0.329
11,12-DHT	0.0544	0.9185	-0.4330	0.391	-0.6117	0.197	0.1758	0.739	-0.1763	0.738	-0.3165	0.541	-0.1218	0.818	-0.1243	0.815	-0.3994	0.433
8,9-DHT	0.4502	0.370	-0.1171	0.825	-0.4671	0.350	-0.0146	0.978	-0.0498	0.925	-0.1127	0.832	0.0888	0.867	0.7100	0.114	0.0276	0.959
5,6-DHT	0.5497	0.259	0.6574	0.156	0.2841	0.585	0.3074	0.553	-0.5561	0.252	-0.3131	0.546	0.3599	0.484	0.3713	0.469	-0.1378	0.795
T-DHT	0.8411	0.036	0.1428	0.787	-0.576	0.231	0.5173	0.293	-0.6888	0.130	-0.7276	0.101	0.6241	0.185	0.7546	0.083	-0.5441	0.264
20-HETE	0.8410	0.036	0.6583	0.155	0.0290	0.957	0.5740	0.234	-0.7794	0.068	-0.6237	0.186	0.6935	0.127	0.5896	0.218	-0.4881	0.326
18-HETE	0.9174	0.010	0.5904	0.217	-0.0793	0.881	0.7176	0.108	-0.6743	0.142	-0.7037	0.119	0.8943	0.016	0.7267	0.102	-0.7385	0.094
15-HETE	0.5515	0.257	0.9117	0.011	0.5849	0.223	0.7093	0.115	-0.6591	0.155	-0.6716	0.144	0.5002	0.313	0.5201	0.290	-0.4347	0.389
12-HETE	0.2772	0.595	-0.1128	0.832	-0.2804	0.591	-0.1252	0.813	0.2417	0.645	0.2106	0.689	0.1868	0.723	0.3692	0.471	-0.0266	0.960
14,15-EET	-0.8791	0.021	-0.8052	0.049	-0.1619	0.759	-0.8721	0.024	0.8981	0.015	0.8992	0.015	-0.8594	0.028	-0.6548	0.158	0.7574	0.081
11,12-EET	-0.0495	0.926	0.0626	0.906	0.0853	0.872	-0.2590	0.620	-0.131	0.805	0.0537	0.919	-0.5113	0.300	0.1869	0.723	0.5719	0.236
8,9-EET	-0.4413	0.381	-0.2371	0.651	0.1051	0.843	-0.7234	0.104	0.4148	0.414	0.7337	0.097	-0.6357	0.175	-0.4219	0.405	0.7724	0.072
T-EET	-0.3664	0.475	-0.2166	0.680	0.0431	0.936	-0.5884	0.219	0.2139	0.684	0.4230	0.403	-0.7854	0.064	-0.0974	0.854	0.8297	0.041
DHTs + EETs	0.8277	0.042	0.1118	0.833	-0.6055	0.203	0.4418	0.380	-0.6938	0.126	-0.6964	0.124	0.5190	0.292	0.7854	0.064	-0.4256	0.400
DHTs / EETs	0.7739	0.071	0.1703	0.747	-0.4628	0.355	0.5618	0.246	-0.5400	0.269	-0.6313	0.179	0.7745	0.071	0.5963	0.212	-0.7027	0.120
20-HETE/EETs	0.8017	0.055	0.5779	0.230	-0.0146	0.978	0.6799	0.137	-0.6644	0.150	-0.6403	0.171	0.8734	0.023	0.4967	0.316	-0.7381	0.098
20-HETE/14,15-EET	0.6764	0.140	0.7992	0.056	0.3252	0.529	0.8069	0.052	-0.7652	0.076	-0.7474	0.088	0.8136	0.049	0.3652	0.477	-0.7372	0.095
20-HETE/11,12-EET	0.7647	0.077	0.5184	0.292	-0.0487	0.927	0.6102	0.198	-0.6036	0.205	-0.5651	0.243	0.8354	0.038	0.4572	0.362	-0.6847	0.134
20-HETE/8,9-EET	0.9257	0.008	0.4695	0.348	-0.2474	0.636	0.7609	0.079	-0.7423	0.091	-0.8196	0.046	0.8989	0.016	0.7425	0.091	-0.7982	0.057
20-HETE/DHTs	0.0603	0.910	0.4224	0.404	0.4348	0.389	-0.209	0.969	-0.1358	0.798	0.1229	0.817	0.0485	0.927	-0.1360	0.797	0.1136	0.830
20-HETE/EETs+DHT	0.3013	0.562	0.5875	0.220	0.4150	0.413	0.25845	0.621	-0.3668	0.475	-0.158	0.765	0.3396	0.510	0.0324	0.952	-0.1793	0.734
15-HETE/EETs	0.6193	0.190	0.9380	0.006	0.5651	0.243	0.8852	0.019	-0.6652	0.149	-0.7488	0.087	0.7997	0.056	0.4300	0.395	-0.7547	0.083
15-HETE/DHTs	0.0236	0.965	0.7709	0.073	0.9009	0.014	0.3648	0.477	-0.1467	0.782	-0.1550	0.769	0.1631	0.756	0.0253	0.962	-0.1386	0.793
15-HETE/EETs+DHT	0.1682	0.750	0.8539	0.031	0.8655	0.026	0.5331	0.276	-0.3016	0.561	-0.3382	0.512	0.3321	0.520	0.1223	0.818	-0.3146	0.544
12-HETE/EETs	0.4381	0.385	-0.0288	0.957	-0.3324	0.520	0.0827	0.876	0.0586	0.912	-0.0149	0.978	0.4005	0.431	0.4596	0.359	-0.2594	0.620
12-HETE/DHTs	-0.3054	0.556	-0.2547	0.626	0.0637	0.905	-0.5666	0.241	0.709	0.114	0.7482	0.087	-0.3452	0.503	-0.1150	0.828	0.4697	0.347
12-HETE/EETs+DHT	-0.1459	0.783	-0.2112	0.688	-0.0158	0.976	-0.4339	0.390	0.6181	0.191	0.6134	0.195	-0.1744	0.741	0.0284	0.957	0.3072	0.554
14,15-(DHT/EET)	0.9692	0.001	0.7330	0.098	0.0111	0.983	0.8187	0.046	-0.8931	0.017	-0.8866	0.019	0.8484	0.033	0.7971	0.058	-0.7106	0.114

Table 5.3 Correlations of plasma ArA metabolites and their ratio vs. the plasma, heart and kidney angiotensin peptides (N=6)

r; correlation coefficient, p; p-value, significant correlations (p < 0.05).



Figure 5.14. Correlation between the plasma representative ArA metabolites and the plasma, heart and kidney Ang peptides concentration. The relationship between two parameters was analyzed using the Pearson correlation.

5.6.2 Plasma ArA metabolites vs. the heart RAS components

The correlations between plasma ArA metabolites and the heart RAS enzyme and receptor expression are presented in Table 5.4 and Figure 5.15. Some major ArA metabolites were positively or negatively correlated with different RAS components. For instance, plasma 20-HETE was negatively correlated with ACE2 (r = -0.7978, p = 0.057), Mas/AT1R (r = -0.8617, p < 0.05) and Mas/AT2R (r = -0.8816, p < 0.05) and positively correlated with AT1R (r = 0.9354 p < 0.01) and AT2R (r = 0.9196, p < 0.01) receptor expression in the heart. The same correlation pattern was observed for 18-HETE vs. ACE2 (r = -0.8681, p < 0.05, Mas/AT1R (r = -0.8860, p < 0.05) and Mas/AT2R (r = -0.8581, p < 0.05), AT1R (r = 0.9659, p < 0.05), and AT2R (r = 0.9040, p < 0.05). Plasma 14,15-DHT was correlated with all except ACE protein expression in the heart. From the family of EETs only 14,15-EET was negatively correlated with AT1R (r = -0.9188, p < 0.05) and AT2R (r = -0.8408, p < 0.05) and positively with ACE2 (r = 0.9469, p < 0.01), Mas/AT1R (r = 0.9165, p < 0.01), and Mas/AT2R (r = 0.8720, p < 0.05). Plasma 20-HETE/EETs was significantly correlated with AT1R (r = 0.9434 p < 0.05) and AT2R (r = 0.8242, p < 0.05) receptor expression. There were significant associations between 14,15- (DHT/EET) vs. ACE2 (r = -0.9830, p < 0.001), AT1R (r = 0.9634, p < 0.01), AT2R (r = 0.9355, p < 0.01), Mas/AT1R (r = -0.9723, p < 0.01), and Mas/AT2R (r = -0.9472, p < 0.01) (Table 5.4, Figure 5.15).

Plasma ArA	ACE		ACE2		ACE2/ACE		AT1R		AT2	AT2R/AT1R			Mas	Mas/AT1		IR Mas		s/AT2	
metabolites	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	
14,15-DHT	-0.3536	0.492	-0.8931	0.017	-0.7481	0.087	0.8548	0.030	0.9371	0.006	0.7341	0.097	-0.8477	0.033	-0.9065	0.013	-0.9214	0.009	
11,12-DHT	-0.3551	0.490	-0.0539	0.919	0.2923	0.574	0.0646	0.903	-0.0731	0.891	-0.3540	0.491	0.2901	0.577	0.1560	0.768	0.2349	0.654	
8,9-DHT	0.3264	0.528	-0.2890	0.579	-0.6062	0.202	0.2227	0.672	0.4100	0.420	0.5114	0.300	-0.4580	0.361	-0.3436	0.505	-0.3914	0.443	
5,6-DHT	-0.2839	0.586	-0.5252	0.285	-0.4175	0.410	0.6573	0.156	0.6903	0.129	0.4932	0.320	-0.5231	0.287	-0.6582	0.155	-0.7154	0.110	
T-DHT	-0.3919	0.442	-0.7510	0.085	-0.5239	0.286	0.7400	0.093	0.7652	0.076	0.4719	0.345	-0.5716	0.236	-0.6793	0.138	-0.6661	0.149	
20-HETE	-0.4331	0.391	-0.7978	0.057	-0.5878	0.220	0.9354	0.006	0.9169	0.010	0.4828	0.332	-0.6580	0.155	-0.8617	0.027	-0.8816	0.020	
18-HETE	-0.2649	0.612	-0.8681	0.025	-0.7879	0.063	0.9659	0.002	0.9040	0.013	0.3155	0.542	-0.7101	0.114	-0.8860	0.019	-0.8581	0.029	
15-HETE	-0.5574	0.251	-0.7103	0.114	-0.3896	0.445	0.5174	0.293	0.5083	0.303	0.5484	0.260	-0.7608	0.079	-0.7203	0.106	-0.6891	0.130	
12-HETE	0.6708	0.145	-0.0767	0.885	-0.6514	0.161	0.2664	0.610	0.3323	0.520	0.0017	0.997	-0.1740	0.742	-0.2064	0.695	-0.2476	0.636	
14,15-EET	0.6649	0.150	0.9469	0.004	0.5530	0.255	-0.9188	0.010	-0.8408	0.036	-0.4512	0.369	0.7731	0.071	0.9165	0.010	0.8720	0.024	
11,12-EET	-0.1726	0.744	0.0365	0.945	0.1498	0.777	-0.2411	0.645	-0.0046	0.993	0.7210	0.106	-0.2278	0.664	-0.0282	0.958	-0.1205	0.820	
8,9-EET	0.4269	0.399	0.5567	0.251	0.2484	0.635	-0.3369	0.514	-0.2143	0.684	0.0019	0.997	0.3838	0.453	0.3680	0.473	0.2433	0.642	
T-EET	0.1133	0.831	0.3935	0.440	0.3268	0.527	-0.5241	0.286	-0.2803	0.591	0.4845	0.330	0.0905	0.865	0.1876	0.722	0.1562	0.768	
DHTs + EETs	-0.3963	0.437	-0.7267	0.102	-0.4973	0.316	0.6908	0.129	0.7629	0.078	0.5923	0.215	-0.5919	0.216	-0.6678	0.147	-0.6745	0.142	
DHTs / EETs	-0.2295	0.666	-0.6858	0.133	-0.5804	0.227	0.7831	0.066	0.7100	0.066	0.1285	0.808	-0.4423	0.380	-0.6244	0.185	-0.5817	0.226	
20-HETE/EETs	-0.3414	0.508	-0.7708	0.073	-0.6114	0.197	0.9434	0.005	0.8242	0.044	0.1424	0.788	-0.5346	0.275	-0.7829	0.066	-0.7507	0.086	
20-HETE/14,15-EET	-0.6270	0.183	-0.7746	0.071	-0.3857	0.450	0.8190	0.046	0.6704	0.145	0.1812	0.731	-0.5561	0.252	-0.7498	0.086	-0.6934	0.127	
20-HETE/11,12-EET	-0.2690	0.606	-0.7127	0.112	-0.6047	0.204	0.9191	0.010	0.8033	0.054	0.1010	0.849	-0.4790	0.336	-0.7376	0.094	-0.7131	0.112	
20-HETE/8,9-EET	-0.4047	0.426	-0.8906	0.017	-0.6823	0.135	0.9256	0.008	0.8580	0.029	0.3217	0.534	-0.6775	0.139	-0.8409	0.036	-0.7944	0.059	
20-HETE/DHTs	-0.0383	0.943	-0.0534	0.920	-0.0742	0.889	0.2636	0.614	0.2450	0.640	0.0696	0.896	-0.0646	0.903	-0.2029	0.700	-0.2595	0.620	
20-HETE/ET+DT	-0.2217	0.673	-0.3160	0.542	-0.2185	0.678	0.5147	0.296	0.4470	0.374	0.1038	0.845	-0.2398	0.647	-0.4272	0.398	-0.4530	0.367	
15-HETE/EETs	-0.5416	0.267	-0.7782	0.068	-0.4652	0.353	0.7011	0.121	0.5627	0.245	0.2062	0.695	-0.6722	0.144	-0.7559	0.082	-0.6782	0.139	
15-HETE/DHTs	-0.1863	0.724	-0.2103	0.689	-0.1276	0.810	0.0837	0.875	0.0355	0.947	0.1311	0.804	-0.4557	0.364	-0.2755	0.597	-0.2481	0.636	
15-HETE/ET+DTs	-0.3250	0.530	-0.3693	0.471	-0.1904	0.718	0.2306	0.660	0.1531	0.772	0.1578	0.765	-0.4488	0.372	-0.4034	0.428	-0.3568	0.488	
12-HETE/EETs	0.4913	0.322	-0.2591	0.620	-0.7035	0.119	0.4377	0.385	0.4557	0.364	-0.0048	0.993	-0.2635	0.614	-0.3416	0.508	-0.3542	0.491	
12-HETE/DHTs	0.9454	0.004	0.4636	0.354	-0.2727	0.601	-0.2792	0.592	-0.1821	0.730	-0.2020	0.701	0.2028	0.700	0.2687	0.607	0.1958	0.710	
12-HETE/ET+DTs	0.9233	0.009	0.3170	0.540	-0.4180	0.410	-0.1297	0.807	-0.4800	0.928	-0.1814	0.731	0.0934	0.860	0.1373	0.795	0.0785	0.883	
14,15-(DHT/EET)	0.5673	0.240	-0.9830	0.000	-0.6763	0.140	0.9634	0.002	0.9355	0.006	0.5645	0.243	-0.8439	0.035	-0.9723	0.001	-0.9472	0.004	

Table 5.4 Correlations of plasma ArA metabolites and their ratio vs. the heart RAS components and their ratio (N=6)

+r; correlation coefficient, p; p-value. Significant correlations are in , (p < 0.05)



Figure 5.15. Correlation between the plasma representative ArA metabolites and the heart RAS components expression level. The relationship between two parameters was analyzed using the Pearson correlation.

5.6.3 Plasma ArA metabolites vs. the kidney RAS components

The correlation between plasma ArA metabolites and the kidney RAS enzyme and receptor expression is presented in Table 5.5 and Figure 5-16. Plasma 20-HETE was negatively correlated with ACE2/ACE (r = -0.8617, p < 0.05) and AT2R/AT1R (r = -0.8830, p < 0.01); however, it was positively correlated with AT1R (r = 0.8392, p < 0.05) receptor expression in the kidney. Plasma 14,15-EET followed an opposite pattern to plasma 20-HETE, as it was positively correlated with the kidney ACE2 (r = 0.9105, p < 0.05), ACE2/ACE (r = 0.8946, p < 0.05), AT2R/AT1R (r = 0.9240, p < 0.01), and Mas/AT1R (r = 0.9412, p < 0.01) and negatively correlated with AT1R (r = -0.8908, p < 0.05) and Mas/AT1R (r = -0.8342, p < 0.05). Plasma 14,15-DHT was negatively associated with the kidney ACE2/ACE (r = -0.8232, p < 0.05), AT2R/AT1R (r = -0.8908, p < 0.05) and Mas (r = -0.8232, p < 0.05), AT2R/AT1R (r = -0.8383, p < 0.05) and positively with AT1R (r = -0.9182, p < 0.05) and Mas (r = 0.8649, p < 0.05), and Mas/AT1R (r = -0.8383, p < 0.05) and positively with AT1R (r = -0.9182, p < 0.05) and Mas (r = 0.8650, p < 0.05). From the list of different ratios of plasma ArA metabolites, several of them were presented significant associations with the kidney RAS components, namely DHTs/EETs vs. Mas/AT2R (r = 0.8216, p < 0.05) and 20-HETE/EETs vs. AT2R/AT1R (r = -0.8968, p < 0.05) and 15-HETE/EETs vs. Mas/AT1R (r = -0.8310, p < 0.05). The ratio of plasma 14,15-(DHT/EET) was also associated with all but the kidney ACE and AT2R protein expression.

Plasma ArA metabolites	ACE		ACE2		ACE2/ACE		AT1R		AT2		AT2R/AT1R			Mas/AT1R			Mas/AT2	
	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р
14,15-DHT	0.6394	0.172	-0.7289	0.100	-0.8232	0.044	0.9182	0.010	0.2179	0.678	-0.8649	0.026	0.8650	0.026	-0.8383	0.037	0.7001	0.121
11,12-DHT	-0.2749	0.598	-0.2450	0.640	-0.0668	0.900	-0.2003	0.704	-0.6919	0.128	0.0398	0.940	0.0763	0.886	-0.0137	0.980	0.6742	0.142
8,9-DHT	0.3512	0.495	-0.0692	0.896	-0.1283	0.809	0.3710	0.469	0.0768	0.885	-0.2850	0.584	0.3190	0.538	-0.2441	0.641	0.3381	0.512
5,6-DHT	0.6892	0.130	-0.3571	0.487	-0.6599	0.154	0.6684	0.147	0.4319	0.392	-0.6237	0.186	0.4312	0.393	-0.5082	0.303	0.0488	0.927
T-DHT	0.4522	0.368	-0.6727	0.143	-0.6997	0.122	0.6703	0.145	-0.1548	0.774	-0.6975	0.123	0.7364	0.095	-0.6808	0.137	0.9007	0.014
20-HETE	0.7007	0.121	-0.6309	0.179	-0.8617	0.027	0.8392	0.037	0.1564	0.767	-0.8830	0.020	0.6486	0.164	-0.7665	0.075	0.5185	0.292
18-HETE	0.4664	0.351	-0.6749	0.141	-0.7351	0.096	0.8193	0.046	-0.1435	0.786	-0.9642	0.002	0.6295	0.181	0.8601	0.028	0.7850	0.064
15-HETE	0.1992	0.705	-0.7353	0.096	-0.6330	0.177	0.7481	0.087	0.6866	0.132	-0.6162	0.193	0.7193	0.107	-0.7405	0.092	0.0328	0.951
12-HETE	0.2818	0.589	0.2644	0.613	0.1008	0.849	0.1458	0.783	-0.3659	0.476	-0.2922	0.574	-0.1599	0.762	-0.0778	0.884	0.2872	0.581
14,15-EET	-0.4007	0.431	0.9105	0.012	0.8946	0.016	-0.8905	0.017	-0.1989	0.706	0.9240	0.008	-0.8342	0.039	0.9412	0.005	-0.6167	0.192
11,12-EET	0.3402	0.509	-0.0091	0.986	-0.1437	0.786	0.1729	0.743	0.9123	0.011	0.2074	0.693	0.3032	0.559	0.0875	0.869	-0.5335	0.276
8,9-EET	0.3513	0.495	0.6960	0.125	0.2889	0.579	-0.3249	0.530	0.2307	0.660	0.4085	0.421	-0.5267	0.283	0.5769	0.231	-0.6828	0.135
T-EET	0.2313	0.659	0.3667	0.475	0.1817	0.731	-0.1614	0.760	0.7570	0.084	0.5085	0.303	-0.0670	0.900	0.4385	0.384	-0.7421	0.091
DHTs + EETs	0.5244	0.286	-0.6483	0.164	-0.7114	0.113	0.6839	0.134	-0.0214	0.968	-0.6485	0.164	0.7718	0.072	-0.6437	0.168	0.8216	0.045
DHTs / EETs	0.3005	0.563	-0.5635	0.244	-0.5625	0.245	0.5528	0.255	-0.4722	0.344	-0.7388	0.093	0.5025	0.310	-0.6823	0.160	0.9632	0.002
20-HETE/EETs	0.4361	0.387	-0.6179	0.191	-0.7187	0.108	0.7018	0.120	-0.2412	0.645	-0.8968	0.015	0.5027	0.310	-0.7669	0.075	0.7308	0.099
20-HETE/14,15-EET	0.2666	0.610	-0.7674	0.075	-0.7559	0.082	0.6982	0.123	0.0739	0.889	-0.8037	0.054	0.5985	0.210	-0.7928	0.060	0.4796	0.336
20-HETE/11,12-EET	0.4514	0.369	-0.5385	0.270	-0.6707	0.145	0.6522	0.161	-0.2947	0.571	-0.8629	0.027	0.4297	0.395	-0.7071	0.116	0.7163	0.109
20-HETE/8,9-EET	0.3795	0.458	-0.7777	0.069	-0.7594	0.080	0.7843	0.065	-0.2055	0.696	0.6196	0.186	-0.9124	0.011	-0.8664	0.026	0.9191	0.010
20-HETE/DHTs	0.4118	0.417	0.0709	0.894	-0.2330	0.657	0.1941	0.712	0.2556	0.625	-0.2125	0.686	-0.0739	0.889	-0.0666	0.900	-0.3023	0.560
20-HETE/ET+DT	0.4329	0.391	-0.2003	0.704	-0.4463	0.375	0.3968	0.436	0.1777	0.736	-0.4639	0.354	0.1396	0.792	-0.3306	0.522	-0.0307	0.954
15-HETE/EETs	0.783	0.883	-0.7854	0.064	-0.6378	0.173	0.7110	0.113	0.2488	0.635	-0.7720	0.072	0.6125	0.196	-0.8310	0.040	0.3222	0.534
15-HETE/DHTs	-0.1046	0.844	-0.2388	0.649	-0.1306	0.805	0.2826	0.587	0.5093	0.302	-0.2034	0.699	0.1564	0.767	-0.2915	0.575	-0.4576	0.362
15-HETE/ET+DTs	-0.0924	0.862	-0.4153	0.413	-0.2698	0.605	0.4003	0.432	0.5580	0.250	-0.3455	0.502	0.2986	0.565	-0.4476	0.374	-0.2818	0.589
12-HETE/EETs	0.2675	0.608	0.0494	0.926	-0.0571	0.915	0.2644	0.613	-0.4638	0.354	-0.4533	0.367	-0.0026	0.996	-0.2577	0.622	0.5183	0.292
12-HETE/DHTs	0.0636	0.905	0.7595	0.080	0.5645	0.243	-0.2994	0.564	-0.1482	0.779	0.2294	0.662	-0.6352	0.175	0.4298	0.395	-0.3966	0.436
12-HETE/ET+DTs	0.0888	0.867	0.6396	0.171	0.4721	0.344	-0.1849	0.726	-0.2463	0.638	0.0753	0.887	-0.5309	0.279	0.2848	0.584	-0.1964	0.709
14,15-(DHT/EET)	0.5178	0.293	-0.8855	0.019	-0.9165	0.010	0.9536	0.003	0.1940	0.713	-0.9698	0.001	0.8784	0.021	-0.9608	0.002	0.6919	0.128

Table 5.5 Correlations of plasma ArA metabolites and their ratio vs. the kidney RAS components and their ratio (N=6)

+r; correlation coefficient, p; p-value. Significant correlations are in , (p < 0.05)



Figure 5.16. Correlation between the plasma representative ArA metabolites and the kidney RAS components expression level. The relationship between two parameters was analyzed using the Pearson correlation.

5.7 Discussion

The present study is the first detailed examination of the effect of inflammation on circulating and tissue levels of ArA metabolites and the RAS components in peptide and receptor levels. The results indicates that: 1) Inflammation alters the ArA and RAS pathways, which consequently changes the balance between anti-inflammatory and proinflammatory ArA metabolites, Ang peptides, and their receptors in adjuvant arthritis (Table 5.1, Figure 5.4 through 5.12). 2) In rats with AA, heart and kidney concentrations of ArA metabolites were associated with plasma concentrations (Table 5.2). 3) Plasma, heart and kidney concentrations of Ang peptides were correlated with plasma concentration of ArA metabolites (Table 5.3). 4) Heart and kidney tissue expression level of the RAS components; i.e. ACE, ACE2, AT1R, AT2R and Mas are associated with plasma concentration of ArA metabolites (Table 5.4 and 5.5).

The present data indicate that the tissue concentrations of key ArA metabolites and Ang peptides, particularly the CV and renal active components, can be predicted from their plasma concentrations. This observation suggests that the use of blood is a useful surrogate biological sample for detecting changes in ArA metabolites and Ang peptides and their receptors concentrations in deep tissues such as heart and kidney. These data were obtained in control rats and ones with arthritis. It is important to note that some of the demonstrated correlations were based on clustered data points which were due to the substantial differences in the value of tested parameters between two groups.

No previous study has examined *in vivo* effect of adjuvant arthritis on ArA metabolites or peptide and reporter level of the RAS. Adjuvant arthritis reduced the ACE2 level and ACE2/ACE ratio in rat heart (20). LPS induced inflammation in rat altered the expression of CYP enzyme and ArA metabolites profiles (32,69). Taking together with the previous studies,

the present study suggest that inflammation has effects on both ArA and RAS pathway which could be translate into changes on blood pressure and cardiac and renal functions which are mainly regulated with these two systems. Assuming that these observations can be extrapolated to humans, we might speculate that concentration profiles of ArA metabolites and Ang peptides from a single blood sample could be used as biomarkers for CV risks in individuals with inflammatory conditions such as RA. Indeed, this hypothesis has to be tested in human clinical trials.

The discovery of ACE2 and Ang 1-7 in the last decade has contributed to the realization that RAS consists of two opposing arms: the pressor and vasoconstrictive arm composed of ACE/Ang II/ and AT1R mediating the proliferative, profibrotic, and prothrombotic actions of Ang II; and the vasorelaxant arm comprised of ACE2/Ang 1-7 and Mas receptor that expresses opposing effects of the other arm by vasodilation, antiproliferation, and antithrombotic actions of Ang 1-7. The modulation of these two arms of RAS is essential for maintaining the cardioprotective-cardiotoxic balance and consequently the CV homeostasis (324). ACE and ACE2 in the RAS are important as they are involved in the metabolism of Ang to two physiologically important peptides, the proinflammatory/cardiotoxic, Ang II and the vasodilator/cardioprotective, Ang 1-7, respectively (24). A change in the concentration of these enzymes per se, as previously reported by us (20), however, does not necessarily mean a corresponding alteration on the concentration of their physiologically active products, thereby, a physiological outcome may stays same, because the concentration of product may remain unaffected. The present data (Figure 5.4 and 5.5) confirms the previous observation (20) and suggest, for the first time, that inflammation, indeed, causes significant increases in the Ang II concentrations in all of the examined tissues with corresponding significant decreases in the

cardiac Ang 1-7 (Figure 5.6 through 5.8); i.e., a potential CV risk. This is consistent with the well-known effect of inflammatory conditions on the cardiac function (76,77). Inflammation was not able to alter the expression of ACE at the heart and kidney tissue concentrations (Figure 5.4) (20); however the product of ACE, i.e., Ang II, was elevated in the plasma as well as in the heart and kidney tissues (Figure 5.6). This may contribute to the activity of Chymase as an ACE independent pathway for production of Ang II. Chymase was not detectable in the rat heart. However, its concentration was elevated in the kidney tissue due to inflammation (data not shown). On the other hand, inflammation reduced the ACE2 protein expression in the heart and kidney tissues and consequently lowered the ACE2/ACE ratio as well (Figure 5.4) (20). Therefore, the heart concentration of Ang 1-7 was reduced as was expected from the down regulation of ACE2 protein (Table 5.3). However, Ang 1-7 concentration was not different in the plasma and kidney between INF and CL groups. The similar concentration of Ang 1-7 in animals with AA, despite the low expression of ACE2 enzyme in their tissues, could be partly due to the involvement of other pathways in Ang 1-7 production also influenced by inflammation. For instance, as an ACE independent producer of Ang1-7, neutral endopeptidase protein expression was down-regulated in the kidney but not affected in the heart due to inflammation (data not shown). The overall outcome of these changes translates to lower concentration of vasorelaxant and cardioprotective peptide; i.e., Ang1-7 in the body.

In addition, in this study we report another novel observation that inflammation also alters the target protein concentrations of three physiologically important receptors; i.e., AT1R, AT2R and Mas (Figure 5.9-5.12). The Mas receptor mediates the anti-inflammatory effects of Ang 1-7 and counteracts Ang II proinflammatory actions imposed through the AT1R receptor. Activation of Mas by binding to Ang 1-7 has an inhibitory effect on the downstream cascade of AT1R receptor

(325). Based on our observation. Mas receptor expression was tissue-dependent as it was reduced in the heart and increased in the kidney tissues (Figure 5.11 and 5.12). This is accompanied by increased concentrations of cardiac and renal AT1R and AT2R expressions (Figure 5.9 and 5.10). These changes are also reflected in the protective/toxic ratios of the measure metrics (Figure 5.9-5.12). AT2R is mainly expressed in fetal tissues and hardly measurable in the adult heart (326). Ang II by binding to AT2R exerts counter-regulatory actions to AT1R. The expression of AT2R is increased in inflammatory conditions such as hypertension (327). The results of the current study indicate that a reduced expression of ACE2 and consequently higher Ang II and lower Ang 1-7 due to inflammation disrupt the cardioprotectivecardiotoxic balance of RAS. Additionally, over-expression of AT1R in the heart and kidney tissues along with increased Ang II in the plasma, heart, and kidney could shift the balance even more toward cardiotoxicity. Consistent with previous reports (118,325,327,328), we observed that Ang II, AT1R, and AT2R expression increases in both the heart and kidney of animals with AA. The increased expression of AT2R could be considered as the body's compensatory mechanism in order to modulate inflammation. Supporting this hypothesis, the stimulation of AT2R using agonist have induced vasodilation and inhibited inflammation, proliferation and remodeling (329,330). Altogether, the altered levels of ACE, ACE2, AT1R, AT2R, and Mas (i.e., the RAS pathway) observed here may explain, at least in part, the cardiotoxicity that is caused by inflammation.

The altered RAS pathway was accompanied by an altered ArA metabolism pathway. Among the tested metabolites, a few were affected by inflammation (Table 5.1). The most commonly studied ones were the vasoconstrictor 20-HETE and the vasodilator 14,15-EET. Inflammation significantly influenced 20-HETE concentrations that were reflected in increases in the plasma

and heart but decreases in the kidney (Table 5.1). Inflammation due to AA decreased 14.15-EET concentration which was only significant in plasma. Importantly, however, the 20-HETE/14,15-EET ratio was substantially elevated in the heart and plasma but lowered in the kidney. This observation can be explained by metabolic pathways involved in the production and degradation of 20-HETE. CYP4A as hydroxylase enzymes metabolize ArA to HETEs, with 20-HETE as a major product. The production and physiological action of 20-HETE depends on tissue expression of specific CYP4A isoforms. CYP4A and CYP4F enzymes expressed in renal tubular cells produce 20-HETE that lowers BP by inhibiting sodium reabsorption and inducing natriuresis (33,331). Alternatively, 20-HETE generated by vasculature CYP4A2 promotes vasoconstriction and causes hypertension (331,332). Inflammation induces vascular expression of CYP4A2 and increases 20-HETE production and consequently causes hypertension (333); on the other hand, as it has been reported in Dahl salt sensitive rats, reduced tubular expression of CYP4A and CYP4F and diminished concentration of 20-HETE contributed to the development of hypertension (334). Additionally, lower kidney concentrations of 20-HETE is probably attributed to multiple disposition pathways, mainly COX-2 activity that is enhanced by inflammation in the kidney (39,335,336).

These changes in concentration of ArA metabolites with the known CV effects may provide another explanation for the increased risk of CV events in the presence of inflammatory conditions. It has been previously reported that CV complications are one of the major comorbidities of RA patients, accounting for 35% to 50% of excess mortality in this population (10). The findings of the current study are confirmed by several studies that previously identified HETEs as potent pro-inflammatory agents and considered them as indices of inflammation (63-68). *In vitro* studies using an acute inflammatory model of LPS in mice and rat have reported similar

results (32,69). We observed in the kidney tissues, however, the concentration of all HETEs homologs significantly reduced by inflammation (Table 5.1). 20-HETE as a key eicosanoid in the kidney plays a dual role as pro- and anti-hypertensive agents in vasculature and tubules, respectively. As mentioned above, its production and physiological action in kidney tubules differs from vasculature. It is involved in tubulo-glomerular feedback (TGF) response (337), which is one of several mechanisms that the kidney uses to regulate glomerular filtration rate. It has been reported that the TGF response has been intensified by perfusion of loop of Henle with exogenous ArA, whereas it was blocked by inhibition of 20-HETE production through CYP inhibition (338). On the other hand, in a proximal tubule, 20-HETE reduces sodium transport, while in a thick ascending loop of Henle (TALH) it limits the availability of K⁺ for transport by a $Na^+-K^+-2Cl^-$ transporter, which enhances the natriures is and acts as an anti-hypertensive and tissue protective agent (339,339-341). The decreased concentration of 20-HETE in the kidneys of animals with AA could be an indication of lower natriuresis and an antihypertensive effect. The role of the kidney on long term arterial BP homeostasis is based on the concept of the pressure-natriuretic response and hypertension develops when this response is compromised (342). It has been shown that 20-HETE modulates this response by inhibition of Na+ transport in renal tubule (339,341). In support of our results, there are several reports that indicate a deficiency of 20-HETE production in the kidney results in the development of salt sensitive hypertension (343-345). In a review article, Williams et al. have exclusively provided lines of evidence in support of the hypothesis that lower renal production of 20-HETE contributes to the elevation of Cl⁻ transport in the TALH and development of hypertension (62).

On the other hand, EETs have been considered as anti-inflammatory mediators (53,346). Inflammation did not alter the plasma, heart, or kidney concentrations of EETs between INF and

CL groups but the ratio of plasma 20-HETE/EETs was significantly increased (Table 5.1). In the body, as a dynamic system, the elevation of plasma and heart 20-HETE concentrations without change in EETs concentrations implies that the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory ArA metabolites is skewed toward pro-inflammatory mediators in animals with arthritis. Inflammation upregulates the sEH enzyme (347), therefore, the DHTs concentration as sEHderived metabolites of EETs increases. We observed an elevation of the heart's DHTs concentration in the INF group, but it was not significant. As a result of this alteration, in rats with arthritis the heart ratio of DHTs/EETs was higher when compared with control rats (Table 5.1). The higher DHTs concentrations in the INF group with comparable EETs concentrations between groups suggest that indeed the EETs concentration was elevated as a compensatory mechanism, but due to overexpression of sEH enzyme in response to inflammation, EETs were metabolized to produce higher concentrations of DHTs with lower anti-inflammatory and vasodilatory effects compared with EETs. Therefore, the higher ratios of the plasma and the heart 20-HETE/EETs and DHTs/EETs, as an indication of domination of pro-inflammatory mediators, at least in part, may be considered as an underlying cause for endothelial dysfunction and CV disease incidence in inflammatory situations such as RA.

The present data suggest that inflammation influences both the RAS pathway and the ArA metabolism and possibly increased the CV risks. It is therefore reasonable to assume a correlation between the two physiological processes. This was, indeed, confirmed when we plotted the two metrics against each other using various options. Our attempt to test the possibility of such an association revealed that there are correlations between key elements of the two systems (Table 5.5).

There are several reports in the literature regarding contribution of Ang II to production of 20-HETE (348) and its actions on endothelial dysfunction, essential hypertension (349) and renal disorders (350-358). It has been shown that higher plasma concentrations of 20-HETE were correlated with augmented plasma renin activity in hypertensive humans (335), whereas the production of 20-HETE in isolated glomeruli was reduced due to low expression of CYP4A in high-salt diet-fed rats in which the RAS is suppressed (359). In agreement with these reports, our results present a positive (r = 0.8410) correlation between plasma 20-HETE vs. plasma Ang II concentrations. Additionally, plasma 20-HETE was correlated with the heart RAS components such as ACE2 negatively, and AT1R and AT2R expression positively. ACE is responsible for enzymatic production of Ang II; therefore, despite no change in ACE expression, the higher concentrations of Ang II in animals with AA could be attributed to lower levels of ACE2. Sodhi et al. (323) recently reported that 20-HETE induces ACE and AT1R expression and increases Ang II concentrations. Using a transgenic rat over-expressing CYP4A2 producing higher concentrations of 20-HETE, the authors concluded that 20-HETE promotes hypertension through activation of RAS, which is in line with our observation in the current study. The cause and effect relationship between 20-HETE and Ang II is not clear. The elevated BP in transgenic rat was brought back to a normal level as a result of treatments with ACE inhibitor, AT1R blocker, and inhibitor of 20-HETE synthesis or 20-HETE antagonist. These findings suggest that 20-HETE acts as an endogenous regulator of RAS activation (323). The mechanism of RAS activation by 20-HETE is unknown and needs to be explored further. However, it has been shown that 20-HETE reduces bioavailability of nitric oxide by uncoupling of endothelial nitric oxide synthase which leads to activation of NF-κB. The reported *in-vitro* induction of ACE by 20-HETE and increase of Ang II (323) in endothelial cell is also mediated by NF- κ B activation

(360). In a recent study, Cheng et al. (361) have shown that 20-HETE-mediated endothelial dysfunction causes hypertension through activation and induction of ACE and AT1R with unknown mechanism.

Despite positive correlations of the plasma 20-HETE concentration (r = 0.5740-0.6935) vs. the heart and kidney Ang II concentrations (Table 5.4 and 5.5) statistical significance were lacking. The failure to reach a significant level could be attributed to the small sample size of the current study; otherwise these result are in concert with previous studies (350-358), which report a direct association of Ang II in CV and renal pathologic conditions resulting from an excess or lack of production of 20-HETE, respectively.

It has been reported that vasoconstrictor effect of Ang II on rabbit afferent renal artery is mediated by AT1R and AT2R. The effect was eliminated or enhanced by blockade of AT1R or AT2R, respectively (362). Arima et al. found that in norepinephrine preconstricted artery treated with an AT1R antagonist, Ang II caused dose-dependent dilation which was abolished by AT2R blockade and an AT2R agonist caused dose-dependent dilation in the same setting. It was concluded that the activation of AT2R is linked to a vasodilatory mechanism that opposes vasoconstriction induced by AT1R activation. The authors proposed that the selective activation of AT2R may cause endothelium-dependent vasodilation via a CYP pathway, possibly through the activity of EETs on endothelium, as inhibition of EETs synthesis abolished this vasodilation completely (362). In our study we found a strong negative correlation between plasma 14,15-EET and the kidney Ang II and AT1R protein expressions and a positive and strong correlation between plasma11,12-EET and the kidney AT2R receptor protein expression. The opposing sign of AT1R and AT2R correlations with 14,15 and 11,12-EET, respectively, is in concert with the opposing action of these receptors. It has been reported that 11,12- and 14,15-EET are the main

EETs produced in rabbit kidney and rat preglomerular microvessels (363,364), and only 11,12-EET was able to cause significant vasodilation in both isolated perfused rabbit kidney (365) and rat preglomerular microvessels in the juxtamedullary nephron preparation (366). Consistent with these findings, Arima et al. reported that 11,12-EET was able to dilate rabbit norepinephrine preconstricted renal artery (362). Nevertheless, in another study both 11,12-EET, 14,15-EET and their hydrated products (DHTs) presented as vasoactive agents and induced relaxation in bovine adrenal artery (321). On the other hand, based on the current study, the plasma 20-HETE was positively correlated with kidney Ang II and AT1R receptor protein expression, while no correlation was observed with the kidney AT2R receptor protein expression. Taken together, these results indicate that an inflammatory condition with higher concentrations of plasma Ang II, 20-HETE and higher expressions of AT1R and at the same time, lower EETs concentration can mediate vasoconstriction and cause hypertension. Negative correlation between plasma14,15-EET and kidney AT1R and positive association between plasma 11,12-EET and kidney AT2R protein expression suggest a compensatory mechanism for BP homeostasis by the kidney.

EETs as cardioprotective ArA metabolites counterbalance the deleterious actions of 20-HETE in the CV system. However, in the kidney 20-HETE as a natriuretic agent and EETs with vasodilator effect may act in line for tissue protection purposes. We observed negative correlations between plasma EETs vs. plasma, heart, and kidney Ang II (Table 5.3). Although these correlations were not significant for all members of EETs, plasma14,15-EET was significantly correlated with plasma and tissue Ang II. The ratio of plasma 20-HETE/EETs as a critical measure of cardiotoxic-cardioprotective balance was positively correlated with plasma and kidney Ang II. These findings suggest that plasma 20-HETE, EETs, and their ratio are useful
surrogate biomarkers for identification of individuals at risk of development of renal and CV disease such as hypertension and atherosclerosis.

It has been previously reported (367) that Ang II and Ang 1–7 can stimulate ArA release from tissue lipids to promote the prostacyclin synthesis via activation of distinct types of AT receptors. The vasodilatory actions of Ang 1–7 could be explained by the observation that it does stimulate AT2R and Mas receptors but not AT1R. As aforementioned, Ang II which has been the subject of several studies regarding its interaction with ArA metabolites, but, such information is lacking for Ang 1-7. It has been reported that Ang 1-7 is more potent than Ang II in stimulating synthesis of vasodilatory PGs probably because of its low potency in stimulating lipoxygenase activity (367). However, correlation of Ang 1-7 with ArA metabolites such as 20-HETE or EETs has not been fully explored. The results of this study indicate that plasma Ang 1-7 is positively correlated with 15-HETE. Considering the opposing actions of HETEs and Ang 1-7 makes this positive correlation sensible in a way that production of a proinflammatory mediator such as 20-HETE is counterbalanced by increased concentrations of Ang 1-7. The same explanation could apply for the negative correlation between plasma 14,15-EETs and plasma Ang 1-7 with same vasodilatory affects. The sign of correlation between plasma ArA metabolites and kidney Ang 1-7 follows the same pattern as plasma; however, the statistical significance was reached only with 14,15-DHT (Table 5.3). The correlation of plasma ArA metabolites with heart Ang 1-7 were contrary to that of plasma ArA metabolites vs. plasma Ang 1-7. It was significant only with 14,15-EET (Table 5.3). This correlation sign discrepancy could be explained by different systemic and local expression of RAS system and tissue dependency of the physiological effects of ArA metabolites.

The ACE2/Ang1-7/Mas axis has shown a counter-regulatory effect against many actions of Ang II through AT1R associated with acute and chronic inflammation (23). Ang II is associated with several molecular signaling pathways involved in inflammation including protein kinase and nuclear transcription factor activation, free radical production, cytokine and chemokine release, and inflammatory cell recruitment (368-374). Recent studies have shown that ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas receptor negatively alters most of these proinflammatory actions (26-29,375,376). It has also been shown that angiotensin receptor blockers such as telmisartan and olmesartan activate the ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas axis which resulted in reduction of several proinflammatory mediators and an increase of anti-inflammatory cytokines (375,376). Results of the current study are in line with these finding as inflammation reduced heart ACE2 expression, Ang 1-7 concentration, and Mas receptor expression levels. The negative correlation of plasma 20-HETE with heart ACE2 expression, Ang 1-7 concentrations, and Mas receptor expression, further support the hypothesis that suppression of this axis may be attributed, in part, to CV events in inflammatory conditions such as RA. This maybe happens due to lack cardioprotection in this setting.

The effects of Ang 1-7 in the kidney are complex and may not necessarily always oppose the effects of AngII. Ang II increases efferent arteriolar resistance without having any effects on afferent arterioles; however, Ang 1-7 through Mas receptor relaxes the afferent vessels and increases renal blood flow (377). Ang 1-7 presents different effects dependent on sites of nephron used and peptides concentration (378). It has been shown that Ang 1-7 exerts a diuretic effect on the proximal tubule (379) and in contrast, it has been reported that Ang 1-7 has antidiuretic effects in water loaded animals by acting on Mas receptor in distal tubules (380,381). These conflicting effects of Ang 1-7 on kidney function were attributed to differences

in animal species, Ang 1-7 systemic and local concentrations, nephron segment, sodium and water status and RAS activation level (23). Our results indicate that Ang 1-7 kidney concentration and Mas receptor expression are increased due to inflammation. This may be explained by a compensatory mechanism that the kidney initiates in response to alteration of BP due to increased ACE/AngII/AT1R axis. The Mas receptor dimerizes with AT1R and modulates its interaction with Ang II. Therefore, over-expression of Mas in renal tissue could be considered as a counter-regulatory action of ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas receptor in inflammatory conditions. A lack of Mas receptor as seen in knockout animals has resulted in a RAS imbalance with unopposed action of inflammatory axis in the kidney (382-384).

Considering the aforementioned discussion about the correlation of plasma 14,15-EET and 14,15-DHT with the plasma, heart, and kidney Ang peptides, it is worth taking into the account the ratio of these two ArA metabolites as a measure of sEH enzyme activity, which up-regulates in inflammatory conditions (347). We observed correlations between the ratio of plasma 14,15-(DHT/EET) and different tissue Ang peptides, enzymes, and receptors expression levels (Table 5.3-5.5). More importantly, the sign of the correlations is in concert with the expected effect of inflammation on the RAS. 14,15-(DHT/EET) is positively associated with the plasma, heart, and kidney Ang II, and the heart and kidney AT1R, and the kidney Mas receptor expression. On the other hand, 14,15-(DHT/EET) was negative correlated with the heart and kidney ACE2, the heart Ang 1-7, the heart Mas, Mas/AT1R and Mas/AT2R, and the kidney Mas/AT1R. The physiological activity of DHT as a vasodilator is much lower than the EET; therefore, the higher ratio of DHT over EET indicates a possible shift of the system toward the proinflammatory axis of the RAS. The correlation of this ratio with positive and negative signs against proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators of the RAS components, respectively, makes

it a good candidate to be used as a biomarker in this inflammatory condition similar to the animals with AA.

5.8 Conclusion

In conclusion, RAS and ArA pathways as two main systems, involved in modulation and homeostasis of physiological and pathophysiological functions of body, are in intimate interaction with each other. They are present in all tissues and systemic circulation, and their balance is essential for controlling the body functions locally and systematically. Pathological conditions alter their balance and better knowledge of their status is critical for identification and planning of an optimal therapeutic approach for individuals at risk of experiencing CV events. In order to achieve this goal, availability of detectable biomarkers within plasma would be very helpful. The findings of the current work suggest plasma Ang II, Ang 1-7, 20-HETE, EETs, 20-HETE/EETs, and 14,15-(DHT/EET) as useful surrogate biomarkers could set the stage for more investigation for identification of individuals at risk of developing CV disease. There were other ArA metabolites and their ratios that could be considered as biomarkers, but the abovementioned ones were more inclusive than the others.

Chapter 6

6 Effect of Glucosamine on Renin-Angiotensin System and Arachidonic Acid Metabolites in Plasma, Heart and Kidney of in Rats with Adjuvant Arthritis

6.1 Introduction

Glucosamine, a naturally occurring amino monosaccharide, is a constituent of glycosaminoglycan in the cartilage matrix and synovial fluid and is involved in cartilage formation by acting as a precursor of proteoglycan synthesis. It contributes to the strength, flexibility and elasticity of cartilage. GlcN, similarly to DMARDs, is able to inhibit the underlying destructive process caused by MMP-3 and prevent long-term damages (385). *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that GlcN suppresses PGE2 production in cultured chondrocytes and lowers serum concentrations of MMPs and PGE2 in patients with RA (239,386). These findings are consistent with GlcN clinical effects. GlcN has been demonstrated some symptomatic effects to elicit beneficial effects against the progression of OA (131,132,175,298). In a randomized placebo-controlled study of patients with RA, GlcN administration had no antirheumatic effect measured by conventional methods, however, it decreased the serum concentration of MMP-3 and based on the results of the physicians and patients self- evaluations GlcN treatment seems to have some symptomatic effects in humans as well(130).

In previous chapter we observed that inflammation alters the ArA and RAS pathways. These two pathways are involved in regulation of CV functions and changes on their component balance may have an impact on CV system (52,53,387-389). GlcN as an anti-inflammatory agent may provide some beneficial effect through these pathways. There is some evidence that GlcN presents a protective role in animal models of atherosclerosis (174,182). In addition, recent meta-

analysis indicates that use of GlcN is associated with reduction of systemic inflammation biomarkers and mortality rate in humans (390-392).

Using the rat AA model, a well established animal model of human RA, our group has recently demonstrated that inflammation affected RAS homeostasis by altering the ACE and ACE2 enzymes expression in the rat heart (20). It also has been reported that inflammation induced by LPS influenced the ArA pathway by changing the CYP enzymes expression and consequently the ArA metabolites concentration (32,69). The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of GlcN on the RAS and ArA pathways as two main regulatory systems of the body. We hypothesized that with the demonstrated suppressive effect on inflammatory mediators and anti-inflammatory actions, GlcN is able to modulate inflammatory induced changes in the RAS and ArA pathways. The observed results indicate that GlcN has an optimum safety profile and comparable anti-inflammatory effects compared with NSAIDs in inflammatory conditions, and probably is able to reduce the elevated CV risk and mortality rate in RA patients (10).

6.2 Hypothesis

GlcN as anti-inflammatory agents is able to correct the harmful effects of inflammation on the RAS by modulating the altered expression of enzymes, receptors, and peptides, and will restore the balance between cardiotoxic and cardioprotective components of the RAS and ArA pathway.

6.3 **Objectives**

To investigate the effect of GlcN treatment on the RAS components expression level and ArA metabolites concentration in biological tissues.

6.4 **Results**

6.4.1 Effect of GlcN on ArA metabolite concentrations in the plasma, heart and kidney

In order to investigate whether GlcN treatment is able to modulate that observed effects of inflammation on the ArA pathway, the metabolites concentration in different tissues of rats with AA were measured. Figure 6.1 to 6-3 represents the plasma, heart and kidney concentration of ArA metabolites in INF and INF-GlcN groups, respectively.

In the plasma the elevated concentration of 20-HETE due to AA in the INF group was reduced by GlcN (Figure 6.1). GlcN treatment decreased the EETs concentration in INF-GlcN group which did not reached significant level. The ratio of 20-HETE/T-EETs as cardiac toxicity index (cardiotoxic/cardioprotective metabolite ratio) was significantly elevated in the INF group when compared with CL (see chapter 5, Figure 5.1). The GlcN treatment was able to lower the index to comparable level of CL group, however it was not significantly different from INF group as well. Similarly, in the heart tissue, GlcN treatment not only reduced the elevated 20-HETE concentration in rats with AA, but also diminished T-EET concentration and as result the increased ratio of 20-HETE/T-EET in INF was similar between groups (Figure 6.2)



Figure 6.1. Effect of GlcN treatment on ArA metabolites concentration in the plasma of rats with adjuvant arthritis

The plasma concentration of 20-HETE, T-EETs and their ratio in inflamed (INF), and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).



Figure 6.2. Effect of GlcN treatment on ArA metabolites concentration in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis

The heart tissue concentration of 20-HETE, T-EETs and their ratio in inflamed (INF), and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group)

As we observed in chapter 5, contrary to the plasma and heart tissues, 20-HETE concentration in kidney was decreased in the INF compared with the CL group, but T-EET concentration stayed the same. GlcN treatment normalized the concentration of 20-HETE concentration without affecting on T-EET level, as a result, the ratio of kidney 20-HETE /T-EETs was elevated when compared with INF group.

The GlcN treatment of control animals had on significant effects on the ArA metabolites concentration in plasma and heart compared with CL group, however, it increased kidney 20-HETE and its ratio over EETs.



Figure 6.3. Effect of GlcN treatment on ArA metabolites concentration in the kidney of rats with adjuvant arthritis

The kidney tissue concentration of 20-HETE, T-EETs and their ratio in inflamed (INF), and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).

6.4.2 Effect of GlcN on RAS component level in the plasma, heart and kidney

The effect of arthritis on the RAS cascade was examined by analysis of tissue concentrations of the two main active peptides of the RAS, Ang II and Ang 1-7, which were measured using a commercial ELISA kit according the manufacturer instructions. This analysis was accompanied with measurement of the expression of the ACE and ACE2 enzymes; the Ang II specific AT1R and AT2R; and the Ang 1-7 specific receptor Mas by western blotting analysis. The heart (Figure 6.4) and kidney (Figure 6.5) samples from INF and INF-GlcN groups showed marked changes of ACE enzymes and Ang peptides receptors expression in response to the inflammation and GlcN treatment. As our group previously reported for both tissues (20), ACE protein expression was not altered due to inflammation. However, ACE2 protein expression was significantly reduced in the INF group and consequently it reduced the ACE2/ACE ratio in both tissues.

In the heart tissue, the GlcN treatment did not alter the ACE, but restored the inflammation induced reduction of the ACE2 enzyme expression. Consequently, the ratio of ACE2/ACE was re-established in the GlcN treated animals with AA and was significantly higher when compared with INF groups.

In the kidney tissue, however, the GlcN treatment of rats with AA resulted in a significant reduction of ACE compared with INF-GlcN group. However, the reduction ACE2 level was not significant. Accordingly, we observed a significant elevation of the ACE2/ACE ratio in the INF-GlcN.



Figure 6.4. Effect of GlcN treatment on ACE, ACE2 protein expression level and their ratio in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis.

The heart tissue ACE and ACE2 protein expression levels and their ratio in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/ group).





The kidney tissue ACE and ACE2 protein expression levels and their ratio in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/ group).

The plasma concentration of Ang peptides or their ratio was comparable between groups (Figure 6.6). However, consistent with ACE enzymes expression in the heart and kidney tissues, the Ang peptides concentrations were altered accordingly.

In the heart tissue of INF group, Ang II was increased, but Ang 1-7 and its ratio with Ang II were decreased significantly when compared with the CL group (see Chapter 5, Figure 5.7). Treatment with GlcN normalized both peptides concentration and increased their ratio significantly (Figure 6.7).

In the kidney tissue, however, Ang II concentration was higher in INF group despite the fact the ACE enzyme was not altered, which it could attributed to a significant decrease of the kidney ACE2 expression (see Chapter 5,Figure 5.5). The Ang 1-7 concentration did not follow the same pattern as of the enzyme responsible for its production. The ratio of kidney Ang 1-7/II was also comparable with other group (see chapter 5, Figure 5.8). GlcN treatment in INF-GlcN group reduced both Ang peptide concentrations with no effect on their ratio. This could be due to down-regulation of both ACE and ACE2 enzymes which could offset the effect of each other on the corresponding substrates concentration without any change in their ratio (Figure 6.8).



Figure 6.6. Effect of GlcN treatment on angiotensin peptides concentration in the plasma of rats with adjuvant arthritis.

The plasma concentrations of Ang II and Ang 1-7 and their ratio in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).



Figure 6.7. Effect GlcN treatment on angiotensin peptides concentration in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis.

The heart tissue concentrations of Ang II and Ang 1-7 and their ratio in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).





The kidney tissue concentrations of Ang II and Ang 1-7 and their ratio in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).

The heart tissue from animals with AA presented significant increase in the expression of the AT1R and AT2 R receptor when compared with control littermates, with no difference on their ratio with AT1R (see, chapter 5, Figure 5.9). Interestingly, the expression of the Mas, the Ang 1-7 specific receptors and its ratio with AT1R were decreased in the heart in response to inflammation (see chapter 5, Figure 5.11). GlcN treatment of rats with AA lowered the expression of AT1R and AT2R. Nevertheless, the AT2R/AT1R ratio was comparable with the other group (Figure 6.9). As GlcN did not alter Mas receptor level, the ratio of Mas/AT1R was increased as a result of reduction of AT1R. This was not the case for the heart Mas/AT2R ratio (Figure 6.11).

On the other hand, in the kidney tissue of rats with AA a significant increase on the AT1R level was detected when compared with control rats, while the AT2R expression was similar between INF and CL groups, the ratio of AT2R/AT1R was insignificantly lower in the kidney of INF group. The expression of the Mas receptor was increased due to inflammation, nevertheless, the ratio of Mas/AT1R or Mas/AT2R was comparable with CL group (see chapter 5, Figure 5.10 and 5.12). GlcN treatment in rats with arthritis lowered the elevated AT1R expression level with no change in AT2R (Figure 6.10). The elevated kidney expression level of Mas receptor due to inflammation was reduced and normalized by GlcN treatment in INF-GlcN group. Due to reduction of the kidney AT1R expression, the ratio of Mas/AT1R was increased in INF-GlcN. The insignificant reduction of AT2R level failed to change Mas/AT2R ratio (Figure 6.12).



Figure 6.9. Effect of GlcN treatment on AT1R, AT2R protein expression level and their ratio in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis

The heart tissue AT1R and AT2R protein expression levels and their ratio in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).



Figure 6.10. Effect of GlcN treatment on AT1R, AT2R protein expression level and their ratio in the kidney of rats with adjuvant arthritis

The kidney tissue AT1R and AT2R protein expression levels and their ratio in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).



Figure 6.11. Effect of GlcN treatment on Mas receptor protein expression level and its ratio with AT1R and AT2R protein expression in the heart of rats with adjuvant arthritis.

The heart tissue Mas receptor protein expression level and its ratio with AT1R and AT2R protein expression in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).





The kidney tissue Mas receptor protein expression level and its ratio with AT1R and AT2R protein expression in inflamed (INF) and inflamed-GlcN (INF-GlcN) groups; *statistically significant differences (p < 0.05, n=3-4/group).

The GlcN treatment of control animals had minimal effects on the RAS. However, ACE2 enzyme level was increased in the heart but decreased in the kidney by GlcN. The ratio of ACE2/ACE followed the same order when compared with not treated control group (CL). The expression level of heart and kidney AT1R, but not AT2R or Mas, was decreased and accordingly the ratio of Mas /AT1R was higher in this group compared with CL group.

6.5 Discussion

We observed in chapter 3, that GlcN dose-dependently presented a preventive and ameliorating anti-inflammatory effect in rats with AA. Furthermore, the results presented in this chapter, suggests that GlcN may modulate the inflammation through RAS and ArA pathways. GlcN was able to reduce the key inflammatory and angiogenic eicosanoid, 20-HETE, concentrations in the plasma and heart which were elevated due inflammation. GlcN normalizes inflammation-induced reduction of 20-HETE, a natriuretic and antihypertensive agent in the kidney. It was able to reinstate the altered balance between cardiotoxic (20-HETE) and cardioprotective (EETs) ArA metabolites in the plasma and heart and as a consequence, to reduce the cardiotoxic index (20-HETE/EETs). Due to the protective effect of 20-HETE in the kidney, the increased ratio of 20-HETE/EETs by GlcN treatment is an indication of its possible natriuretic, vasodilatory and tissue protective property. In addition to ArA pathway, in the local RAS at the heart and kidney tissues, GlcN treatment reestablished the disrupted balances of ACE2/ACE and Ang1-7/II ratios. On the other hand, the expression of AT1R, the main target of Ang II as a proinflammatory mediator, was reduced in the heart by GlcN treatment. The observed higher heart concentration of Ang II along with higher AT1R expression in animals with AA can be considered as activation of cardiotoxic axis of the RAS which is a risk factor for developing CV events in inflammatory conditions (393). GlcN treatment in INF-GlcN group, by restoring the Ang II and AT1R levels, diminishes this risk factor and lowers it to a degree that has been seen in control animals. Alternatively, inflammation suppressed the cardioprotective axis of ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas receptor expression in the heart of the rats with AA and treatments with GlcN reinstated the ACE2, Ang 1-7 concentration and recovered the reduced Mas receptor level. Moreover, due to reduction of AT1R, the higher ratio of Mas/AT1R compared with INF

group may present beneficial effect toward to stabilization of the disrupted balance between cardioprotective and cardiotoxic axes in rats with AA.

Several studies have already identified 20-HETE as an effective pro-inflammatory agent and considered it as an index of inflammation (66-68). GlcN treatment normalizes the increased plasma and heart concentrations of 20-HETE by an unknown mechanism. *In vitro* studies using an acute inflammatory model of LPS in mice and rats have reported increased concentrations of 20-HETE as a result of CYP enzyme inductions (32). The GlcN action on the plasma and heart 20-HETE concentration cannot be attributed to its effect on the CYP enzymes responsible for synthesis or metabolism of 20-HETE, since GlcN does not cause any inhibition or induction on these enzymes (207). One possible mechanism could be an indirect effect on 20-HETE production as GlcN suppresses inflammatory cells activation through IL-1 β and TNF- α (394). It has been reported that activation of the inflammatory cells, such as endothelial progenitor cell, was able to induce the CYP enzymes responsible for production of 20-HETE (395,396). This observation cannot be exclusively explained by GlcN anti-inflammatory effects, and further investigation needed to explain these observations.

The opposing effects of inflammation on 20-HETE concentrations in the plasma and heart vs. the kidney tissue can be explained by metabolic pathways involved in the production and degradation of 20-HETE. We address this issue in chapter 5. The production and physiological action of 20-HETE depends on tissue and expression of specific CYP4A isoforms. CYP4A and CYP4F enzymes expressed in renal tubular cells produce 20-HETE that lowers BP by inhibiting the sodium reabsorption and inducing natriuresis (33,331). On the other hand, as it has been reported in Dahl salt sensitive rats, the reduced tubular expression of CYP4A and CYP4F and diminished concentration of 20-HETE contributed to the development of hypertension (334).

Moreover, lower kidney concentrations of 20-HETE is probably attributed to multiple disposition pathways, mainly the COX-2 enzyme activity that increases by inflammation in the kidney (39,335,336). However, inhibitory effect of rofecoxib on inflammation induced COX-2 in the kidney seems not to be enough to restore the 20-HETE reduced concentration (unpublished results). These results suggest that the lower concentration of the kidney 20-HETE is attributed mainly to its lower production, rather than to its enhanced degradation by the COX-2 enzyme. GlcN treatment of rats with AA neutralizes the effect of inflammation on kidney 20-HETE concentration and restored it to the control level. The mechanism of induction of 20-HETE production in kidney by GlcN is not known.

20-HETE generated by vasculature CYP4A2 promotes vasoconstriction and causes hypertension (331,332). Some pathological conditions such as ischemic cerebrovascular diseases, hypertension, diabetes, kidney diseases and cancer are associated with changes in 20-HETE production (33,43). The development of hypertension and CV diseases are linked to CYP4A activity in the vasculature where the enzyme expression increases as the vessel diameter decreases (56,57). This is in agreement with an increased concentration of 20-HETE level narrower vessel due to higher rate of its synthesis (58). Inflammation also induces the vascular expression of CYP4A2 and increases 20-HETE production and consequently causes hypertension (333). In this study using AA rat model, we observed significant increase in 20-HETE in the plasma and heart samples. This change could partially explain the elevated risk of CV complication in RA patients (10). In attempt to prevent the development of AA by daily administration of GlcN we observed that it reduced AI (see chapter 3, Figure 3.1 and 3.2) and lowered the 20-HETE concentrations in both plasma and heart tissues when compared with nontreated arthritic animals (Figure 6.1 and 6.2).

20-HETE also plays a role in the regulation of vascular tone by assisting vasoconstrictor stimulus such as Ang II, endothelin and phenylephrine to impose their effect on smooth muscle cells. It can activate protein kinase C, mitogen activated protein kinase and tyrosine kinase. After phosphorylation, these proteins inhibit the conductance Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ channel, leading to depolarization and elevation in cytosolic [Ca^{2+}]. These effects may translate into the increase in BP and development of hypertension seen in experimental models where vascular 20-HETE synthesis is increased (62).

Ang II, as a main component of RAS increases BP by vasoconstriction through AT1R activation in blood vessels as well as increasing sympathetic tone and the release of arginine vasopressin. It is also modulate renal sodium reabsorption by stimulating renal AT1R. Knockout mice of angiotensinogen, renin, ACE and AT_{1A} (murine homolog of human AT1R gene) exhibit marked reduction in BP, indicating the role of RAS in normal BP homeostasis (397). Taking into account the characteristics of the RAS and the ArA pathways, cross-talk between these two systems ,as it presented in chapter 5, are highly plausible. Ang II has been shown to stimulate the release of 20-HETE in isolated preglomerular vessels (356) and the renal synthesis of 20-HETE (333). Increased production of 20-HETE in the peripheral vasculature contributes to the acute vasoconstrictor response to Ang II (398). Acute inhibition of 20-HETE synthesis attenuates the renal pressor response to Ang II (333), and chronic inhibition of 20-HETE biosynthesis attenuates the development of Ang II-dependent hypertension (399). In cultured aortic vascular smooth muscle cells, 20-HETE mediates Ang II-induced mitogenic effects and contributes to the vascular injury, hypertrophy and hypertension caused by Ang II in rats (400-402). These studies also suggest that 20-HETE may contribute to the hypertensive actions of Ang II. To this end, experimental models of hypertension that show increased vascular 20-HETE production, such as

the spontaneous hypertensive rat (403,404) and the androgen-induced hypertension in rats and mice (405-407) are also RAS mediated. Some evidence suggested that the interaction between 20-HETE and the RAS includes induction of vascular ACE. In endothelial cells, 20-HETE is a potent inducer of ACE expression. Increased expression and synthesis of 20-HETE as in the CYP4A2-transduced rats (349) or the androgen-treated rats (54) is associated with increased expression of renal and vascular ACE which is abolished by treatment with 20-HETE synthesis inhibitors. In the model of 20-HETE-dependent hypertension (rats overexpressing the CYP4A2 in vascular endothelium), blood pressure is normalized by ACE inhibition or AT1R blockade (349). This suggests the presence of a feed forward amplification of 20-HETE- induced vascular dysfunction by the RAS. Thus, ACE induction by 20-HETE brings about increases in Ang II levels and its actions through the AT1R in vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells. Such interactions may constitute at least in part the mechanism by which 20-HETE causes hypertension. Activation of AT1R by Ang II through stimulation of multiple signaling pathways, several growth factor receptors, reactive oxygen species, and other pro-inflammatory responses mimics several cytokine-like actions (107). Ang II production can be regulated by NF-kB and in return it is also capable of activating NF- κ B and increasing the expression of NF- κ B dependent genes (107). Ang II is also associated with the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such a TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 (108). The modulatory effects of GlcN treatment on ArA and RAS could be attributed to cross talk mechanisms between the components these two systems. There are several mechanism of action were purposed for GlcN such as the inhibition of proteoglycan degradation and stimulation of proteoglycan synthesis, suppression of IL-1β-induced COX-2 and MMPs expression, reduction of TNF- α level, suppression of NO and PGE₂ production (134). Anti-inflammatory effect of GlcN is also associated with the inhibition of NF- κ B

activation by promoting the acetylation of nuclear components of transcription process (135). These are in line with the result of this study that shows GlcN treatment normalized the inflammation induced changes of ACE2/ACE, Ang1-7/II, AT1R and Mas receptor in different tissues of rats with AA. These changes in expression could be attributed to GlcN interaction on NF- κ B activation.

EETs, as ArA epoxygenase produced metabolites, have been considered as anti-inflammatory mediators (53,346). Inflammation did not alter the plasma and heart concentration of EETs. In the body, as a dynamic system, the inflammation-induced elevation of the plasma and heart 20-HETE concentration without a substantial change in the EETs concentrations implies that the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory ArA metabolites is skewed toward proinflammatory mediators. Therefore, the higher ratio of plasma and heart 20-HETE/EETs in rats with AA might be an indication of domination of pro-inflammatory mediators, and at least in part, may be considered as an underlying cause for endothelial dysfunction and CV disease incidence in inflammatory situations such as RA. Treatments with GlcN reduced this ratio and normalize it back to the comparable level with control animals. This reduction did not reach significant difference when compared with INF group, probably due to small size limitation.

The RAS as one of the main systems involved in homeostasis of CV function, constitutively, consists of two opposing axes. The first axis is constituted of ACE/Ang II/AT1R, which is responsible for harmful effects, such as inflammation, vasoconstriction, cell proliferation, and fibrosis (22). Ang II by binding to AT1R in the circulation controls body fluid volume homoeostasis and BP. It is now well known that Ang II by applying a pro-inflammatory effect through AT1R contributes to hypertension, CV disease, and renal disease (388). Additionally, the expression and up-regulation of ACE in the peripheral blood and synovium samples of

patients with RA has been reported previously (408,409). The results of these studies suggest that new therapeutic approaches involving strategies on modulating RAS components, including inhibition of Ang II synthesis or disruption of interaction with its main target, AT1R, should be taken toward treatment RA. Previous reports confirm the beneficial effect of ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs in RA experimental animal models, including AA (106,410). Similar to these reports, the results of the present study indicate that GlcN treatment was able to normalize the inflammation induced increase on production of Ang II. Additionally, GlcN was able to reduce the AT1R expression in the heart and kidney. It is documented that activation of AT1R by Ang II is associated with vasoconstriction, pro-inflammation, pro-fibrosis and growth promotion (324,411,412). Other than AT1R, Ang II binds to AT2R subtype as well, which mostly counteracts the action of AT1R. Therefore, this interaction makes AT2R a potential target for therapeutic intervention. In an animal study with AA rat model, the therapeutic antiinflammatory effects of losartan, an AT1R blocker, have been correlated and attributed to upregulation of AT2R and downregulation of AT1R (118). In the present study, GlcN also ameliorated the symptoms of arthritis in rats with AA and similarly suppressed AT1R expression with a minimal effect on AT2R expression and consequently increased the ratio of AT2R/AT1R in the heart and kidney. Therefore, it could be concluded that anti-inflammatory effects of GlcN similar to losartan in rats with AA, at least in a part, is associated through its interaction with AT1R expression.

The activation of the second axis of the RAS, which is composed of the ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas receptor, results in anti-inflammatory, antifibrotic, antiproliferative, and vasodilatory effects (23). The key peptidase activity of ACE2 is degradation of Ang II to Ang 1-7 by which it changes the balance within the RAS cascade from vasoconstriction and proinflammatory to

vasodilatation and anti-inflammatory actions (24). {{}}Several studies have demonstrated that ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas modulate inflammatory response and Ang 1-7, as the main component of this axis, negatively regulate proinflammatory mediator expression and release and modulate fibrogenic pathways (26-29). Previously, our group reported that inflammation alters the constitutive balance of the RAS enzymes: ACE, ACE2 in the heart (20). In the present study we observed the same results concerning the effect of AA on the RAS. Therefore, the concentration of Ang 1-7 was reduced as it was expected from down regulation of the ACE2 protein in the heart tissue due to inflammation. However, its plasma and kidney concentration was not different between the rats with AA and CL groups (chapter 5, Figure 5.6 and 5-8). The overall outcome of these changes translates into lower concentration of vasodilator and cardioprotective peptide, i.e., Ang1-7 in inflammatory conditions. We did not measure ACE, ACE2 in the plasma. However, plasma Ang II concentration was elevated significantly by inflammation and, due to a slight increase of Ang 1-7, the ratio of Ang 1-7/II was not different between control and INF groups. Although GlcN treatment of inflamed animals did not result in significant changes on peptide concentrations or their ratio, the GlcN-treated control animal showed an increased concentration of Ang 1-7. Lack of significant changes in the plasma concentration of peptides could be due to involvement of several pathways in their production and degradation in systemic circulation.

On the other hand, GlcN treatment was able to reinstate the disrupted balance of ACE2/ACE by increasing the expression of ACE2, which was reduced by inflammation in the heart and the kidney. The changes made by the GlcN at enzyme level were translated to the altered peptide concentration in the heart, i.e., the elevated concentration of Ang II was reduced and the diminished concentration of Ang 1-7 restored to a comparable level with the CL group. More

importantly, the ratio of cardioprotective over cardiotoxic peptides, Ang 1-7/II, shifted toward the cardioprotective side when compared with animals with AA.

AT1R and AT2R and Mas receptor are the targets of Ang peptides in order to exert their pharmacological and physiological response. Inflammation has induced upregulation of AT1R and AT2R. The activation of AT1R by Ang-II in the circulation may cause vasoconstriction, thrombogenesis and mutagenesis in inflammatory conditions. In contrary, the binding of Ang II at AT2R oppose the above mentioned effects. AT2R is not expressed under normal physiological conditions, but in response to pathological changes as a body's defense mechanism expression increases. We observed the same phenomenon in this setting as inflammation increased AT1R and consequently AT2R expression levels increased in the heart and kidney with no changes their ratio of AT2R/AT1R. GlcN treatment significantly lowered AT1R in both tissues when compared with the rats with AA. The GlcN treatment had no significant effect on the AT2R expression; nevertheless, the ratio of AT2R/AT1R was increased.

Collective alteration of several factors in the heart of rats with arthritis such as: a) the reduced level of ACE2 expression and the diminished cardioprotective effect of Ang 1-7 through Mas receptor due suppressed levels of Ang 1-7 and Mas receptor, b) the higher expression of ACE along with exaggerated effect of increased concentration of Ang II, on over-expressed AT1R, may suggest that both axis of the RAS were influenced by inflammation and the balance between these two arms shifted toward the cardiotoxicity. These changes may potentiate the risk of CV complications in inflammatory situations such as RA. GlcN treatment, however, could reduce the risk by normalizing the ACE, ACE2, Ang II, Ang 1-7, AT1R and Mas receptor levels, which collectively could switch the disrupted balance back toward the cardioprotection arm of the RAS.

In the kidney tissue, although the Mas receptor expression was increased by inflammation, the ratio of its ligand Ang 1-7 over Ang II was decreased. The increase in Mas receptor expression could be considered as the body's defense mechanism in order to protect the kidney tissue from proinflammatory actions of Ang II by potentiating the Ang 1-7 effect. GlcN treatment of rats with AA resulted in comparable level of kidney Mas, AT1R, AT2R and their ratio to control animals. This result could be attributed to the anti-inflammatory effect of GlcN on the COX-2 enzymes, which induciblely up-regulated in the kidney of rats with arthritis (134,236). *In-vitro* studies suggest that GlcN may affect inflammation by inhibiting of NF- κ B from translocation to the nucleus (179). Activation of NF- κ B initiates a series of downstream inflammatory processes involved in several inflammatory diseases, including inflammation-related cancers (413). Inhibitory effect of GlcN on including IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , and PGE2, as well as COX-2 expression is attributed to NF- κ B inhibition which additionally support for mechanism of its anti-inflammatory effect (179,414-416). However, in order to elucidate the detailed mechanisms of action of GlcN for the observed results further investigation is essential.

In addition, a recent meta-analysis demonstrated an association between use of GlcN and CS with biomarker of systemic inflammation such as the acute-phase reactant, CRP (390). It has been reported that use of GlcN was related to reduction of mortality (391,392). Overall, these observed coordinated effects of GlcN on the ArA pathway and RAS can be considered as a confirmation of its anti-inflammatory and possible cardioprotective property and suggest that GlcN could be safely used as an alternative to the NSAIDs in this setting without any risk of elevation of at least cardiotoxic metabolite, 20-HETE, concentration level which has been reported for rofecoxib (61).

The present study has a few limitations. First of all, it was a pilot study using a small number (n=3-4/group) of animals per group that therefore did not provide strong statistical power when we compared ArA metabolite or RAS component levels between groups, nevertheless, their profiles were different enough between groups to achieve significant differences. It is obvious that a higher sample size will make these results more reliable. Secondly, in the current study we directly measured the final product of the pathways, as main parameters, considering that the alteration of mRNA and protein expression enzymes responsible for production of ArA metabolites and Ang peptides by inflammation is already established (20,32,69). Third, we used the AA animal model to represent human RA. Although this model is vastly used in studies dealing with chronic inflammations, it may not reflect all aspects of RA inflammatory conditions and may differ in representation of the onset of arthritis, which is much slower in humans compared with rodents. This issue may be addressed by testing the concentrations of these ArA metabolites and RAS components using other animal models for RA. Overall, these results should be interpreted cautiously when they are extrapolated to humans.

6.6 Conclusion

The present study reveals that AA in rat, as a model of chronic systemic inflammation, elevates several pro-inflammatory and diminishes anti-inflammatory ArA metabolites and the RAS components in plasma and tissues. This alteration could disrupt the essential balance between the cardioprotective and cardiotoxic mediator in heart and kidney. The results of this study, by extrapolation to human may suggest that GlcN has a therapeutic value for improvement of inflammation- induced disruption of the RAS and ArA pathway in inflammatory conditions. Furthermore, these results may suggest the mechanism underlying CV side effects of inflammation could be explained through ArA and RAS pathways. In general, the lack of CV
side effects after long term use of GlcN along with its anti-inflammatory effects could be attributed to modulation of the RAS and ArA pathway. This suggest GlcN as an alternative option for treatment of inflammatory conditions, such as RA, obesity, CV disease, inflammatory bowel syndrome, cancer, pulmonary disease, etc.

Chapter 7

7 General Conclusion

Despite the overwhelming evidence generated using experimental animals in favour of beneficial anti-inflammatory effects of GlcN in the treatment of arthritis, randomized human clinical trials are not conclusive as some have observed benefit for both pain and joint function (190,245) and others have seen no or negligible positive effects (246,247). Interestingly, despite the controversy about its effectiveness, GlcN has maintained its popularity among OA patients (142,255). Several reasons for this controversy have been proposed including superiority of a crystalline sulfate salt formulation over GlcN HCl, industry bias, insensitive assessment metrics and poor methodology. In this thesis we ruled out some of these reasons and suggested additional factors; i.e., inconsistency in the active ingredient content of some products used, under-dosing of patients as well as variable and erratic bioavailability indices for the lack of GlcN efficacy observed in some studies. Result of our bioequivalency study between GlcN sulfate and hydrochloride dosage forms indicates that the discrepancy between the reported human clinical data is probably not due the nature of the salt or formulation properties. Regardless of the formulation used, following the commonly used 1500 mg/day doses, no or marginal beneficial effects may be observed because of under-dosing which stems from low GlcN bioavailability and inconsistency in the active ingredient content of commercially available products. Limited and erratic bioavailability of GlcN may also contribute to the problem. In addition, insensitive clinical outcomes and inclusion of patients with low baseline pain might have contributed to the unsatisfactory treatment outcome. The source of the controversy in the efficacy of GlcN seems to be pharmacokinetic in nature as it is generally agreed that the available GlcN formulations yield sub-therapeutic plasma concentrations. The other possible reasons could be listed as poor methodology of the clinical trials and insensitive assessment tools.

Based on the above mentioned discussion, there was an obvious need to determine the minimum effective GlcN dose and/or concentration. We performed preventive and treatment studies in order to determine MED and to show its effectiveness at both setting. Results of this thesis indicate that GlcN possesses preventive and ameliorating effects on AA in a dose and concentration-dependent manner. The MED is approximately about 40 to 80 mg/kg that corresponds with maximum plasma concentrations that are within the range reported for pharmaceutical-grade products used in human trials that have reported beneficial effects. Considering the observed dose dependency of the GlcN effect and the possibility of under-dosing, mainly because of the use of inferior products, future clinical trials should consider using pharmaceutical grade GlcN and, higher than 1500 mg/kg/day doses.

As a chronic, progressive and systemic inflammatory condition, RA leads to joint destruction and considerable pain, and diminished function and disability. RA is associated with higher morbidity and mortality rate from CV complications than the general population without RA (73). Evidence suggests that common proinflammatory cytokines are involved in the development and progression of both atherosclerosis and RA (78). The activation of the RAS plays an important role in the physiology and pathophysiology of the CV system. The balance between two axes of ACE/Ang II/AT1R and ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas receptor regulate CV functions including BP, fluid and electrolyte homeostasis. Inflammation is prone to disrupt this balance which consequently could result in CV complications. It has been shown that ACEIs and ARBs were able to attenuate the endothelial dysfunction caused be inflammation (25).

The ArA pathway is an important system in regulating body functions. ArA has a central role as a precursor of a variety of mediators produced by the involvement of either constitutive or inducible enzymes or by nonenzymatic pathways. ArA and its metabolites are also involved in

CV system homeostasis. Cytochrome P450 (CYP) metabolizes arachidonic acid to HETEs and EETs. These metabolites play a complex role in the modulation of BP. Recent findings indicate that inflammatory conditions alter the metabolism of eicosanoids (69) and disrupt the balance between cardioprotective (EETs) and cardiotoxic (HETEs) metabolites (32). Recent preclinical and epidemiologic data suggest that modulation of eicosanoids metabolism may be a feasible clinical therapeutic strategy for the management of different pathological disorder and in particular CV disease (33).

Estimation of plasma and tissue concentrations of ArA metabolites is, therefore, important for understanding their role in physiological and pathophysiological processes. In order to study the status of ArA metabolites in inflammatory conditions, we developed an improved LC-FL assay with greater sensitivity and improved selectivity so that is suitable for a wider applicability for simultaneous analysis of ArA metabolites in different biological specimens.

Considering the characteristics of RAS and ArA pathway, the possibility of interaction between these two systems is quite feasible. Using LC-FL, ELISA, western blotting and AA animal model we studied the effect of inflammation on the RAS and ArA pathway and investigated the possible correlations between their components.

The results of this thesis are the first to show the following:

1) Inflammation due to AA alters the ArA and RAS pathways, which consequently changes the balance between anti-inflammatory and proinflammatory ArA metabolites, ACE, ACE2, Ang peptides, and their receptors.

2) Heart and kidney tissues concentration of ArA metabolites are correlated with plasma concentrations in rats with AA.

3) Plasma, heart and kidney concentration of Ang peptides are correlated with plasma concentration of ArA metabolites in rats with AA.

4) Heart and kidney tissues levels of the RAS components: ACE, ACE2, AT1R, AT2R and Mas, are correlated with plasma concentration of ArA metabolites in rats with AA.

These findings, therefore, suggest that the concentrations of key ArA metabolites and Ang peptides, particularly the CV and renal active components, can be predicted with confidence from their plasma concentrations. This validates the use of blood as a useful surrogate biological sample for detecting changes in ArA metabolites and Ang peptides and their receptors levels in the heart and kidney organs due to physiopathological status changes. Therefore, by extrapolating the results of animal studies to humans, the application of through concentration profiles of ArA metabolites and Ang peptides attainable from a single blood sample could be a useful biomarker identification tool in order to categorize individuals at risk in inflammatory conditions such as RA.

Various non-pharmacological treatments such as physical, occupational and nutritional therapy are available for RA, but these approaches appear to have little or no effect on the progression of the disease. As pharmacological approaches, analgesics, disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs, NSAIDs and biologics are used to suppress the symptoms of RA, but these drugs have a wide spectrum of some serious side effects. The most important of them all, was CV complications after administration of selective COX-2 NSAIDs which led to withdrawal of rofecoxib from the market. Therefore, a safe alternative therapeutic option for this population is needed. GlcN, similar to a disease-modifying antirheumatic drug, can inhibit or halt the underlying immune process and prevent long-term damage and has shown pharmacological effect against OA (131,132).

We investigated the effect of GlcN on the RAS and ArA as two regulatory systems of the body. We hypothesized that with the demonstrated suppressive effect on inflammatory mediator and anti-inflammatory actions, GlcN is able to modulate inflammation induced changes in RAS and ArA pathways. The observed result suggests that GlcN with optimum safety profile and antiinflammatory effects, probably, is able to reduce the elevated CV risk and mortality rate in RA patients.

The results of this thesis suggest that GlcN probably modulates inflammation through RAS and ArA pathways. We observed that, GlcN was able to reduce the key inflammatory and angiogenic eicosanoid, 20-HETE, concentrations in the plasma and heart which were elevated due to inflammation. GlcN normalizes inflammation-induced reduction of 20-HETE, a natriuretic and antihypertensive agent in the kidney. It was able to reinstate the altered balance between cardiotoxic (20-HETE) and cardioprotective (EETs) ArA metabolites in the plasma and heart and to reduce the cardiotoxic index (20-HETE/EETs). Due to the protective effect of 20-HETE in the kidney, the increased kidney concentration of 20-HETE by the GlcN treatment may suggest a tissue protective property for GlcN. Additionally, in the local RAS at the heart and kidney tissues, GlcN treatment reestablished the disrupted balances of ACE2/ACE and Ang1-7/II ratios. The expression of AT1R, the main target of Ang II as a proinflammatory mediator, was reduced in the heart by GlcN treatment. The observed higher concentration of Ang II along with over-expression of AT1R in animals with AA can be considered as a risk factor for developing CV events in chronic inflammatory conditions. However, GlcN treatment, by restoring Ang II and AT1R levels, diminishes this risk factor and lowers it to a degree that has been seen in control animals. On the other hand, inflammation-induced reduction of the cardioprotective axis

of ACE2/Ang 1-7/Mas receptor expression in the heart, reinstated to the control level by GlcN treatment.

The results of this study indicate that GlcN possibly modulates both RAS and ArA pathway and regulate the malicious effects of inflammation imposed on these systems. Based on these findings, GlcN with an optimal safety profile and positive effects on RAS and ArA pathway on higher doses could be considered as an alternative for the NSAIDs in treatment of inflammatory conditions such as RA.

7.1 Future directions and studies

For further elaboration of GlcN mechanism of action through ArA pathway and RAS, several studies can be deigned;

- A study of GlcN effect on mRAN expression of enzymes and receptors involved in ArA and RAS using suggested MED by this study.
- A study of GlcN effects on intracellular and nuclear downstream cascade of AT1R, AT2R and Mas receptors

For validation of observed correlations between ArA and RAS components and suggested biomarkers, animal *in vivo* studies using different animal models of CV disease could be conducted with some end point parameter measurements; such as BP, INR, or histological evaluation of heart and kidney tissues.

In order to address the controversy around GlcN effectiveness, a clinical trial with GlcN doses higher than suggested MED in a patient population with moderate to severe OA could be helpful.

References

(1) Scrivo R, Vasile M, Bartosiewicz I, Valesini G. Inflammation as "common soil" of the multifactorial diseases. Autoimmunity Reviews 2011;10(7):369-374.

(2) Sun S, Ji Y, Kersten S, Qi L. Mechanisms of inflammatory responses in obese adipose tissue. Annual Review of Nutrition 2012;32:261-286.

(3) Serhan CN, Savill J. Resolution of inflammation: The beginning programs the end. Nat Immunol 2005;6(12):1191-1197.

(4) Iyer SS, Cheng G. Role of interleukin 10 transcriptional regulation in inflammation and autoimmune disease. Crit Rev Immunol 2012;32(1):23-63.

(5) Calder PC, Ahluwalia N, Brouns F, Buetler T, Clement K, Cunningham K, et al. Dietary factors and low-grade inflammation in relation to overweight and obesity. Br J Nutr 2011;106(SUPPL. 3):S5-S78.

(6) Calder PC, Ahluwalia N, Albers R, Bosco N, Bourdet-Sicard R, Haller D, et al. A Consideration of Biomarkers to be Used for Evaluation of Inflammation in Human Nutritional Studies. Br J Nutr 2013;109(SUPPL. S1):S1-S34.

(7) Laethem ME, Belpaire FM, Wijnant P, Rosseel M-, Bogaert MG. Influence of endotoxin on the stereoselective pharmacokinetics of oxprenolol, propranolol, and verapamil in the rat. Chirality 1994;6(5):405-410.

(8) Piquette-Miller M, Jamali F. Influence of severity of inflammation on the disposition kinetics of propranolol enantiomers in ketoprofen-treated and untreated adjuvant arthritis. Drug Metabolism and Disposition 1995;23(2):240-245.

(9) Piquette-Miller M, Jamali F. Effect of adjuvant arthritis on the disposition of acebutolol enantiomers in rats. Agents Actions 1992;37(3-4):290-296.

(10) Sattar N, McCarey DW, Capell H, McInnes IB. Explaining How "High-Grade" Systemic Inflammation Accelerates Vascular Risk in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Circulation 2003;108(24):2957-2963.

(11) Mayo PR, Skeith K, Russell AS, Jamali F. Decreased dromotropic response to verapamil despite pronounced increased drug concentration in rheumatoid arthritis. British journal of clinical pharmacology 2000;50(6):605-613.

(12) Sanaee F, Clements JD, Waugh AWG, Fedorak RN, Lewanczuk R, Jamali F. Drug-disease interaction: Crohn's disease elevates verapamil plasma concentrations but reduces response to the

drug proportional to disease activity. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2011;72(5):787-797.

(13) Guirguis MS, Jamali F. Disease-drug interaction: Reduced response to propranolol despite increased concentration in the rat with inflammation. J Pharm Sci 2003;92(5):1077-1084.

(14) Kulmatycki KM, Abouchehade K, Sattari S, Jamali F. Drug-disease interactions: Reduced ß-adrenergic and potassium channel antagonist activities of sotalol in the presence of acute and chronic inflammatory conditions in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 2001;133(2):286-294.

(15) Ling S, Lewanczuk RZ, Russell AS, Ihejirika B, Jamali F. Influence of controlled rheumatoid arthritis on the action and disposition of verapamil: Focus on infliximab. Journal of clinical pharmacology 2009;49(3):301-311.

(16) Daneshtalab NBS, Lewanczuk RZ, Russell A, Jamali FFCP. Rheumatoid Arthritis Does Not Reduce the Pharmacodynamic Response to Valsartan. Journal of clinical pharmacology 2004;44(3):245-252.

(17) Daneshtalab NLRZ, Russell AS, Jamali F. Drug-Disease Interactions: Losartan Effect Is Not Downregulated by Rheumatoid Arthritis. Journal of clinical pharmacology 2006;46(11):1344-1355.

(18) Clements JD, Jamali F. Pravastatin reverses the down-regulating effect of inflammation on beta-Adrenergic receptors: A disease-drug interaction between inflammation, pravastatin, and propranolol. Vascular Pharmacology 2007;46(1):52-59.

(19) Gilzad-Kohan MH, Jamali F. Glucosamine and adjuvant arthritis: A pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 2012;47(2):387-393.

(20) Hanafy S, Tavasoli M, Jamali F. Inflammation Alters Angiotensin Converting Enzymes (ACE and ACE-2) balance in rat heart. Inflammation 2011;34(6):609-613.

(21) Crowley SD, Gurley SB, Oliverio MI, Pazmino AK, Griffiths R, Flannery PJ, et al. Distinct roles for the kidney and systemic tissues in blood pressure regulation by the renin-angiotensin system. Journal of Clinical Investigation 2005;115(4):1092-1099.

(22) Kim S, Iwao H. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of angiotensin II-mediated cardiovascular and renal diseases. Pharmacol Rev 2000;52(1):11-34.

(23) Simões E Silva AC, Silveira KD, Ferreira AJ, Teixeira MM. ACE2, angiotensin-(1-7) and Mas receptor axis in inflammation and fibrosis. Br J Pharmacol 2013;169(3):477-492.

(24) Castro-Chaves P, Cerqueira R, Pintalhao M, Leite-Moreira AF. New pathways of the reninangiotensin system: The role of ACE2 in cardiovascular pathophysiology and therapy. Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets 2010;14(5):485-496.

(25) Crowley SD, Gurley SB, Herrera MJ, Ruiz P, Griffiths R, Kumar AP, et al. Angiotensin II causes hypertension and cardiac hypertrophy through its receptors in the kidney. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2006;103(47):17985-17990.
(26) Guo YJ, Li WH, Wu R, Xie Q, Cui LQ. ACE2 overexpression inhibits angiotensin II-induced monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in macrophages. Archives of Medical Research 2008;39(2):149-154.

(27) Ferreira AJ, Shenoy V, Yamazato Y, Sriramula S, Francis J, Yuan L, et al. Evidence for angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 as a therapeutic target for the prevention of pulmonary hypertension. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2009;179(11):1048-1054.

(28) Da Silveira KD, Coelho FM, Vieira AT, Sachs D, Barroso LC, Costa VV, et al. Antiinflammatory effects of the Activation of the angiotensin-(1-7) receptor, mas, in experimental models of arthritis. Journal of Immunology 2010;185(9):5569-5576.

(29) Thomas MC, Pickering RJ, Tsorotes D, Koitka A, Sheehy K, Bernardi S, et al. Genetic Ace2 deficiency accentuates vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis in the ApoE knockout mouse. Circulation research 2010;107(7):888-897.

(30) Tikellis C, Bialkowski K, Pete J, Sheehy K, Su Q, Johnston C, et al. ACE2 deficiency modifies renoprotection afforded by ACE inhibition in experimental diabetes. Diabetes 2008;57(4):1018-1025.

(31) Wei CC, Tian B, Perry G, Meng QC, Chen YF, Oparil S, et al. Differential ANG II generation in plasma and tissue of mice with decreased expression of the ACE gene. American Journal of Physiology - Heart & Circulatory Physiology 2002;282(6):H2254-8.

(32) Theken KN, Deng Y, Alison Kannon M, Miller TM, Poloyac SM, Lee CR. Activation of the acute inflammatory response alters cytochrome P450 expression and eicosanoid metabolism. Drug Metabolism and Disposition 2011;39(1):22-29.

(33) Roman RJ. P-450 metabolites of arachidonic acid in the control of cardiovascular function.Physiological reviews 2002;82(1):131-185.

(34) Carroll MA, McGiff JC. A new class of lipid mediators: Cytochrome p450 arachidonate metabolites. Thorax 2000;55(SUPPL. 2):S13-S16.

(35) Poloyac SM, Zemaitis, Reynolds RA, Kerr M. Formation of a potent vasoconstrictive

metabolite of arachidonic acid, 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE) in the rat brain and human CSF after subarachnoid hemorrhage. American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy Annual Meeting 2003;104(JUL):N 0271.

(36) Roman RJ, Renic M, Dunn KMJ, Takeuchi K, Hacein-Bey L. Evidence that 20-HETE contributes to the development of acute and delayed cerebral vasospasm. Neurological research 2006;28(7):738-749.

(37) Tanaka Y, Omura T, Fukasawa M, Horiuchi N, Miyata N, Minagawa T, et al. Continuous inhibition of 20-HETE synthesis by TS-011 improves neurological and functional outcomes after transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Neuroscience research 2007;59(4):475-480.

(38) Gebremedhin D, Yamaura K, Harder DR. Role of 20-HETE in the hypoxia-induced activation of Ca2+- activated K+ channel currents in rat cerebral arterial muscle cells. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2008;294(1):H107-H120.

(39) Kaduce TL, Fang X, Harmon SD, Oltman CL, Dellsperger KC, Teesch LM, et al. 20-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic Acid (20-HETE) Metabolism in Coronary Endothelial Cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2004;279(4):2648-2656.

(40) Doggrell SA. Taking the 20-HETE out of the cardiovascular system: The potential of 20-HETE synthesis inhibitors. Current Opinion in Investigational Drugs 2005;6(9):901-906.
(41) Kuhn H, Chaitidis P, Roffeis J, Walther M. Arachidonic acid metabolites in the cardiovascular system: The role of lipoxygenase isoforms in atherogenesis with particular emphasis on vascular remodeling. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2007;50(6):609-620.

(42) Sarkis A, Lopez B, Roman RJ. Role of 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid and epoxyeicosatrienoic acids in hypertension. Current Opinion in Nephrology & Hypertension 2004;13(2):205-214.

(43) Miyata N, Roman RJ. Role of 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE) in vascular system. Journal of Smooth Muscle Research 2005;41(4):175-193.

(44) Walkowska A, Skaroupkova P, Huskova Z, Vanourkova Z, Chabova VC, Tesar V, et al. Intrarenal cytochrome P-450 metabolites of arachidonic acid in the regulation of the nonclipped kidney function in two-kidney, one-clip Goldblatt hypertensive rats. Journal of hypertension 2010;28(3):582-593.

(45) Antoun J, Goulitquer S, Amet Y, Dreano Y, Salaun JP, Corcos L, et al. CYP4F3B is induced by PGA1 in human liver cells: A regulation of the 20-HETE synthesis. Journal of lipid

research 2008;49(10):2135-2141.

(46) Sacerdoti D, Gatta A, McGiff JC. Role of cytochrome P450-dependent arachidonic acid metabolites in liver physiology and pathophysiology. Prostaglandins and Other Lipid Mediators 2003;72(1-2):51-71.

(47) Sacerdoti D, Balazy M, Angeli P, Gatta A, McGiff JC. Eicosanoid excretion in hepatic cirrhosis. Predominance of 20-HETE. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1997;100(5):1264-1270.
(48) Sagliani KD, Dolnikowski GG, Hill NS, Fanburg BL, Levy BD, Preston IR. Differences between basal lung levels of select eicosanoids in rat and mouse. Pulmonary Circulation 2013 Jan;3(1):82-88.

(49) Morin C, Sirois M, Echave V, Gomes MM, Rousseau E. Functional effects of 20-HETE on human bronchi: Hyperpolarization and relaxation due to BKCa channel activation. American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 2007;293(4):L1037-L1044.
(50) Chen Y, Medhora M, Falck JR, A. PK,Jr, Jacobs ER. Mechanisms of activation of eNOS by 20-HETE and VEGF in bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cells. American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular & Molecular Physiology 2006;291(3):L378-85.

(51) Yaghi A, Bradbury JA, Zeldin DC, Mehta S, Bend JR, McCormack DG. Pulmonary cytochrome P-450 2J4 is reduced in a rat model of acute Pseudomonas pneumonia. American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 2003;285(5 29-5):L1099-L1105.

(52) Schuck RN, Theken KN, Edin ML, Caughey M, Bass A, Ellis K, et al. Cytochrome P450derived eicosanoids and vascular dysfunction in coronary artery disease patients. Atherosclerosis 2013;227(2):442-448.

(53) Capra V, Bäck M, Barbieri SS, Camera M, Tremoli E, Rovati GE. Eicosanoids and Their Drugs in Cardiovascular Diseases: Focus on Atherosclerosis and Stroke. Med Res Rev 2013;33(2):364-438.

(54) Cheng J, Wu CC, Sodhi K, Gotlinger KH, Nelson RK, Falck JR, et al. Contribution of vascular 20-HETE to androgen-induced hypertension in mice with partial deletion of angiotensinogen. Hypertension 2010;56(5):e93.

(55) Hardwick JP. Cytochrome P450 omega hydroxylase (CYP4) function in fatty acid metabolism and metabolic diseases. Biochem Pharmacol 2008;75(12):2263-2275.
(56) Ward NC, Rivera J, Hodgson J, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Falck JR, et al. Urinary 20-

hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid is associated with endothelial dysfunction in humans. Circulation 2004;110(4):438-443.

(57) Ward NC, Puddey IB, Hodgson JM, Beilin LJ, Croft KD. Urinary 20-

hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid excretion is associated with oxidative stress in hypertensive subjects. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2005;38(8):1032-1036.

(58) Marji JS, Wang MH, Laniado-Schwartzman M. Cytochrome P-450 4A isoform expression and 20-HETE synthesis in renal preglomerular arteries. American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology 2002;283(1 52-1):F60-F67.

(59) Escalante B, Sessa WC, Falck JR, Yadagiri P, Schwartzman ML. Vasoactivity of 20hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid is dependent on metabolism by cyclooxygenase. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1989;248(1):229-232.

(60) Schwartzman ML, Falck JR, Yadagiri P, Escalante B. Metabolism of 20-

hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid by cyclooxygenase. Formation and identification of novel endothelium-dependent vasoconstrictor metabolites. J Biol Chem 1989;264(20):11658-11662.

(61) Liu J-, Li N, Yang J, Li N, Qiu H, Ai D, et al. Metabolic profiling of murine plasma reveals an unexpected biomarker in rofecoxib-mediated cardiovascular events. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107(39):17017-17022.

(62) Williams JM, Murphy S, Burke M, Roman RJ. 20-hydroxyeicosatetraeonic acid: A new target for the treatment of hypertension. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology 2010;56(4):336-344.

(63) Kundumani-Sridharan V, Dyukova E, Hansen III DE, Rao GN. 12/15-Lipoxygenase mediates high-fat diet-induced endothelial tight junction disruption and monocyte transmigration: A new role for 15(S)-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid in endothelial cell dysfunction. J Biol Chem 2013;288(22):15830-15842.

(64) Cole BK, Lieb DC, Dobrian AD, Nadler JL. 12- and 15-lipoxygenases in adipose tissue inflammation. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediators 2013;104-105:84-92.

(65) Wu M-, Lin T-, Chiu Y-, Liou H-, Yang R-, Fu W-. Involvement of 15-lipoxygenase in the inflammatory arthritis. J Cell Biochem 2012;113(7):2279-2289.

(66) Alexanian A, Miller B, Roman RJ, Sorokin A. 20-HETE-producing enzymes are upregulated in human cancers. Cancer Genomics and Proteomics 2012;9(4):163-169.

(67) Renic M, Klaus JA, Omura T, Kawashima N, Onishi M, Miyata N, et al. Effect of 20-HETE

inhibition on infarct volume and cerebral blood flow after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 2009;29(3):629-639.
(68) Ishizuka T, Cheng J, Singh H, Vitto MD, Manthati VL, Falck JR, et al. 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid stimulates nuclear factor kappa B activation and the production of inflammatory cytokines in human endothelial cells. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 2008;324(1):103-110.

(69) Anwar-mohamed A, Zordoky BNM, Aboutabl ME, El-Kadi AOS. Alteration of cardiac cytochrome P450-mediated arachidonic acid metabolism in response to lipopolysaccharide-induced acute systemic inflammation. Pharmacological Research 2010;61(5):410-418.

(70) Gross GJ, Hsu A, Falck JR, Nithipatikom K. Mechanisms by which epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs) elicit cardioprotection in rat hearts. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2007;42(3):687-691.

(71) Chiamvimonvat N, Ho C, Tsai H, Hammock BD. The Soluble Epoxide Hydrolase as a Pharmaceutical Target for Hypertension. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology 2007;50(3):225-237.

(72) Qiu H, Li N, Liu JY, Harris TR, Hammock BD, Chiamvimonvat N. Soluble Epoxide Hydrolase Inhibitors and Heart Failure. Cardiovascular Therapeutics 2011;29(2):99-111.
(73) Gabriel SE. Cardiovascular Morbidity and Mortality in Rheumatoid Arthritis. American Journal of Medicine 2008;121(10 SUPPL.1):S9-S14.

(74) Panoulas VF, Douglas KMJ, Milionis HJ, Stavropoulos-Kalinglou A, Nightingale P, Kita MD, et al. Prevalence and associations of hypertension and its control in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology 2007;46(9):1477-1482.

(75) Panoulas VF, Metsios GS, Pace AV, John H, Treharne GJ, Banks MJ, et al. Hypertension in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology 2008;47(9):1286-1298.

(76) Pearson TA, Mensah GA, Alexander RW, Anderson JL, Cannon RO,3rd, Criqui M, et al. Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: A statement for healthcare professionals from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Heart Association. Circulation 2003;107(3):499-511.

(77) Werns SW, Lucchesi BR. Inflammation and myocardial infarction. British medical bulletin 1987;43(2):460-471.

(78) Kaplan MJ. Cardiovascular disease in rheumatoid arthritis. Current opinion in rheumatology 2006;18(3):289-297.

(79) Pasceri V, Yeh ET. A tale of two diseases: atherosclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis. Circulation 1999;100(21):2124-2126.

(80) Libby P. Role of Inflammation in Atherosclerosis Associated with Rheumatoid Arthritis. American Journal of Medicine 2008;121(10 SUPPL.1):S21-S31.

(81) Libby P, Ridker PM, Maseri A. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. Circulation 2002;105(9):1135-1143.

(82) Creamer P, Hochberg MC. Osteoarthritis. Lancet 1997;350(9076):503-509.

(83) Tarride JE, Haq M, O'Reilly DJ, Bowen JM, Xie F, Dolovich L, et al. The excess burden of osteoarthritis in the province of Ontario, Canada. Arthritis Rheum 2012;64(4):1153-1161.

(84) Kim MM, Mendis E, Rajapakse N, Kim SK. Glucosamine sulfate promotes osteoblastic differentiation of MG-63 cells via anti-inflammatory effect. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry Letters 2007;17(7):1938-1942.

(85) Hussein MR, Fathi NA, El-Din AME, Hassan HI, Abdullah F, Al-Hakeem E, et al.

Alterations of the CD4 +, CD8 + T cell subsets, interleukins-1 β , IL-10, IL-17, tumor necrosis factor- α and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis: Preliminary observations. Pathology and Oncology Research 2008;14(3):321-328.

(86) Hawker GA, Croxford R, Bierman AS, Harvey PJ, Ravi B, Stanaitis I, et al. All-cause mortality and serious cardiovascular events in people with hip and knee osteoarthritis: A population based cohort study. PLoS ONE 2014;9(3).

(87) Rahman MM, Kopec JA, Anis AH, Cibere J, Goldsmith CH. Risk of cardiovascular disease in patients with osteoarthritis: A prospective longitudinal study. Arthritis Care and Research 2013;65(12):1951-1958.

(88) Bendele A, McComb J, Gould T, McAbee T, Sennello G, Chlipala E, et al. Animal models of arthritis: Relevance to human disease. Toxicologic Pathology 1999;27(1):134-142.

(89) Burmester GR, Stuhlmüller B, Keyszer G, Kinne RW. Mononuclear phagocytes and rheumatoid synovitis: Mastermind or workhorse in arthritis? Arthritis and Rheumatism 1997;40(1):5-18.

(90) Singh G. Recent considerations in nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug gastropathy. Am J Med 1998;105(1 B):31S-38S.

(91) O'Dell JR. Therapeutic strategies for rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 2004;350(25):2591-2602+2630.

(92) Graham DJ, Campen D, Hui R, Spence M, Cheetham C, Levy G, et al. Risk of acute myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death in patients treated with cyclo-oxygenase 2 selective and non-selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: Nested case-control study. Lancet 2005;365(9458):475-481.

(93) Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Meenan RF. The comparative efficacy and toxicity of second-line drugs in rheumatoid arthritis: Results of two metaanalyses. Arthritis Rheum 1990;33(10):1449-1461.

(94) Prinz JC. Biologics : New drugs, new adverse reactions. Hautarzt 2010;61(8):668-675.

(95) Rosman Z, Shoenfeld Y, Zandman-Goddard G. Biologic therapy for autoimmune diseases: An update. BMC Medicine 2013;11(1).

(96) Malaviya AP, Östör AJK. Rheumatoid arthritis and the era of biologic therapy. Inflammopharmacology 2012;20(2):59-69.

(97) Montecucco F, MacH F. Update on statin-mediated anti-inflammatory activities in atherosclerosis. Seminars in Immunopathology 2009;31(1):127-142.

(98) Tu QY, Cao H, Zhong W, Ding BR, Tang XQ. Atorvastatin protects against cerebral ischemia/ reperfusion injury through anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects. Neural Regeneration Research 2014;9(3):268-275.

(99) Kirmizis D, Papagianni A, Dogrammatzi F, Efstratiadis G, Memmos D. Anti-inflammatory effects of simvastatin in diabetic compared to non-diabetic patients on chronic hemodialysis. Journal of Diabetes 2013;5(4):492-494.

(100) Min L, Shao S, Wu X, Cong L, Liu P, Zhao H, et al. Anti-inflammatory and antithrombogenic effects of atorvastatin in acute ischemic stroke. Neural Regeneration Research 2013;8(23):2144-2154.

(101) Kumar VL, Guruprasad B, Wahane VD. Atorvastatin exhibits anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties in adjuvant-induced monoarthritis. Inflammopharmacology 2010;18(6):303-308.

(102) Ghaisas MM, Dandawate PR, Zawar SA, Ahire YS, Gandhi SP. Antioxidant,

antinociceptive and anti-inflammatory activities of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin in various experimental models. Inflammopharmacology 2010;18(4):169-177.

(103) Gonçalves DO, Calou IBF, Siqueira RP, Lopes AA, Leal LKA, Brito GAC, et al. In vivo and in vitro anti-inflammatory and anti-nociceptive activities of lovastatin in rodents. Brazilian

Journal of Medical and Biological Research 2011;44(2):173-181.

(104) Grip O, Janciauskiene S, Bredberg A. Use of atorvastatin as an anti-inflammatory treatment in Crohn's disease. Br J Pharmacol 2008;155(7):1085-1092.

(105) Hanafy S, Dagenais NJ, Dryden WF, Jamali F. Effects of angiotensin II blockade on inflammation-induced alterations of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of calcium channel blockers. British journal of pharmacology 2008;153(1):90-99.

(106) Price A, Lockhart JC, Ferrell WR, Gsell W, McLean S, Sturrock RD. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor as a novel therapeutic target in rheumatoid arthritis: In vivo analyses in rodent models of arthritis and ex vivo analyses in human inflammatory synovitis. Arthritis Rheum 2007;56(2):441-447.

(107) Luft FC. Proinflammatory effects of angiotensin II and endothelin: Targets for progression of cardiovascular and renal diseases. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2002;11(1):59-66.
(108) Silveira KD, Coelho FM, Vieira AT, Barroso LC, Queiroz Jr. CM, Costa VV, et al. Mechanisms of the anti-inflammatory actions of the angiotensin type1 receptor antagonist losartan in experimental models of arthritis. Peptides 2013;46:53-63.

(109) Agarwal D, Dange RB, Raizada MK, Francis J. Angiotensin II causes imbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines by modulating GSK-3ß in neuronal culture. Br J Pharmacol 2013;169(4):860-874.

(110) Rosenbaugh EG, Savalia KK, Manickam DS, Zimmerman MC. Antioxidant-based therapies for angiotensin II-associated cardiovascular diseases. American Journal of Physiology -Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 2013;304(11):R917-R928.

(111) Baumhäkel M, Böhm M. Cardiovascular outcomes with angiotensin II receptor blockers: clinical implications of recent trials. Vascular health and risk management 2011;7:391-397.

(112) Pohl MA, Blumenthal S, Cordonnier DJ, De Alvaro F, DeFerrari G, Eisner G, et al. Independent and additive impact of blood pressure control and angiotensin II receptor blockade on renal outcomes in the irbesartan diabetic nephropathy trial: Clinical implications and limitations. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 2005;16(10):3027-3037.

(113) Volpe M, Tocci G, Sciarretta S, Verdecchia P, Trimarco B, Mancia G. Angiotensin II receptor blockers and myocardial infarction: An updated analysis of randomized clinical trials. J Hypertens 2009;27(5):941-946.

(114) Hume GE, Radford-Smith GL. ACE inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists in

Crohn's disease management. Expert Review of Gastroenterology and Hepatology 2008;2(5):645-651.

(115) Agabiti Rosei E. Reduction of cardiovascular risk through angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonism: Focus on olmesartan medoxomil. High Blood Pressure and Cardiovascular Prevention 2008;15(4):231-243.

(116) Stumpe KO, Agabiti-Rosei E, Zielinski T, Schremmer D, Scholze J, Laeis P, et al. Carotid intima-media thickness and plaque volume changes following 2-year angiotensin II-receptor blockade. The Multicentre Olmesartan atherosclerosis Regression Evaluation (MORE) study. Therapeutic Advances in Cardiovascular Disease 2007;1(2):97-106.

(117) Taguchi I, Toyoda S, Takano K, Arikawa T, Kikuchi M, Ogawa M, et al. Irbesartan, an angiotensin receptor blocker, exhibits metabolic, anti-inflammatory and antioxidative effects in patients with high-risk hypertension. Hypertension Research 2013;36(7):608-613.

(118) Wang D, Hu S, Zhu J, Yuan J, Wu J, Zhou A, et al. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor correlates with therapeutic effects of losartan in rats with adjuvant-induced arthritis. J Cell Mol Med 2013;17(12):1577-1587.

(119) Nagib MM, Tadros MG, Elsayed MI, Khalifa AE. Anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant activities of olmesartan medoxomil ameliorate experimental colitis in rats. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 2013;271(1):106-113.

(120) Mihailović-Stanojević N, Miloradović Z, Grujić-Milanović J, Ivanov M, Jovović D.
Effects of angiotensin II type-1 receptor blocker losartan on age-related cardiovascular risk in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Gen Physiol Biophys 2009;28(SPECIAL ISSUES):112-118.
(121) Kon Koh K, Quon MJ, Han SH, Chung W-, Lee Y, Shin EK. Anti-inflammatory and metabolic effects of candesartan in hypertensive patients. Int J Cardiol 2006;108(1):96-100.
(122) Bradley JD, Brandt KD, Katz BP, Kalasinski LA, Ryan SI. Comparison of an antiinflammatory dose of ibuprofen, an analgesic dose of ibuprofen, and acetaminophen in the

treatment of patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. N Engl J Med 1991;325(2):87-91.

(123) Towheed TE, Maxwell L, Judd MG, Catton M, Hochberg MC, Wells G. Acetaminophen for osteoarthritis. Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Online) 2006(1).

(124) Seed SM, Dunican KC, Lynch AM. Osteoarthritis: A review of treatment options. Geriatrics 2009;64(10):20-29.

(125) Markenson JA, Croft J, Zhang PG, Richards P. Treatment of persistent pain associated

with osteoarthritis with controlled-release oxycodone tablets in a randomized controlled clinical trial. Clin J Pain 2005;21(6):524-535.

(126) Emkey R, Rosenthal N, Wu S-, Jordan D, Kamin M. Efficacy and Safety of Tramadol/Acetaminophen Tablets (Ultracet®) as Add-on Therapy for Osteoarthritis Pain in Subjects Receiving a COX-2 Nonsteroidal Antiinflammatory Drug: A Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. J Rheumatol 2004;31(1):150-156.

(127) Hua J, Suguro S, Iwabuchi K, Tsutsumi-Ishii Y, Sakamoto K, Nagaoka I. Glucosamine, a naturally occurring amino monosaccharide, suppresses the ADP-mediated platelet activation in humans. Inflammation Research 2004;53(12):680-688.

(128) Herath CB, Lubel JS, Jia Z, Velkoska E, Casley D, Brown L, et al. Portal pressure responses and angiotensin peptide production in rat liver are determined by relative activity of ACE and ACE2. American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal & Liver Physiology 2009;297(1):G98-G106.

(129) Guo Y, Mascareno E, Siddiqui MAQ. Distinct Components of Janus Kinase/Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription Signaling Pathway Mediate the Regulation of Systemic and Tissue Localized Renin-Angiotensin System. Molecular Endocrinology 2004;18(4):1033-1041.

(130) Nakamura H, Masuko K, Yudoh K, Kato T, Kamada T, Kawahara T. Effects of glucosamine administration on patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology international 2007;27(3):213-218.

(131) Alptekin DO. The efficacy of glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate in osteoarthritis management: Review. Turkiye Klinikleri Journal of Medical Sciences 2009;29(6):1687-1694.
(132) RomanBlas JA, Castaneda S, Largo R, HerreroBeaumont G. Glucosamine sulfate for knee osteoarthritis: science and evidence-based use. Therapy 2010;7(6):591-604.

(133) Hua J, Suguro S, Hirano S, Sakamoto K, Nagaoka I. Preventive actions of a high dose of glucosamine on adjuvant arthritis in rats. Inflammation Res 2005;54(3):127-132.

(134) Jang BC, Sung SH, Park JG, Park JW, Bae JH, Shin DH, et al. Glucosamine hydrochloride specifically inhibits COX-2 by preventing COX-2 N-glycosylation and by increasing COX-2 protein turnover in a proteasome-dependent manner. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2007;282(38):27622-27632.

(135) Du Souich P. Absorption, distribution and mechanism of action of SYSADOAS.

Pharmacology and Therapeutics 2014;142(3):362-374.

(136) Bruyere O, Reginster J. Glucosamine and Chondroitin Sulfate as Therapeutic Agents for Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis. Drugs & aging 2007;24(7):573-580.

(137) Reginster JY, Bruyere O, Neuprez A. Current role of glucosamine in the treatment of osteoarthritis. Rheumatology 2007;46(5):731-735.

(138) Clegg DO, Reda DJ, Harris CL, Klein O'Dell JR, Hooper MM, Bradley JD, et al.

Glucosamine, chondroitin sulfate, and the two in combination for painful knee osteoarthritis. The New England journal of medicine 2006;354(8):795-808.

(139) Gilzad-Kohan MH, Jamali F. Glucosamine and adjuvant arthritis: A pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 2012;47(2):387-393.

(140) Aghazadeh-Habashi A, Jamali F. The glucosamine controversy; a pharmacokinetic issue. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2011;14(2):264-273.

(141) Anderson JW, Nicolosi RJ, Borzelleca JF. Glucosamine effects in humans: a review of effects on glucose metabolism, side effects, safety considerations and efficacy. Food & Chemical Toxicology 2005;43(2):187-201.

(142) Byrne J. Glucosamine market reaching maturity. 2010;2012(Web Page).

(143) Rovati LC, Girolami F, Persiani S. Crystalline glucosamine sulfate in the management of knee osteoarthritis: Efficacy, safety, and pharmacokinetic properties. Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease 2012;4(3):167-180.

(144) Qu CJ, Karjalainen HM, Helminen HJ, Lammi MJ. The lack of effect of glucosamine sulphate on aggrecan mRNA expression and (35)S-sulphate incorporation in bovine primary chondrocytes. Biochimica et biophysica acta 2006;1762(4):453-459.

(145) Qu C-, Jauhiainen M, Auriola S, Helminen HJ, Lammi MJ. Effects of glucosamine sulfate on intracellular UDP-hexosamine and UDP-glucuronic acid levels in bovine primary chondrocytes. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2007;15(7):773-779.

(146) Qu C-, Poÿtäkangas T, Jauhiainen M, Auriola S, Lammi MJ. Glucosamine sulphate does not increase extracellular matrix production at low oxygen tension. Cell Tissue Res 2009;337(1):103-111.

(147) Vajranetra P. Clinical trial of glucosamine compounds for osteoarthrosis of knee joints. Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand 1984;67(7):409-418.

(148) Setnikar I, Pacini MA, Revel L. Antiarthritic effects of glucosamine sulfate studied in

animal models. Arzneimittel-Forschung 1991;41(5):542-545.

(149) Muller-Fassbender H, Bach GL, Haase W, Rovati LC, Setnikar I. Glucosamine sulfate compared to ibuprofen in osteoarthritis of the knee. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 1994;2(1):61-69.
(150) Noack W, Fischer M, Forster KK, Rovati LC, Setnikar I. Glucosamine sulfate in osteoarthritis of the knee. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 1994;2(1):51-59.

(151) Heil C. Glucosamine in the treatment of osteoarthritis. P & T 1997;22(Jun):292-295.

(152) Davis WM. Role of glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate in the management of arthritis. Drug Topics 1998;142(Apr 20):3S-13S, 15S.

(153) Conn DL, Arnold WJ, Hollister JR. Alternative treatments and rheumatic diseases. Bulletin on the rheumatic diseases 1999;48(7):1-3.

(154) Houpt JB, McMillan R, Wein C, Paget-Dellio SD. Effect of glucosamine hydrochloride in the treatment of pain of osteoarthritis of the knee. Journal of Rheumatology 1999;26(11):2423-2430.

(155) Russell AI, McCarty MF. Glucosamine in osteoarthritis. Lancet 1999;354(9190):1641.

(156) Towheed TE, Anastassiades TP. Glucosamine therapy for osteoarthritis. Journal of Rheumatology 1999;26(11):2294-2297.

(157) Donohoe M. Efficacy of glucosamine and chondroitin for treatment of osteoarthritis.JAMA 2000;284(10):1241.

(158) McAlindon TE, LaValley MP, Gulin JP, Felson DT. Glucosamine and chondroitin for treatment of osteoarthritis: a systematic quality assessment and meta-analysis. JAMA 2000;283(11):1469-1475.

(159) Arnold EL, Arnold WJ. Use of glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate in the management of osteoarthritis. Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons 2001;9(5):352-353.

(160) Matheson AJ, Perry CM. Glucosamine - A review of its use in the management of osteoarthritis. Drugs & aging 2003;20(14):1041-1060.

(161) Jungmayr P. D-Glucosamine sulfate: long term therapy inhibits cartilage destruction. Daz (Deutsche Apotheker Zeitung) 2005;145(N):N_0003.

(162) Clegg DO, Reda DJ, Harris CL, Klein, Williams HJ. Glucosamine, chondroitin sulfate, and the two in combination for painful knee osteoarthritis. New England Journal of Medicine 2006;354(8):795-808.

(163) Pelletier JP. Glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate for knee osteoarthritis. New England

Journal of Medicine 2006;354(20):2184-2185.

(164) HerreroBeaumont G, Ivorra JAR, del Carmen Trabado M, Blanco FJ, Benito P,
MartinMola E, et al. Glucosamine Sulfate in the Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis Symptoms: A
Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study Using Acetaminophen as a Side
Comparator. Arthritis & Rheumatism 2007;56(2):555-567.

(165) Huskisson EC. Glucosamine and chondroitin for osteoarthritis. Journal of International Medical Research 2008;36(6):1161-1179.

(166) Glucosamine is worthwhile in osteoarthritis as it delays the time to joint replacement. PharmacoEconomics & Outcomes News 2009(583):3.

(167) Altman, Roy D. Glucosamine therapy for knee osteoarthritis: pharmacokinetic considerations. Expert Review of Clinical Pharmacology 2009;2(4):359-371.

(168) Towheed T, Maxwell L, Anastassiades TP, Shea B, Houpt JB, Welch V, et al.Glucosamine therapy for treating osteoarthritis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2009(4).

(169) Noyszewski EA, Wroblewski K, Dodge GR, Kudchodkar S, Beers J, Sarma AVS, et al. Preferential Incorporation of Glucosamine Into the Galactosamine Moieties of Chondroitin Sulfates in Articular Cartilage Explants. Arthritis & Rheumatism 2001;44(5):1089-1095.

(170) Tiraloche G, Girard CDMVDACVP, Chouinard LDMVDACVP, Sampalis J, Moquin L, Ionescu M, et al. Effect of Oral Glucosamine on Cartilage Degradation in a Rabbit Model of Osteoarthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism 2005;52(4):1118-1128.

(171) Dodge GR, Jimenez SA. Glucosamine sulfate modulates the levels of aggrecan and matrix metalloproteinase-3 synthesized by cultured human osteoarthritis articular chondrocytes.Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2003;11(6):424-432.

(172) Varghese S, Theprungsirikul P, Sahani S, Hwang N, Yarema KJ, Elisseeff JH.Glucosamine modulates chondrocyte proliferation, matrix synthesis, and gene expression.Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2007;15(1):59-68.

(173) Herrero-Beaumont G, Rovati LC, Castaneda S, Alvarez-Soria MA, Largo R. The reverse glucosamine sulfate pathway: Application in knee osteoarthritis. Expert opinion on pharmacotherapy 2007;8(2):215-225.

(174) Largo R, Martinez-Calatrava MJ, Sanchez-Pernaute O, Marcos ME, Moreno-Rubio J, Aparicio C, et al. Effect of a high dose of glucosamine on systemic and tissue inflammation in an experimental model of atherosclerosis aggravated by chronic arthritis. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2009;297(1):H268-H276.

(175) Matsuno H, Nakamura H, Katayama K, Hayashi S, Kano S, Yudoh K, et al. Effects of an oral administration of glucosamine-chondroitin-quercetin glucoside on the synovial fluid properties in patients with osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Bioscience, Biotechnology & Biochemistry 2009;73(2):288-292.

(176) Arafa NMS, Hamuda HM, Melek ST, Darwish SK. The effectiveness of Echinacea extract or composite glucosamine, chondroitin and methyl sulfonyl methane supplements on acute and chronic rheumatoid arthritis rat model. Toxicol Ind Health 2013;29(2):187-201.

(177) Azuma K, Osaki T, Wakuda T, Tsuka T, Imagawa T, Okamoto Y, et al. Suppressive effects of n-acetyl-d-glucosamine on rheumatoid arthritis mouse models. Inflammation 2012;35(4):1462-1465.

(178) May M, Benghuzzi H, Tucci M, Mohamed A, Tan M, Norwood A. The role of glucosamine, chondroitinand thymoquinone on the viability and proliferation of a HTB-93 rheumatoid arthritis cell model. Biomed Sci Instrum 2006;42:338-343.

(179) Largo R, Alvarez-Soria MA, Diez-Ortego I, Calvo E, Sanchez-Pernaute O, Egido J, et al. Glucosamine inhibits IL-1beta-induced NFB activation in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2003;11(4):290-298.

(180) Hwang S-, Hwang J-, Kim S-, Han I-. Glucosamine inhibits lipopolysaccharide-stimulated inducible nitric oxide synthase induction by inhibiting expression of NF-kappaB/Rel proteins at the mRNA and protein levels. Nitric Oxide - Biology and Chemistry 2013;31:1-8.

(181) Hwang S-, Hwang J-, Kim S-, Han I-. O-GlcNAcylation and p50/p105 binding of c-Rel are dynamically regulated by LPS and glucosamine in BV2 microglia cells. Br J Pharmacol 2013;169(7):1551-1560.

(182) Duan W, Paka L, Pillarisetti S. Distinct effects of glucose and glucosamine on vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells: Evidence for a protective role for glucosamine in atherosclerosis. Cardiovascular Diabetology 2005;4.

(183) Wu Y-, Kou YR, Ou H-, Chien H-, Chuang K-, Liu H-, et al. Glucosamine regulation of LPS-mediated inflammation in human bronchial epithelial cells. Eur J Pharmacol 2010;635(1-3):219-226.

(184) Hwang S-, Shin J-, Hwang J-, Kim S-, Shin J-, Oh E-, et al. Glucosamine exerts a

neuroprotective effect via suppression of inflammation in rat brain ischemia/reperfusion injury. Glia 2010;58(15):1881-1892.

(185) Hwang M-, Baek W-. Glucosamine induces autophagic cell death through the stimulation of ER stress in human glioma cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010;399(1):111-116.

(186) Yang S, Zou L, Bounelis P, Chaudry I, Chatham JC, Marchase RB. GLUCOSAMINE ADMINISTRATION DURING RESUSCITATION IMPROVES ORGAN FUNCTION AFTER TRAUMA HEMORRHAGE. Shock 2006;25(6):600-607.

(187) Not LG, Marchase RB, Fulop N, Brocks CA, Chatham JC. GLUCOSAMINE ADMINISTRATION IMPROVES SURVIVAL RATE AFTER SEVERE HEMORRHAGIC SHOCK COMBINED WITH TRAUMA IN RATS. Shock 2007;28(3):345-352.

(188) Hua J, Sakamoto K, Kikukawa T, Abe C, Kurosawa H, Nagaoka I. Evaluation of the suppressive actions of glucosamine on the interleukin-1ß-mediated activation of synoviocytes. Inflammation Res 2007;56(10):432-438.

(189) Hua J, Sakamoto K, Nagaoka I. Inhibitory actions of glucosamine, a therapeutic agent for osteoarthritis, on the functions of neutrophils. J Leukoc Biol 2002;71(4):632-640.

(190) Tat SK, Pelletier JP, Verges J, Lajeunesse D, Montell E, Fahmi H, et al. Chondroitin and glucosamine sulfate in combination decrease the pro-resorptive properties of human osteoarthritis subchondral bone osteoblasts: a basic science study. Arthritis research & therapy 2007;9(6):R117.

(191) Bruyere O, Reginster JY. Glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate as therapeutic agents for knee and hip osteoarthritis. Drugs & aging 2007;24(7):573-580.

(192) Naito K, Watari T, Furuhata A, Yomogida S, Sakamoto K, Kurosawa H, et al. Evaluation of the effect of glucosamine on an experimental rat osteoarthritis model. Life Sciences 2010;86(13-14):538-543.

(193) R. OT,Jr, Deloria LB, Sandy JD, Hart DA. Effect of Oral Glucosamine on Cartilage and Meniscus in Normal and Chymopapain-Injected Knees of Young Rabbits. Arthritis & Rheumatism 2002;46(9):2495-2503.

(194) Wang SX, Laverty S, Dumitriu M, Plaas A, Grynpas MD. The Effects of Glucosamine Hydrochloride on Subchondral Bone Changes in an Animal Model of Osteoarthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism 2007;56(5):1537-1548. (195) Setnikar I, Rovati LC. Absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of glucosamine sulfate. A review. Arzneimittel-Forschung 2001;51(9):699-725.

(196) Uldry M, Ibberson M, Hosokawa M, Thorens B. GLUT2 is a high affinity glucosamine transporter. FEBS Lett 2002;524(1-3):199-203.

(197) Ibrahim A, Gilzad-kohan MH, Aghazadeh-Habashi A, Jamali F. Absorption and bioavailability of glucosamine in the rat. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 2012;101(7):2574-2583.

(198) Aghazadeh-Habashi A, Sattari S, Pasutto F, Jamali F. Single dose pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of glucosamine in the rat. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2002 May-Aug;5(2):181-184.
(199) Adebowale A, Du J, Liang Z, Leslie JL, Eddington ND. The bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of glucosamine hydrochloride and low molecular weight chondroitin sulfate after single and multiple doses to beagle dogs. Biopharmaceutics & drug disposition 2002;23(6):217-225.

(200) Du J, White N, Eddington ND. The bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of glucosamine hydrochloride and chondroitin sulfate after oral and intravenous single dose administration in the horse. Biopharmaceutics & drug disposition 2004;25(3):109-116.

(201) Setnikar I, Palumbo R, Canali S, Zanolo G. Pharmacokinetics of glucosamine in man. Arzneimittel-Forschung/Drug Research 1993;43(10):1109-1113.

(202) Setnikar I, Giacchetti C, Zanolo G. Pharmacokinetics of glucosamine in the dog and in man. Arzneimittel-Forschung 1986;36(4):729-735.

(203) Meulyzer M, Vachon P, Beaudry F, Vinardell T, Richard H, Beauchamp G, et al. Comparison of pharmacokinetics of glucosamine and synovial fluid levels following administration of glucosamine sulphate or glucosamine hydrochloride. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2008;16(9):973-979.

(204) Persiani S, Rotini R, Trisolino G, Rovati LC, Locatelli M, Paganini D, et al. Synovial and plasma glucosamine concentrations in osteoarthritic patients following oral crystalline glucosamine sulphate at therapeutic dose. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2007;15(7):764-772.
(205) Meulyzer M, Vachon P, Beaudry F, Vinardell T, Richard H, Beauchamp G, et al. Joint inflammation increases glucosamine levels attained in synovial fluid following oral administration of glucosamine hydrochloride. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2009;17(2):228-234.
(206) Giraud I, Rapp M, Maurizis JC, Madelmont JC. Application to a cartilage targeting

strategy: synthesis and in vivo biodistribution of (14)C-labeled quaternary ammoniumglucosamine conjugates. Bioconjugate chemistry 2000;11(2):212-218.

(207) Persiani S, Canciani L, Larger P, Rotini R, Trisolino G, Antonioli D, et al. In vitro study of the inhibition and induction of human cytochromes P450 by crystalline glucosamine sulfate. Drug Metabol Drug Interact 2009;24(2-4):195-209.

(208) Knudsen JE, Sokol GH. Potential glucosamine-warfarin interaction resulting in increased international normalized ratio: Case report and review of the literature and MedWatch database. Pharmacotherapy 2008;28(4):540-548.

(209) Setnikar I, Giachetti C, Zanolo G. Absorption, distribution and excretion of radioactivity after a single intravenous or oral administration of [14C] glucosamine to the rat.

Pharmatherapeutica 1984;3(8):538-550.

(210) Robinson GB. Distribution of isotopic label after the oral administration of free and bound 14C-labelled glucosamine in rats. Biochem J 1968;108(2):275-280.

(211) Schleicher ED, Weigert C. Role of the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway in diabetic nephropathy. Kidney International, Supplement 2000;58(77):S13-S18.

(212) Miles PD, Higo K, Olefsky JM. Exercise-stimulated glucose turnover in the rat is impaired by glucosamine infusion. Diabetes 2001;50(1):139-142.

(213) Pederson NV, Knop RH, Miller WM. UDP-N-acetylhexosamine modulation by glucosamine and uridine in NCI N-417 variant small cell lung cancer cells: 31P nuclear magnetic resonance results. Cancer research 1992;52(13):3782-3786.

(214) Monauni T, Zenti MG, Cretti A, Daniels MC, Targher G, Caruso B, et al. Effects of glucosamine infusion on insulin secretion and insulin action in humans. Diabetes 2000;49(6):926-935.

(215) Aghazadeh-Habashi A, Sattari S, Pasutto F, Jamali F. High performance liquid chromatographic determination of glucosamine in rat plasma. Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences 2002;5(2):176-180.

(216) Barclay TS, Tsourounis C, McCart GM. Glucosamine. Annals of Pharmacotherapy 1998;32(5):574-579.

(217) Zhang LJ, Huang TM, Fang XL, Li XN, Wang QS, Zhang ZW, et al. Determination of glucosamine sulfate in human plasma by precolumn derivatization using high performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection: its application to a bioequivalence study. Journal of

Chromatography B: Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical & Life Sciences 2006;842(1):8-12.

(218) Jackson CG, Plaas AH, Sandy JD, Hua C, Kim-Rolands S, Barnhill JG, et al. The human pharmacokinetics of oral ingestion of glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate taken separately or in combination. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2010;18(3):297-302.

(219) Persiani S, Roda E, Rovati LC, Locatelli M, Giacovelli G, Roda A. Glucosamine oral bioavailability and plasma pharmacokinetics after increasing doses of crystalline glucosamine sulfate in man. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2005;13(12):1041-1049.

(220) Richy F, Bruyere O, Ethgen O, Cucherat M, Henrotin Y, Reginster J. Structural and Symptomatic Efficacy of Glucosamine and Chondroitin in Knee Osteoarthritis: A

Comprehensive Meta-analysis. Archives of Internal Medicine 2003;163(13):1514-1522.

(221) Towheed TE, Anastassiades T. Glucosamine therapy for osteoarthritis: An update. Journal of Rheumatology 2007;34(9):1787-1790.

(222) Wandel S, Juni P, Tendal B, Nuesch E, Villiger PM, Welton NJ, et al. Effects of glucosamine, chondroitin, or placebo in patients with osteoarthritis of hip or knee: network metaanalysis. BMJ 2010;341(Journal Article):4675.

(223) Bruyere,O.Pavelka K.Rovati L.C.Gatterová J.Giacovelli G.Olejarová M.Deroisy
R.Reginster J.Y. Total joint replacement after glucosamine sulphate treatment in knee
osteoarthritis: results of a mean 8-year observation of patients from two previous 3-year,
randomised, placebo-controlled trials. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2008;16(2):254-260.
(224) Sawitzke AD, Shi H, Finco MF, Dunlop DD, Bingham CO,3rd, Harris CL, et al. The effect
of glucosamine and/or chondroitin sulfate on the progression of knee osteoarthritis: a report from
the glucosamine/chondroitin arthritis intervention trial. Arthritis & Rheumatism
2008;58(10):3183-3191.

(225) Hughes R, Carr A. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of glucosamine sulphate as an analgesic in osteoarthritis of the knee. Rheumatology 2002;41(3):279-284.

(226) Cibere J, Thorne A, Kopec JA, Singer J, Canvin J, Robinson DB, et al. Glucosamine sulfate and cartilage type II collagen degradation in patients with knee osteoarthritis: randomized discontinuation trial results employing biomarkers. Journal of Rheumatology 2005;32(5):896-902.

(227) Cibere J, Kopec JA, Thorne A, Singer J, Canvin J, Robinson DB, et al. Randomized,

double-blind, placebo-controlled glucosamine discontinuation trial in knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism 2004;51(5):738-745.

(228) Vlad SC, LaValley MP, McAlindon TE, Felson DT. Glucosamine for pain in osteoarthritis: Why do trial results differ? Arthritis & Rheumatism 2007;56(7):2267-2277.

(229) Block JA, Oegema TR, Sandy JD, Plaas A. The effects of oral glucosamine on joint health: is a change in research approach needed? Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2010;18(1):5-11.

(230) Miller KL, Clegg DO. Glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate. Rheumatic diseases clinics of North America 2011;37(1):103-118.

(231) Lin Y-, Liang Y-, Sheu M-, Lin Y-, Hsieh M-, Chen T-, et al. Chondroprotective effects of glucosamine involving the p38 MAPK and Akt signaling pathways. Rheumatol Int 2008;28(10):1009-1016.

(232) Mendis E, Kim MM, Rajapakse N, Kim SK. The inhibitory mechanism of a novel cationic glucosamine derivative against MMP-2 and MMP-9 expressions. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry Letters 2009;19(10):2755-2759.

(233) Rajapakse N, Kim M-, Mendis E, Kim S-. Inhibition of free radical-mediated oxidation of cellular biomolecules by carboxylated chitooligosaccharides. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry 2007;15(2):997-1003.

(234) Rajapakse N, Mendis E, Kim MM, Kim SK. Sulfated glucosamine inhibits MMP-2 and MMP-9 expressions in human fibrosarcoma cells. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry 2007;15(14):4891-4896.

(235) Hong H, Park YK, Choi MS, Ryu NH, Song DK, Suh SI, et al. Differential downregulation of COX-2 and MMP-13 in human skin fibroblasts by glucosamine-hydrochloride. Journal of dermatological science 2009;56(1):43-50.

(236) Rafi MM, Yadav PN, Rossi AO. Glucosamine inhibits LPS-induced COX-2 and iNOS expression in mouse macrophage cells (RAW 264.7) by inhibition of p38-MAP kinase and transcription factor NF-kappaB. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research 2007;51(5):587-593.

(237) Chan PS, Caron JP, Orth MW. Effects of glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate on bovine cartilage explants under long-term culture conditions. American Journal of Veterinary Research 2007;68(7):709-715.

(238) Neil KM, Orth MW, Coussens PM, Chan PS, Caron JP. Effects of glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate on mediators of osteoarthritis in cultured equine chondrocytes stimulated by

use of recombinant equine interleukin-1beta. American Journal of Veterinary Research 2005;66(11):1861-1869.

(239) Nakamura H, Shibakawa A, Tanaka M, Kato T, Nishioka K. Effects of glucosamine hydrochloride on the production of prostaglandin E2, nitric oxide and metalloproteases by chondrocytes and synoviocytes in osteoarthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2004;22(3):293-299.
(240) Chang Y-, Horng C-, Chen Y-, Chen P-, Chen C-, Liang C-, et al. Inhibitory effects of glucosamine on endotoxin-induced uveitis in Lewis rats. Invest Ophthalmol Visual Sci 2008;49(12):5441-5449.

(241) Ali AA, Lewis SM, Badgley HL, Allaben WT, Leakey JE. Oral glucosamine increases expression of transforming growth factor beta1 (TGFbeta1) and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) mRNA in rat cartilage and kidney: implications for human efficacy and toxicity. Archives of Biochemistry & Biophysics 2011;510(1):11-18.

(242) Kim EY, Moudgil KD. The determinants of susceptibility/resistance to adjuvant arthritis in rats. Arthritis Research and Therapy 2009;11(4).

(243) Wen ZH, Tang CC, Chang YC, Huang SY, Hsieh SP, Lee CH, et al. Glucosamine sulfate reduces experimental osteoarthritis and nociception in rats: association with changes of mitogenactivated protein kinase in chondrocytes. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2010;18(9):1192-1202.

(244) Kobayashi T, Notoya K, Nakamura A, Akimoto K. Fursultiamine, a vitamin B1 derivative, enhances chondroprotective effects of glucosamine hydrochloride and chondroitin sulfate in rabbit experimental osteoarthritis. Inflammation Research 2005;54(6):249-255.

(245) Reginster JY, Richy F, Bruyere O. [Glucosamine as a pain-modifying drug in osteorthritis. What's new in 2006]. Revue medicale de Liege 2006;61(3):169-172.

(246) Clegg DO, Reda DJ, Harris CL, Klein MA, O'Dell JR, Hooper MM, et al. Glucosamine, Chondroitin Sulfate, and the Two in Combination for Painful Knee Osteoarthritis. New England Journal of Medicine 2006;354(8):795-808.

(247) McAlindon T, Formica M, LaValley M, Lehmer M, Kabbara K. Effectiveness of glucosamine for symptoms of knee osteoarthritis: results from an internet-based randomized double-blind controlled trial. American Journal of Medicine 2004;117(9):643-649.

(248) Towheed TE, Maxwell L, Anastassiades TP, Shea B, Houpt J, Robinson V, et al. Glucosamine therapy for treating osteoarthritis.[update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2001;(1):CD002946; PMID: 11279782]. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2005(2):002946.

(249) Pelletier JP, Hochberg MC, du Souich P, Kahan A, Michel BA. Glucosamine and osteoarthritis. Effect size is encouraging. BMJ 2010;341(Journal Article):6328.

(250) Giacovelli G, Rovati LC. Glucosamine and osteoarthritis. Conclusions not supported by methods and results. BMJ 2010;341(Journal Article):6338.

(251) Reginster JY, Deroisy R, Rovati LC, Lee RL, Lejeune E, Bruyere O, et al. Long-term effects of glucosamine sulphate on osteoarthritis progression: a randomised, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Lancet 2001;357(9252):251-256.

(252) Herrero-Beaumont,G.Ivorra J.A.Del Carmen Trabado M.Blanco F.J.Benito P.Martín-Mola E.Paulino J.Marenco J.L.Porto A.Laffon A.Araújo D.Figueroa M.Branco J. Glucosamine sulfate in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis symptoms: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study using acetaminophen as a side comparator. Arthritis & Rheumatism 2007;56(2):555-567.
(253) Sawitzke AD, Shi H, Finco MF, Dunlop DD, Harris CL, Singer NG, et al. Clinical efficacy and safety of glucosamine, chondroitin sulphate, their combination, celecoxib or placebo taken to treat osteoarthritis of the knee: 2-year results from GAIT. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases

2010;69(8):1459-1464.

(254) Deeks JJ, Smith LA, Bradley MD. Efficacy, tolerability, and upper gastrointestinal safety of celecoxib for treatment of osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: Systematic review of randomised controlled trials. Br Med J 2002;325(7365):619-623.

(255) Tilburt JC, Emanuel EJ, Miller FG. Does the evidence make a difference in consumer behavior? Sales of supplements before and after publication of negative research results. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2008;23(9):1495-1498.

(256) Russell AS, Aghazadeh-Habashi A, Jamali F. Active ingredient consistency of commercially available glucosamine sulfate products. Journal of Rheumatology 2002;29(11):2407-2409.

(257) Rozendaal RM, Uitterlinden EJ, van Osch GJ, Garling EH, Willemsen SP, Ginai AZ, et al. Effect of glucosamine sulphate on joint space narrowing, pain and function in patients with hip osteoarthritis; subgroup analyses of a randomized controlled trial. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 2009;17(4):427-432.

(258) Rozendaal RM, Koes BW, van Osch GJ, Uitterlinden EJ, Garling EH, Willemsen SP, et al. Effect of glucosamine sulfate on hip osteoarthritis: a randomized trial. Annals of Internal

Medicine 2008;148(4):268-277.

(259) Biggee BA, Blinn CM, McAlindon TE, Nuite M, Silbert JE. Low levels of human serum glucosamine after ingestion of glucosamine sulphate relative to capability for peripheral effectiveness. Ann Rheum Dis 2006;65(2):222-226.

(260) Zhu Y, Zou J, Xiao D, Fan H, Yu C, Zhang J, et al. Bioequivalence of two formulations of glucosamine sulfate 500-mg capsules in healthy male Chinese volunteers: an open-label, randomized-sequence, single-dose, fasting, two-way crossover study. Clinical therapeutics 2009;31(7):1551-1558.

(261) Akarasereenont P, Chatsiricharoenkul S, Pongnarin P, Sathirakul K, Kongpatanakul S. Bioequivalence study of 500 mg glucosamine sulfate in Thai healthy volunteers. Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand 2009;92(9):1234-1239.

(262) Ibrahim A, Jamali F. Improved sensitive high performance liquid chromatography assay for glucosamine in human and rat biological samples with fluorescence detection. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences 2010;13(2):128-135.

(263) Guan Y, Tian Y, Li Y, Yang Z, Jia Y, Hang T, et al. Application of a liquid chromatographic/tandem mass spectrometric method to a kinetic study of derivative glucosamine in healthy human urine. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2011;55(1):181-186.

(264) Emami J, Pasutto FM, Jamali F. Effect of experimental diabetes mellitus and arthritis on the pharmacokinetics of hydroxychloroquine enantiomers in rats. Pharm Res 1998;15(6):897-903.

(265) Guirguis MS, Sattari S, Jamali F. Pharmacokinetics of celecoxib in the presence and absence of interferon-induced acute inflammation in the rat: Application of a novel HPLC assay. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences 2001;4(1):1-6.

(266) Ilic MZ, Martinac B, Handley CJ. Effects of long-term exposure to glucosamine and mannosamine on aggrecan degradation in articular cartilage. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2003;11(8):613-662.

(267) Altman RD. Glucosamine therapy for knee osteoarthritis: Pharmacokinetic considerations. Expert Review of Clinical Pharmacology 2009;2(4):359-371.

(268) Aghazadeh-Habashi A, Kohan MH, Asghar W, Jamali F. Glucosamine dose/concentration-effect correlation in the rat with adjuvant arthritis. J Pharm Sci 2014 Feb;103(2):760-767.
(269) Gleim S, Stitham J, Tang WH, Martin KA, Hwa J. An eicosanoid-centric view of

atherothrombotic risk factors. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 2012;69(20):3361-3380. (270) Grisham MB, Johnson GG, Jr. L, J.R. Quantitation of nitrate and nitrite in extracellular fluids. Methods in enzymology 1996;268(Journal Article):237-246.

(271) Gustavsson B, Betnér I. Fully automated amino acid analysis for protein and peptide hydrolysates by precolumn derivatization with 9-fluorenyl methylchloroformate and 1- aminoadamantane. Journal of Chromatography A 1990;507(C):67-77.

(272) Arti HR, Azemi ME. Comparing the effect of glucosamine and glucosamine with alendronate in symptomatic relieve of degenerative knee joint disease: A double-blind randomized clinical trial study. Jundishapur Journal of Natural Pharmaceutical Products 2012;7(3):87-92.

(273) Durmus D, Alayli G, Bayrak IK, Canturk F. Assessment of the effect of glucosamine sulfate and exercise on knee cartilage using magnetic resonance imaging in patients with knee osteoarthritis: A randomized controlled clinical trial. Journal of Back and Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation 2012;25(4):275-284.

(274) Wilkens P, Storheim K, Scheel I, Berg L, Espeland A. No effect of 6-month intake of glucosamine sulfate on Modic changes or high intensity zones in the lumbar spine: Sub-group analysis of a randomized controlled trial. Journal of Negative Results in BioMedicine 2012;11(1).

(275) Reginster J-, Neuprez A, Lecart M-, Sarlet N, Bruyere O. Role of glucosamine in the treatment for osteoarthritis. Rheumatol Int 2012;32(10):2959-2967.

(276) Kwon H-, Ahn B-, Choi Y, Jin SY, Cheong KA, Lee J, et al. Combination of glucosamine improved therapeutic effect of low-dose cyclosporin A in patients with atopic dermatitis: A pilot study. J Dermatol 2013;40(3):207-210.

(277) Jamali F, Brocks DR. Clinical pharmacokinetics of ketoprofen and its enantiomers. Clinical pharmacokinetics 1990;19(3):197-217.

(278) Hochberg MC, Altman RD, April KT, Benkhalti M, Guyatt G, McGowan J, et al. American College of Rheumatology 2012 recommendations for the use of nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic therapies in osteoarthritis of the hand, hip, and knee. Arthritis Care and Research 2012;64(4):465-474.

(279) Conforti A, Lussignoli S, Bertani S, Ortolani R, Cuzzolin L, Benoni G, et al. Cytokine and nitric oxide levels in a rat model of immunologic protection from adjuvant-induced arthritis. Int J

Immunopathol Pharmacol 2001;14(3):153-160.

(280) Nagy G, Koncz A, Telarico T, Fernandez D, Érsek B, Buzás E, et al. Central role of nitric oxide in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis and sysemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Research and Therapy 2010;12(3).

(281) Lindner MD, Plone MA, Francis JM, Cain CK. Chronic morphine reduces pain-related disability in a rodent model of chronic, inflammatory pain. Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology 1999;7(3):187-197.

(282) Kulmatycki KM, Jamali F. Drug disease interactions: role of inflammatory mediators in disease and variability in drug response. Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences 2005;8(3):602-625.

(283) Poloyac SM, Reynolds RB, Yonas H, Kerr ME. Identification and quantification of the hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids, 20-HETE and 12-HETE, in the cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Journal of neuroscience methods 2005;144(2):257-263.

(284) Hoffman P, Rauová D, Bezáková L, Obložinský M, Mikuš P. HPLC method for determination of lipoxygenase positional specific products. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2013;84:53-58.

(285) Maier KG, Henderson L, Narayanan J, Alonso-Galicia M, Falck JR, Roman RJ.
Fluorescent HPLC assay for 20-HETE and other P-450 metabolites of arachidonic acid.
American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2000;279(2 48-2):H863-H871.

(286) Nithipatikom K, Pratt PF, Campbell WB. Determination of EETs using microbore liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2000;279(2 48-2):H857-H862.

(287) Nithipatikom K, Grall AJ, Holmes BB, Harder DR, Falck JR, Campbell WB. Liquid chromatographic-electrospray ionization-mass spectrometric analysis of cytochrome p450 metabolites of arachidonic acid. Analytical Biochemistry 2001;298(2):327-336.

(288) Martín-Venegas R, Casillas R, Jáuregui O, Moreno JJ. Rapid simultaneous analysis of cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase and cytochrome P-450 metabolites of arachidonic and linoleic acids using high performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry in tandem mode. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2011;56(5):976-982.

(289) Gross GJ, Gauthier KM, Moore J, Falck JR, Hammock BD, Campbell WB, et al. Effects of

the selective EET antagonist, 14,15-EEZE, on cardioprotection produced by exogenous or endogenous EETs in the canine heart. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2008;294(6):H2838-H2844.

(290) Moraes LA, Giner RM, Paul-Clark MJ, Perretti M, Perrett D. An isocratic HPLC method for the quantitation of eicosanoids in human platelets. Biomedical Chromatography 2004;18(1):64-68.

(291) Yue H, Strauss KI, Borenstein MR, Barbe MF, Rossi LJ, Jansen SA. Determination of bioactive eicosanoids in brain tissue by a sensitive reversed-phase liquid chromatographic method with fluorescence detection. Journal of Chromatography B: Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences 2004;803(2):267-277.

(292) Kim H-, Huh Y-, Park K-. Simultaneous HPLC analysis of arachidonic acid metabolites in biological samples with simple solid phase extraction. Korean Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology 1998;2(6):779-786.

(293) Bolcato CA, Frye RF, Zemaitis MA, Poloyac SM. Determination of 20hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid in microsomal incubates using high-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS). Journal of Chromatography B: Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences 2003;794(2):363-372.

(294) Nilsson T, Ivanov IV, Oliw EH. LC-MS/MS analysis of epoxyalcohols and epoxides of arachidonic acid and their oxygenation by recombinant CYP4F8 and CYP4F22. Arch Biochem Biophys 2010;494(1):64-71.

(295) Shinde DD, Kim K-, Oh K-, Abdalla N, Liu K-, Bae SK, et al. LC-MS/MS for the simultaneous analysis of arachidonic acid and 32 related metabolites in human plasma: Basal plasma concentrations and aspirin-induced changes of eicosanoids. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci 2012;911:113-121.

(296) Unterwurzacher I, Koal T, Bonn GK, Weinberger KM, Ramsay SL. Rapid sample preparation and simultaneous quantitation of prostaglandins and lipoxygenase derived fatty acid metabolites by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry from small sample volumes. Clin Chem Lab Med 2008;46(11):1589-1597.

(297) Edpuganti V, Mehvar R. UHPLC-MS/MS analysis of arachidonic acid and 10 of its major cytochrome P450 metabolites as free acids in rat livers: Effects of hepatic ischemia. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci 2013.

(298) Usp 37 the United States Pharmacopeia Nf 32 the National Formulary. UNITED STATES PHARMACOPEIA 2014;37:ALL.

(299) Miller TM, Donnelly MK, Crago EA, Roman DM, Sherwood PR, Horowitz MB, et al. Rapid, simultaneous quantitation of mono and dioxygenated metabolites of arachidonic acid in human CSF and rat brain. Journal of Chromatography B: Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences 2009;877(31):3991-4000.

(300) Hammond VJ, O'Donnell VB. Esterified eicosanoids: Generation, characterization and function. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Biomembranes 2012;1818(10):2403-2412.

(301) Falck JR, Schueler VJ, Jacobson HR, Siddhanta AK, Pramanik B, Capdevila J.Arachidonate epoxygenase: identification of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids in rabbit kidney. J Lipid Res 1987;28(7):840-846.

(302) Karara A, Wei S, Spady D, Swift L, Capdevila JH, Falck JR. Arachidonic acid epoxygenase: Structural characterization and quantification of epoxyeicosatrienoates in plasma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1992;182(3):1320-1325.

(303) Harder DR, Gebremedhin D, Narayanan J, Jefcoat C, Falck JR, Campbell WB, et al.
Formation and action of a P-450 4A metabolite of arachidonic acid in cat cerebral microvessels.
American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 1994;266(5 35-5):H2098-H2107.

(304) Imig JD, Zou A-, Stec DE, Harder DR, Falck JR, Roman RJ. Formation and actions of 20hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid in rat renal arterioles. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 1996;270(1 39-1):R217-R227.

(305) Campbell WB, Gebremedhin D, Pratt PF, Harder DR. Identification of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids as endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors. Circ Res 1996;78(3):415-423.

(306) Harder DR, Lange AR, Gebremedhin D, Birks EK, Roman RJ. Cytochrome P450 metabolites of arachidonic acid as intracellular signaling molecules in vascular tissue. J Vasc Res 1997;34(3):237-243.

(307) Oltman CL, Weintraub NL, VanRollins M, Dellsperger KC. Epoxyeicosatrienoic acids and dihydroxyeicosatrienoic acids are potent vasodilators in the canine coronary microcirculation. Circ Res 1998;83(9):932-939.

(308) Zhong J, Basu R, Guo D, Chow FL, Byrns S, Schuster M, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 suppresses pathological hypertrophy, myocardial fibrosis, and cardiac dysfunction.

Circulation 2010;122(7):717-728.

(309) Zhang C, Zhao YX, Zhang YH, Zhu L, Deng BP, Zhou ZL, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 attenuates atherosclerotic lesions by targeting vascular cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2010;107(36):15886-15891.
(310) Xia H, Lazartigues E. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2: Central regulator for cardiovascular function. Current hypertension reports 2010;12(3):170-175.

(311) Imai Y, Kuba K, Ohto-Nakanishi T, Penninger JM. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in disease pathogenesis. Circulation Journal 2010;74(3):405-410.

(312) Feng Y, Xia H, Santos RA, Speth R, Lazartigues E. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2: A new target for neurogenic hypertension. Experimental physiology 2010;95(5):601-606.

(313) Tikellis C, Bernardi S, Burns WC. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is a key modulator of the renin-angiotensin system in cardiovascular and renal disease. Current Opinion in Nephrology & Hypertension 2011;20(1):62-68.

(314) Gurley SB, Riquier-Brison AD, Schnermann J, Sparks MA, Allen AM, Haase VH, et al. AT1A angiotensin receptors in the renal proximal tubule regulate blood pressure. Cell Metabolism 2011;13(4):469-475.

(315) De Mello WC. Novel aspects of angiotensin II action in the heart. Implications to myocardial ischemia and heart failure. Regulatory peptides 2011;166(1-3):9-14.

(316) De Silva TM, Faraci FM. Effects of angiotensin II on the cerebral circulation: Role of oxidative stress. Front Physiol 2013;3 JAN.

(317) Gleim S, Stitham J, Tang WH, Martin KA, Hwa J. An eicosanoid-centric view of atherothrombotic risk factors. Cell Mol Life Sci 2012;69(20):3361-3380.

(318) Hoff U, Lukitsch I, Chaykovska L, Ladwig M, Arnold C, Manthati VL, et al. Inhibition of 20-HETE synthesis and action protects the kidney from ischemia/reperfusion injury. Kidney international 2011;79(1):57-65.

(319) Elmarakby AA. Reno-protective mechanisms of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids in cardiovascular disease. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 2012;302(3):R321-R330.

(320) Lima R, Yanes LL, Davis DD, Reckelhoff JF. Roles played by 20-HETE, angiotensin II and endothelin in mediating the hypertension in aging female spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2013;304(3):R248-R251.

(321) Kopf PG, Gauthier KM, Zhang DX, Falck JR, Campbell WB. Angiotensin II regulates adrenal vascular tone through zona glomerulosa cell-derived EETs and DHETs. Hypertension 2011;57(2):323-329.

(322) Tsai IJ, Croft KD, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Barden A. 20-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid synthesis is increased in human neutrophils and platelets by angiotensin II and endothelin-1. American Journal of Physiology - Heart & Circulatory Physiology 2011;300(4):H1194-200.
(323) Sodhi K, Wu C-, Cheng J, Gotlinger K, Inoue K, Goli M, et al. CYP4A2-induced hypertension is 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid- and angiotensin II-dependent. Hypertension

2010;56(5):871-878.

(324) Ferrario CM. ACE2: more of Ang-(1-7) or less Ang II? Current Opinion in Nephrology & Hypertension 2011;20(1):1-6.

(325) Schlüter K-, Wenzel S. Angiotensin II: A hormone involved in and contributing to prohypertrophic cardiac networks and target of anti-hypertrophic cross-talks. Pharmacology and Therapeutics 2008;119(3):311-325.

(326) Unger T, Chung O, Csikos T, Culman J, Gallinat S, Gohlke P, et al. Angiotensin receptors. Journal of Hypertension, Supplement 1996;14(5):S95-S103.

(327) Zhu YZ, Chimon GN, Zhu Y-, Lu Q, Li B, Hu HZ, et al. Expression of angiotensin II AT2 receptor in the acute phase of stroke in rats. Neuroreport 2000;11(6):1191-1194.

(328) Ohkubo, Naohiko M, Hiroaki N, Yoshihisa M, Yasukiyo M, Satoshi K, et al. Angiotensin Type 2 Receptors Are Reexpressed by Cardiac Fibroblasts From Failing Myopathic Hamster Hearts and Inhibit Cell Growth and Fibrillar Collagen Metabolism. Circulation 1997;96(11):3954-3962.

(329) Rompe F, Artuc M, Hallberg A, Alterman M, Ströder K, Thöne-Reineke C, et al. Direct angiotensin II type 2 receptor stimulation acts anti-inflammatory through epoxyeicosatrienoic acid and inhibition of nuclear factor κb. Hypertension 2010;55(4):924-931.

(330) Kaschina E, Grzesiak A, Li J, Foryst-Ludwig A, Timm M, Rompe F, et al. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor stimulation: A novel option of therapeutic interference with the renin-angiotensin system in myocardial infarction? Circulation 2008;118(24):2523-2532.

(331) Hercule HC, Wang M-, Oyekan AO. Contribution of cytochrome P450 4A isoforms to renal functional response to inhibition of nitric oxide production in the rat. J Physiol (Lond) 2003;551(3):971-979.

(332) Wang J-, Singh H, Zhang F, Ishizuka T, Deng H, Kemp R, et al. Endothelial dysfunction and hypertension in rats transduced with CYP4A2 adenovirus. Circ Res 2006;98(7):962-969.
(333) Alonso-Galicia M, Maier KG, Greene AS, Cowley Jr. AW, Roman RJ. Role of 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid in the renal and vasoconstrictor actions of angiotensin II. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 2002;283(1 52-1):R60-R68.

(334) Roman RJ, Alonso-Galicia M, Wilson TW. Renal P450 metabolites of arachidonic acid and the development of hypertension in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 1997;10(5 II SUPPL.):63S-67S.

(335) Minuz P, Jiang H, Fava C, Turolo L, Tacconelli S, Ricci M, et al. Altered release of cytochrome P450 metabolites of arachidonic acid in renovascular disease. Hypertension 2008;51(5):1379-1385.

(336) Cheng MK, McGiff JC, Carroll MA. Renal arterial 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid levels: Regulation by cyclooxygenase. American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology 2003;284(3 53-3):F474-F479.

(337) Ge Y, Murphy SR, Lu Y, Falck J, Liu R, Roman RJ. Endogenously produced 20-HETE modulates myogenic and TGF response in microperfused afferent arterioles. Prostaglandins and Other Lipid Mediators 2013;102-103:42-48.

(338) Zou A-, Imig JD, Ortiz de Montellano PR, Sui Z, Falck JR, Roman RJ. Effect of P-450 ωhydroxylase metabolites of arachidonic acid on tubuloglomerular feedback. American Journal of Physiology - Renal Fluid and Electrolyte Physiology 1994;266(6 35-6):F934-F941.

(339) Quigley R, Baum M, Reddy KM, Griener JC, Falck JR. Effects of 20-HETE and 19(S)-HETE on rabbit proximal straight tubule volume transport. American Journal of Physiology -Renal Physiology 2000;278(6 47-6):F949-F953.

(340) Amlal H, Legoff C, Vernimmen C, Paillard M, Bichara M. Na(+)-K+(NH4+)-2Clcotransport in medullary thick ascending limb: control by PKA, PKC, and 20-HETE. The American Journal of Physiology 1996;271(2 Pt 1):C455-463.

(341) Zou A, Drummond HA, Roman RJ. Role of 20-HETE in Elevating Loop Chloride Reabsorption in Dahl SS/Jr Rats. Hypertension 1996;27(3):631-635.

(342) Roman RJ, Kaldunski M. Pressure natriuresis and cortical and papillary blood flow in inbred Dahl rats. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative

Physiology 1991;261(3 30-3):R595-R602.

(343) Ito O, Roman RJ. Role of 20-HETE in elevating chloride transport in the thick ascending limb of Dahl SS/Jr rats. Hypertension 1999;33(1 II):419-423.

(344) Zou AP, Drummond HA, Roman RJ. Role of 20-HETE in elevating loop chloride reabsorption in Dahl SS/Jr rats. Hypertension 1996;27(3 Pt 2):631-635.

(345) Williams JM, Fan F, Murphy S, Schreck C, Lazar J, Jacob HJ, et al. Role of 20-HETE in the antihypertensive effect of transfer of chromosome 5 from Brown Norway to Dahl salt-sensitive rats. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 2012;302(10):R1209-R1218.

(346) Gross GJ, Hsu A, Pfeiffer AW, Nithipatikom K. Roles of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) in epoxyeicosatrienoic acid (EET)-induced cardioprotection against infarction in intact rat hearts. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2013;59:20-29.

(347) Li N, Liu JY, Qiu H, Harris TR, Sirish P, Hammock BD, et al. Use of Metabolomic Profiling in the Study of Arachidonic Acid Metabolism in Cardiovascular Disease. Congestive Heart Failure 2011;17(1):42-46.

(348) Tsai IJ, Croft KD, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Barden A. 20-hydroxy eicosatrienoic acid synthesis in human platelets and neutrophils and the role of Angiotensin II and Endothelin-1. Hypertension 2009;53(6):1101.

(349) Sodhi K, Wu CC, Cheng J, Inoue K, Gotlinger KH, Goli M, et al. CYP4A2-induced hypertension is 20-HETE and angiotensin II-dependent. Hypertension 2010;56(5):e147.

(350) Walkowska A, Skaroupkova P, Huskova Z, Vanourkova Z, Chabova VC, Tesar V, et al. Intrarenal cytochrome P-450 metabolites of arachidonic acid in the regulation of the nonclipped kidney function in two-kidney, one-clip Goldblatt hypertensive rats. Journal of hypertension 2010;28(3):582-593.

(351) Čertíková Chábová V, Kramer HJ, Vaněčková I, Thumová M, Škaroupková P, Tesař V, et al. The roles of intrarenal 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic and epoxyeicosatrienoic acids in the regulation of renal function in hypertensive Ren-2 transgenic rats. Kidney Blood Press Res 2007;30(5):335-346.

(352) Chábová VČ, Kramer HJ, Vaněčková I, Vernerová Z, Eis V, Tesař V, et al. Effects of chronic cytochrome P-450 inhibition on the course of hypertension and end-organ damage in

Ren-2 transgenic rats. Vasc Pharmacol 2007;47(2-3):145-159.

(353) Vera T, Roman R, Stec D. Induction of Renal 20-Hydroxyeciosatetraenoic Acid (20-HETE) Prevents Angiotensin II (Ang-II) Dependent Hypertension in Mice. Hypertension 2004;44(4):555.

(354) Kaergel E, Muller DN, Honeck H, Theuer J, Shagdarsuren E, Mullally A, et al. P450-Dependent Arachidonic Acid Metabolism and Angiotensin II-Induced Renal Damage. Hypertension 2002;40(3):273-279.

(355) Kohagura K, Arima S, Endo Y, Chiba Y, Ito O, Abe M, et al. Involvement of cytochrome P450 metabolites in the vascular action of angiotensin II on the afferent arterioles. Hypertens Res 2001;24(5):551-557.

(356) Croft KD, McGiff JC, Sanchez-Mendoza A, Carroll MA. Angiotensin II releases 20-HETE from rat renal microvessels. American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology 2000;279(3 48-3):F544-F551.

(357) Sun C, Roman RJ. 20-HETE contributes the inhibition of K+ channel activity and the vasoconstrictor effect of angiotensin II in rat renal arterioles. Hypertension 1999;34(2):338.
(358) Amlal H, LeGoff C, Vernimmen C, Soleimani M, Paillard M, Bichara M. ANG II controls Na+-K+(NH4/+)-2Cl- cotransport via 20-HETE and PKC in medullary thick ascending limb.

American Journal of Physiology - Cell Physiology 1998;274(4 43-4):C1047-C1056.

(359) Ito O, Roman RJ. Regulation of P-450 4A activity in the glomerulus of the rat. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 1999;276(6 45-6):R1749-R1757.

(360) Cheng J, Wu C-, Gotlinger KH, Zhang F, Falck JR, Narsimhaswamy D, et al. 20-Hydroxy-5,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid mediates endothelial dysfunction via IkB kinase-dependent endothelial nitric-oxide synthase uncoupling. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 2010;332(1):57-65.

(361) Cheng J, Garcia V, Ding Y, Wu C-, Thakar K, Falck JR, et al. Induction of angiotensinconverting enzyme and activation of the renin-angiotensin system contribute to 20hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid-mediated endothelial dysfunction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2012;32(8):1917-1924.

(362) Arima S, Endo Y, Yaoita H, Omata K, Ogawa S, Tsunoda K, et al. Possible role of P-450 metabolite of arachidonic acid in vasodilator mechanism of angiotensin II type 2 receptor in the

isolated microperfused rabbit afferent arteriole. J Clin Invest 1997;100(11):2816-2823.

(363) Zou AP, Imig JD, Kaldunski M, De Montellano PRO, Sui Z, Roman RJ. Inhibition of renal vascular 20-HETE production impairs autoregulation of renal blood flow. American Journal of Physiology - Renal Fluid and Electrolyte Physiology 1994;266(2 35-2):F275-F282.
(364) Schwartzman ML, Abraham NG, Carroll MA, Levere RD, McGiff JC. Regulation of arachidonic acid metabolism by cytochrome P-450 in rabbit kidney. Biochem J 1986;238(1):283-

290.

(365) Carroll MA, Garcia MP, Falck JR, McGiff JC. Cyclooxygenase dependency of the renovascular actions of cytochrome P450- derived arachidonate metabolites. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1992;260(1):104-109.

(366) Zou AI-. Stereospecific effects of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids on renal vascular tone and K+channel activity. Am J Physiol 1996;270(5 PART 2):F822-F832.

(367) Muthalif MM, Benter IF, Karzoun N, Fatima S, Harper J, Uddin MR, et al. 20-

Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid mediates calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II-induced mitogen-activated protein kinase activation in vascular smooth muscle cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1998;95(21):12701-12706.

(368) Dikalov SI, Nazarewicz RR. Angiotensin II-induced production of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species: Potential mechanisms and relevance for cardiovascular disease. Antioxidants and Redox Signaling 2013;19(10):1085-1094.

(369) Zhong J, Guo D, Chen CB, Wang W, Schuster M, Loibner H, et al. Prevention of Angiotensin II-Mediated Renal Oxidative Stress, Inflammation, and Fibrosis by Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2. Hypertension 2011;57(2):314-322.

(370) Yaghini FA, Song CY, Lavrentyev EN, Ghafoor HUB, Fang XR, Estes AM, et al.
Angiotensin II-induced vascular smooth muscle cell migration and growth are mediated by cytochrome p450 1b1-dependent superoxide generation. Hypertension 2010;55(6):1461-1467.
(371) Dzau VJ. Angiotensin II is an active mediator of cardiovascular disease. Cardiology Review 2002;19(12 SUPPL.):1-3.

(372) Trapp SM, Vailati MCF, Matsubara BB, Schwartz DS. Effects of angiotensin II in the vascular system. Archives of Veterinary Science 2009;14(4):233-243.

(373) Steckelings UM, Rompe F, Artuc M, Hallberg A, Fandriks L, Schunck WH, et al. Angiotensin II and inflammation: studies on AT1- and AT2-receptor coupled signalling using the novel non-peptide AT2-receptor agonist Compound 21. Experimental dermatology 2007;16(4):380-381.

(374) Suzuki Y, Ruiz-Ortega M, Lorenzo O, Ruperez M, Esteban V, Egido J. Inflammation and angiotensin II. International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology 2003;35(6):881-900.
(375) Sukumaran V, Veeraveedu PT, Gurusamy N, Lakshmanan AP, Yamaguchi K, Ma M, et al. Telmisartan acts through the modulation of ACE-2/ANG 1-7/mas receptor in rats with dilated cardiomyopathy induced by experimental autoimmune myocarditis. Life Sci 2012;90(7-8):289-300.

(376) Sukumaran V, Veeraveedu PT, Gurusamy N, Yamaguchi K, Lakshmanan AP, Ma M, et al. Cardioprotective effects of telmisartan against heart failure in rats in-duced by experimental autoimmune myocarditis through the modulation of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme-2/Angiotensin 1-7/Mas Receptor axis. International Journal of Biological Sciences 2011;7(7):1077-1092.

(377) Botelho-Santos GA, Sampaio WO, Reudelhuber TL, Bader M, Campagnole-Santos MJ, Dos Santos RAS. Expression of an angiotensin-(1-7)-producing fusion protein in rats induced marked changes in regional vascular resistance. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2007;292(5):H2485-H2490.

(378) Simões e Silva AC, Flynn JT. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in 2011: Role in hypertension and chronic kidney disease. Pediatric Nephrology 2012;27(10):1835-1845.

(379) Bürgelová M, Kramer HJ, Teplan V, Velicková G, Vítko Š, Heller J, et al. Intrarenal infusion of angiotensin-(1-7) modulates renal functional responses to exogenous angiotensin II in the rat. Kidney and Blood Pressure Research 2002;25(4):202-210.

(380) Ferreira AJ, Pinheiro SVB, Castro CH, Silva GAB, Simões e Silva AC, Almeida AP, et al.Renal function in transgenic rats expressing an angiotensin-(1-7)-producing fusion protein.Regul Pept 2006;137(3):128-133.

(381) Pinheiro SVB, Simões E Silva AC, Sampaio WO, De Paula RD, Mendes EP, Bontempo ED, et al. Nonpeptide AVE 0991 is an angiotensin-(1-7) receptor mas agonist in the mouse kidney. Hypertension 2004;44(4):490-496.

(382) Pinheiro SVB, Ferreira AJ, Kitten GT, Da Silveira KD, Da Silva DA, Santos SHS, et al. Genetic deletion of the angiotensin-(1-7) receptor Mas leads to glomerular hyperfiltration and microalbuminuria. Kidney Int 2009;75(11):1184-1193.

(383) Rakuan D, Bürgelová M, Vanková I, Vaourková Z, Husková Z, Karoupková P, et al. Knockout of angiotensin 1-7 receptor mas worsens the course of two-kidney, one-clip goldblatt hypertension: Roles of nitric oxide deficiency and enhanced vascular responsiveness to angiotensin II. Kidney and Blood Pressure Research 2010;33(6):476-488.

(384) Bürgelová M, Vanourková Z, Thumová M, Dvorák P, Opocenský M, Kramer HJ, et al. Impairment of the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2-angiotensin-(1-7)-Mas axis contributes to the acceleration of two-kidney, one-clip Goldblatt hypertension. J Hypertens 2009;27(10):1988-2000.

(385) Chen TL, Sheu MT, Liang YC, Lin YJ, Hsieh MS, Chen CH. Disease-modifying Effects of Glucosamine on Interleukin-1beta-treated Chondrosarcoma Cells (SW1353) Under Normoxic and Hypoxic Conditions. Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine 2010;2(1):17-28.
(386) Nakamura H, Masuko K, Yudoh K, Kato T, Kamada T, Kawahara T. Effects of glucosamine administration on patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Int 2007;27(3):213-218.

(387) Patel VB, Parajuli N, Oudit GY. Role of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in diabetic cardiovascular complications. Clin Sci 2014;126(7):471-482.

(388) Varagic J, Ahmad S, Nagata S, Ferrario CM. ACE2: Angiotensin II/angiotensin-(1-7) balance in cardiac and renal injury. Curr Hypertens Rep 2014;16(3).

(389) de la Sierra A. Angiotensin receptor antagonists in the treatment of hypertension and cardiovascular and renal diseases. Present and future. Hipertension y Riesgo Vascular 2013;30(SUPPL.1):3-10.

(390) Kantor ED, Lampe JW, Navarro SL, Song X, Milne GL, White E. Associations between glucosamine and chondroitin supplement use and biomarkers of systemic inflammation. Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine 2014;20(6):479-485.

(391) Pocobelli G, Kristal AR, Patterson RE, Potter JD, Lampe JW, Kolar A, et al. Total mortality risk in relation to use of less-common dietary supplements. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;91(6):1791-1800.

(392) Bell GA, Kantor ED, Lampe JW, Shen DD, White E. Use of glucosamine and chondroitin in relation to mortality. Eur J Epidemiol 2012;27(8):593-603.

(393) Iwai M, Horiuchi M. Devil and angel in the renin-angiotensin system: ACE-angiotensin II-AT1 receptor axis vs. ACE2-angiotensin-(1-7)-Mas receptor axis. Hypertension Research 2009;32(7):533-536.

(394) Nagaoka I, Igarashi M, Hua J, Ju Y, Yomogida S, Sakamoto K. Recent aspects of the antiinflammatory actions of glucosamine. Carbohydrate Polymers 2011;84(2):825-830.

(395) Chen L, Ackerman R, Saleh M, Gotlinger KH, Kessler M, Mendelowitz LG, et al. 20-HETE regulates the angiogenic functions of human endothelial progenitor cells and contributes to angiogenesis in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2014;348(3):442-451.

(396) Inoue K, Sodhi K, Puri N, Gotlinger KH, Cao J, Rezzani R, et al. Endothelial-specific CYP4A2 overexpression leads to renal injury and hypertension via increased production of 20-HETE. American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology 2009;297(4):F875-F884.

(397) Le TH, Coffman TM. Targeting genes in the renin-angiotensin system. Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension 2008;17(1):57-63.

(398) Joly E, Seqqat R, Flamion B, Caron N, Michel A, Imig JD, et al. Increased renal vascular reactivity to ANG II after unilateral nephrectomy in the rat involves 20-HETE. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 2006;291(4):R977-R986.
(399) Chábová VC, Kramer HJ, Vanecková I, Vernerová Z, Eis V, Tesar V, et al. Effects of

chronic cytochrome P-450 inhibition on the course of hypertension and end-organ damage in Ren-2 transgenic rats. Vascular Pharmacology 2007;47(2-3):145-159.

(400) Muthalif MM, Karzoun NA, Gaber L, Khandekar Z, Benter IF, Saeed AE, et al.

Angiotensin II-Induced Hypertension: Contribution of Ras GTPase/Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase and Cytochrome P450 Metabolites. Hypertension 2000;36(4):604-609.

(401) Yaghini FA, Zhang C, Parmentier J, Estes AM, Jafari N, Schaefer SA, et al. Contribution of Arachidonic Acid Metabolites Derived Via Cytochrome P4504A to Angiotensin II-Induced Neointimal Growth. Hypertension 2005;45(6):1182-1187.

(402) Parmentier J, Muthalif MM, Nishimoto AT, Malik KU. 20-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic Acid Mediates Angiotensin II-Induced Phospholipase D Activation in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. Hypertension 2001;37(2, Part 2) (Supplement):623-629.

(403) Zhang F, Wang MH, Krishna UM, Falck JR, Laniado-Schwartzman M, Nasjletti A.

Modulation by 20-HETE of phenylephrine-induced mesenteric artery contraction in

spontaneously hypertensive and Wistar-Kyoto rats. Hypertension 2001;38(6):1311-1315.

(404) Dunn KM, Renic M, Flasch AK, Harder DR, Falck J, Roman RJ. Elevated production of

20-HETE in the cerebral vasculature contributes to severity of ischemic stroke and oxidative

stress in spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2008;295(6):H2455-H2465.

(405) Holla VR, Adas F, Imig JD, Zhao X, Price Jr. E, Olsen N, et al. Alterations in the regulation of androgen-sensitive Cyp 4a monooxygenases cause hypertension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98(9):5211-5216.

(406) Muller DN, Schmidt C, Barbosa-Sicard E, Wellner M, Gross V, Hercule H, et al. Mouse Cyp4a isoforms: Enzymatic properties, gender- and strain-specific expression, and role in renal 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid formation. Biochemical Journal 2007;403(1):109-118.

(407) Nakagawa K, Marji JS, Schwartzman ML, Waterman MR, Capdevila JH. Androgenmediated induction of the kidney arachidonate hydroxylases is associated with the development of hypertension. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 2003;284(4 53-4):R1055-R1062.

(408) Walsh DA, Catravas J, Wharton J. Angiotensin converting enzyme in human synovium: Increased stromal [1 25I)351A binding in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2000;59(2):125-131.

(409) Çobankara V, Öztürk MA, Kiraz S, Ertenli I, Haznedaroglu IC, Pay S, et al. Renin and angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) as active components of the local synovial reninangiotensin system in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Int 2005;25(4):285-291.

(410) Perry ME, Chee MM, Ferrell WR, Lockhart JC, Sturrock RD. Angiotensin receptor blockers reduce erythrocyte sedimentation rate levels in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2008;67(11):1646-1647.

(411) CastroChaves P, FontesCarvalho R, Pintalhao M, PimentelNunes P, LeiteMoreira AF.
Angiotensin II-induced increase in myocardial distensibility and its modulation by the
endocardial endothelium in the rabbit heart. Experimental physiology 2009;94(6):665-674.
(412) Billet S, Aguilar F, Baudry C, Clauser E. Role of angiotensin II AT1 receptor activation in
cardiovascular diseases. Kidney Int 2008;74(11):1379-1384.

(413) Li Q, Withoff S, Verma IM. Inflammation-associated cancer: NF-κB is the lynchpin. Trends in Immunology 2005;26(6):318-325.

(414) Chou MM, Vergnolle N, McDougall JJ, Wallace JL, Marty S, Teskey V, et al. Effects of chondroitin and glucosamine sulfate in a dietary bar formulation on inflammation, interleukin-1beta, matrix metalloprotease-9, and cartilage damage in arthritis. Experimental Biology & Medicine 2005;230(4):255-262.

(415) Sakai S, Sugawara T, Kishi T, Yanagimoto K, Hirata T. Effect of glucosamine and related compounds on the degranulation of mast cells and ear swelling induced by dinitrofluorobenzene in mice. Life Sciences 2010;86(9-10):337-343.

(416) Chan PS, Caron JP, Rosa GJM, Orth MW. Glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate regulate gene expression and synthesis of nitric oxide and prostaglandin E2 in articular cartilage explants. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2005;13(5):387-394.